
BUFFALO COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

BUFFALO COUNTY BOARD OF EQUALIZATION 

TUESDAY, MARCH 11, 2025 
 

 The Buffalo County Board of Commissioners and the Buffalo County Board of Equalization met on Tuesday, March 11, 2025 at 

9:00 A.M. and 9:30 A.M.  Chairperson Morrow called the meeting to order and led those present in the Pledge of Allegiance.  The 

following Board members responded to roll call: Timothy Higgins, Ivan Klein, Myron Kouba, Ronald Loeffelholz, Daniel Lynch, Bill 

Maendele and Sherry Morrow. A copy of the acknowledgment and receipt of notice and agenda by the Board of Commissioners is 

attached to these minutes. Public notice of this meeting was published/posted in the Kearney Hub, on the Buffalo County website, and 

the bulletin boards located outside the County Clerk’s office and County Board Room on March 6, 2025.  Chairperson Morrow 

announced that in accordance with Section 84-1412 of the Nebraska Revised Statutes, a current copy of the Open Meetings Act is 

available for review and posted at the back of the Board Room. County Clerk Heather Christensen took all proceedings hereinafter 

shown; while the convened meeting was open to the public. County Attorney Shawn Eatherton and Deputy County Attorney Andrew 

Hoffmeister were present.  

REGULAR AGENDA 

 Moved by Higgins and seconded by Lynch to approve the February 25, 2025 Board meeting minutes. Upon roll call vote, the 

following Board members voted "Aye": Higgins, Lynch, Klein, Kouba, Loeffelholz, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried.  

  Commissioner Lynch read into the record a Resolution of Commendation to Jennifer Murrish of Buffalo County Historical 

Society for her 20 years of service.  Moved by Higgins and seconded by Klein to approve the following Resolution 2025-12.  Upon roll 

call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Loeffelholz, Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. Motion 

declared carried.  

RESOLUTION 2025-12 

Whereas, Jennifer Murrish has served with exceptional dedication as the Executive Director of the Buffalo County Historical 

Society for the past 20 years; and 

Whereas, throughout her tenure, Jennifer has demonstrated an unwavering commitment to the preservation, collection, and 

sharing of the rich history of Buffalo County, ensuring that future generations will understand and appreciate the cultural heritage of this 

community; and 

Whereas, under Jennifer's visionary leadership, the Buffalo County Historical Society has experienced significant growth, 

including the construction of the new Family History Center, which stands as a testament to her foresight and devotion to preserving the 

county’s history in an accessible and meaningful way; and 

Whereas, Jennifer’s efforts have not only strengthened the Historical Society but have also fostered a deeper connection between 

the people of Buffalo County and their shared history, enriching the community's cultural fabric; and 

Whereas, her passion, professionalism, and tireless dedication have inspired countless individuals and organizations to support 

the mission of the Buffalo County Historical Society, ensuring its continued success for many years to come; 

Now, therefore, be it resolved by the Buffalo County Board of Commissioners that we extend our deepest gratitude and 

appreciation to Jennifer Murrish for her exemplary service, leadership, and dedication over the past 20 years; and 

Be it further resolved, that we honor her contributions and celebrate her lasting impact on the preservation and growth of the 

Buffalo County Historical Society, as well as her role in enriching the lives of all those who have experienced the history of this 

remarkable community through her work. 

 Moved by Higgins and seconded by Kouba to ratify the following March 7, 2025 payroll claims processed by the County Clerk.  

Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Higgins, Kouba, Klein, Loeffelholz, Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. 

Motion declared carried. 

MARCH 7, 2025 PAYROLL 

GENERAL FUND    

NET PAYROLL     373,561.63  

AMERICAN FAMILY LIFE  I PREMIUMS       1,554.52  

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET     65,977.68  



BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS   170,895.50  

EMPOWER ANNUITY INS R DEFERRED COMP       1,075.00  

FAMILY SUPPORT REGISTRY E GARNISHMENT            75.00  

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS       7,114.10  

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES   126,195.28  

KEARNEY UNITED WAY E DONATIONS            67.42  

MADISON NATIONAL I PREMIUMS       1,171.61  

MADISON NATIONAL I LT DISABILITY          309.76  

ERIN M MCCARTNEY E GARNISHMENT          402.00  

METLIFE  E DENTAL       4,256.08  

NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT R DEFERRED COMP       2,207.00  

NE CHILD SUPPORT E CHILD SUPPORT       1,200.50  

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES     19,716.50  

VISION SERVICE PLAN E EMPE VSP EYE       1,242.97  

ROAD FUND    

NET PAYROLL       78,115.63  

AMERICAN FAMILY LIFE  I PREMIUMS       1,068.67  

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET     12,503.11  

BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS       3,937.00  

BUFFALO CO COURT E GARNISHMENT          228.50  

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS          821.66  

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES     24,354.58  

MADISON NATIONAL I PREMIUMS          185.46  

MADISON NATIONAL I LT DISABILITY          112.99  

METLIFE E DENTAL          971.12  

NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT  R DEFERRED COMP          272.50  

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES       3,731.03  

VISION SERVICE PLAN E EMPE VSP EYE          309.33  

WEED FUND    

NET PAYROLL         5,728.20  

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET          900.84  

BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS          346.00  

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS            33.33  

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES       1,789.53  

MADISON NATIONAL  I LT DISABILITY              3.94  

METLIFE  E DENTAL            60.36  

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES          264.73  

 

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Lynch to accept the Clerk of the District Court February 2025 Report. Upon roll call vote, 

the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Lynch, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

 Moved by Maendele and seconded by Lynch to accept the Buffalo County Treasurer February 2025 Fund Balance Report. Upon 

roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Maendele, Lynch, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Loeffelholz and Morrow. Motion 

declared carried. 

Moved by Klein and seconded by Higgins to accept the January 2025 Community Action Partnership of Mid-Nebraska RYDE 

Report. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Klein, Higgins, Loeffelholz, Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. 

Abstain: Kouba. Motion declared carried. 

  South Central Economic Development District (SCEDD) Deputy Director LeAnn Jochum was present to give updated reports 

and filed the 2024 annual report with the County Clerk. 

Sheriff Neil Miller and Lieutenant Robert Tubbs were present for the following agenda item. Chairperson Morrow instructed 

County Clerk Christensen to open and read aloud the submitted bids for the Request for Proposal (RFP) for the support and maintenance 

of Mitel Phone system for the Buffalo County offices and City of Kearney/Buffalo County Law Enforcement Center bids were submitted 

from the following companies; HunTel Communications, a CPI Company and Kidwell. Sheriff Miller, Lieutenant Tubbs and the IT 

Committee will review the bids and come back with recommendations at the next meeting on Tuesday, March 25, 2025. 

ROAD DEPARTMENT  

 Highway Superintendent John Maul was present for the following Agenda item. 

The Road Committee reviewed the final tabulations for gravel bids submitted on February 25, 2025 and Highway Superintendent 

Maul presented them to the Board. Moved by Klein and seconded by Lynch to award gravel bids for April 1, 2025 through March 31, 

2026 to Paulsen Inc. for Zones 1 through 7 and Zones 12 through 13; Ed Broadfoot & Sons Sand & Gravel Inc. for Zone 8 through 11 



and Zone 14 and Zone 16; Mid Nebraska Aggregate Inc. for Zones 18 through 26 and Southwest Gravel Products for Zone 15 and Zone 

17. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Klein, Lynch, Higgins, Kouba, Loeffelholz, Maendele and Morrow. 

Motion declared carried.  

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Maendele to recess the regular meeting of the Board of Commissioners at 9:30 A.M. and 

reconvene as a Board of Equalization.  Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Maendele, Higgins, 

Klein, Kouba, Lynch and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

BOARD OF EQUALIZATION 

Chairperson Morrow called the Board of Equalization to order in open session. County Treasurer Brenda Rohrich and County 

Assessor Roy Meusch were present.  

 Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister presented the confession of TERC appeal. After discussion it was moved by Higgins and 

seconded by Klein that Buffalo County Board of Equalization Confesses Judgment in Tax Equalization & Review Commission Case 

#24C 0547 in appeal concerning HUB PUBLISHING CO., Appellant, and Buffalo County, Appellee, for property identified as tax parcel 

# 610065000 and that the Buffalo County Attorney’s Office be, and hereby is, authorized to confess judgment on behalf of this Board, 

that for tax year 2024 that this property had an assessed valuation of $737,000. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted 

"Aye": Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Loeffelholz, Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

 Moved by Lynch and seconded by Loeffelholz to approve the Motor Vehicle Tax Exemption renewal as indicated on the 

application by County Treasurer Rohrich for American Red Cross for a 1999 Trailer.  Upon roll call vote, the following Board members 

voted "Aye": Lynch, Loeffelholz, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

 The following Motor Vehicle Tax Exemption renewal application was moved from the February 25, 2025 meeting due to County 

Treasurer Rohrich’s absence. Moved by Klein and seconded by Kouba to approve the Motor Vehicle Tax Exemption renewal as 

indicated on the application by County Treasurer Rohrich for the Catholic High School of Kearney for a 2022 Ford Expedition Max XLT 

4x4. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Klein, Kouba, Higgins, Loeffelholz, Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. 

Motion declared carried. 

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Lynch to approve the Motor Vehicle Tax Exemption renewal as indicated on the 

application by County Treasurer Rohrich for First United Methodist Church of Kearney for a 2024 AMP Cooler Trailer. Upon roll call 

vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Lynch, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared 

carried. 

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Lynch to approve the Motor Vehicle Tax Exemption renewal as indicated on the 

application by County Treasurer Rohrich for Seneca Sunrise, LLC for a 2021 Chrysler Pacifica Van. Upon roll call vote, the following 

Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Lynch, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Klein to approve Tax List Corrections numbered 5077 through 5087 submitted by County 

Assessor Meusch. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Klein, Higgins, Kouba, Lynch, Maendele 

and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

The following Permissive Exemption applications were heard by the Board of Equalization on February 25, 2025.  County 

Assessor Meusch stated the applications were incorrectly submitted and requested they be presented again at today’s meeting.  Meusch 

made the recommendations for each application to be denied. Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Klein to approve the denial of the 

following Permissive Exemption applications. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Klein, 

Higgins, Kouba, Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

              Name of Organization  Parcel # 

EDUCATIONAL  
 

BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA  604538000 

BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA  604535000 

BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA  602459000 

BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA  604537000 

BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE UNIVERSITY OF NEBRASKA  602458000 

 

      Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Klein to adjourn the Board of Equalization and return to the regular meeting of the Board 

of Commissioners at 9:43 A.M. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Klein, Higgins, Kouba, 

Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

REGULAR AGENDA 

Chairperson Morrow reviewed the following correspondence. City of Kearney sent a letter regarding the Planning Commission 

Agenda for March 21, 2025. County Clerk added the last Planning Commission meeting minutes to the Board packets as requested by the 



Board. Nebraska Department of Transportation (NDOT) sent an email with a letter attached stating that NDOT is required to give 

nonmetropolitan local officials the opportunity to comment on planning documents that could potentially impact the local community.  A 

Nebraska resident sent a letter in regards to their recent visit to the Department of Motor Vehicle Licensing office and the inconvenience 

of the payment process.  Chairperson Morrow called on each Board member present for committee reports and recommendations. 

Jacob Sertich Managing Principal/Architect of Wilkins Architecture Design and Planning reviewed the current construction 

projects including the (Law Enforcement Center) LEC Needs Assessment Report in Buffalo County with the Board a copy of the report 

is on file with the County Clerk. 

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Higgins to enter into Executive Session at 10:18 A.M. regarding personnel. In addition to 

the Board members responding to roll call, County Attorney Eatherton, Sheriff Miller and Board Administrator Lynn Martin. Upon roll 

call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Higgins, Kouba, Lynch, Maendele, Morrow and Klein. Motion 

declared carried. 

Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Higgins to move out of Executive Session at 10:36 A.M. and resume the open meeting. 

Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Higgins, Kouba, Lynch, Maendele, Morrow and Klein. 

Motion declared carried.  

Chairperson Morrow called for Citizen’s forum no one addressed the Board.  

 Chairperson Morrow asked if there was anything else to come before the Board at 10:37 A.M. before she declared the meeting 

adjourned until the regular meeting at 9:00 A.M. on Tuesday, March 25, 2025.     

 

ATTEST: 

___________________________________             _________________________________   

Sherry L. Morrow, Chairperson      Heather A. Christensen  

Buffalo County Board of Commissioners        Buffalo County Clerk   

                                                               (SEAL) 



MARCH 21, 2025 PAYROLL 

GENERAL FUND 

NET PAYROLL 353,775.06 

AMERICAN FAMILY LIFE I PREMIUMS       1,554.52 

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET     62,425.73 

BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS   173,272.50 

EMPOWER ANNUITY INS R DEFERRED COMP       1,075.00 

FAMILY SUPPORT REGISTRY E GARNISHMENT 75.00 

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS       6,664.10 

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES   117,898.03 

KEARNEY UNITED WAY E DONATIONS 67.42 

MADISON NATIONAL I PREMIUMS       1,196.94 

MADISON NATIONAL I LT DISABILITY          310.07 

ERIN M MCCARTNEY E GARNISHMENT          402.00 

METLIFE E DENTAL       4,361.30 

NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT R DEFERRED COMP       2,207.00 

NE CHILD SUPPORT E CHILD SUPPORT       1,200.50 

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES     18,373.62 

VISION SERVICE PLAN E EMPE VSP EYE       1,275.19 

ROAD FUND 

NET PAYROLL 63,093.82 

AMERICAN FAMILY LIFE I PREMIUMS       1,068.67 

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET     10,117.22 

BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS       3,937.00 

BUFFALO CO COURT E GARNISHMENT          220.50 

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS          821.66 

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES     18,495.77 

MADISON NATIONAL I PREMIUMS          185.54 

MADISON NATIONAL I LT DISABILITY          113.03 

METLIFE E DENTAL          971.12 

NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT R DEFERRED COMP          272.50 

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES       2,742.10 

VISION SERVICE PLAN E EMPE VSP EYE          309.43 

WEED FUND 

NET PAYROLL 5,728.19 

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET          900.84 

BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS          346.00 

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS 33.33 

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES       1,789.53 

MADISON NATIONAL I LT DISABILITY 3.95 

METLIFE E DENTAL 60.36 

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES          264.73 





















































 

 
ZONING AGENDA ITEM #1 

 
 
 

MEETING DATE:  March 25, 2025 
 
AGENT:  Jay Sporer, of Sporer Land Development, Inc., on behalf of Neil 

Hinrichsen, of Rockin’ H Trucking and Cattle Inc.   
 
SUBJECT: Application for Special Use Permit to operate a Crushed Concrete 

Processing/Storage Site on part of tax parcel 500099000, described as Part 
of Government Lot 7 and part of Government Lot 8, situated in Section 
Five (5), Township Eight (8) North, Range Eighteen (18) West of the 
Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska. 

Discussion: 
 
Jay Sporer, of Sporer Land Development, Inc., on behalf of Neil Hinrichsen, of Rockin’ H 
Trucking and Cattle Inc., has filed an Application for a Special Use Permit to operate a Crushed 
Concrete Processing/Storage Site on part of tax parcel 500099000, described as Part of 
Government Lot 7 and part of Government Lot 8, situated in Section Five (5), Township Eight 
(8) North, Range Eighteen (18) West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska. 
 
Zoning District: (AGR) Agricultural – Residential.  
 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations, Section 5.34 (21), states “Temporary construction material 
crushing plant that uses movable equipment utilized for area road or localized construction.” may 
be allowable as a specially permitted use. 
 
On February 20, 2025, The Planning Commission recommended to forward this application 
favorably, on a 9-0 vote, with no abstentions and no absences and the following conditions: 
 

1. All inventory must be removed by the end of 5 years; 
2. 911 address signage is required; 
3. Entry access to state or county highway approved by the appropriate state engineer or 

county staff; 
4. The applicant will need to enter into a Road Maintenance/Improvement Agreement; 

 

BUFFALO COUNTY ZONING & FLOODPLAIN 
Buffalo County Courthouse 
1512 Central Avenue 
PO Box 1270 
Kearney, NE  68848 
Phone: (308) 236-1998 
Fax: (308) 236-1870 
Email: zoning@buffalocounty.ne.gov 



5. The land will be restored to original condition, upon completion of the Special Use 
Permit. 
 

Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Jeffs, Kreutzer, Stubblefield, 
Wolfe, Chaney, Keep, Sedlacek, Vacek, and Brady. 
Voting “Nay”: None.  
Abstain: None. 
Absent: None.  
 
No opposition has been received regarding The Special Use Permit Application for the proposed 
use. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



ZONING AGENDA ITEM #2 
 

 
 

MEETING DATE:  March 25, 2025 
 
AGENT: Mitch Humphrey, licensed land surveyor, on behalf of Tyler R. Wilterding 

and Karmen M. Wilterding and Ryan S. Rodehorst and Rutheah A. 
Rodehorst 

SUBJECT: Approval of proposed final plat, “Heritage Hills Subdivision” located in 
part of the North Half of the Southwest Quarter of Section One (1), 
Township Nine (9) North, Range Sixteen (16) West of the 6th p.m., 
Buffalo County, Nebraska.  

Discussion: 

On October 22, 2024, The Buffalo County Zoning Administrator presented the denial of a 
proposed final plat, “Heritage Hills Subdivision”, due to a noncompliant preliminary plat. 
 
On December 12, 2024, The Buffalo County Board of Adjustment approved the additional 
relaxations required to reapply and made the following findings: 
 

1. This Board finds that there was an undue hardship for land that may be devalued due to a 
nonconforming lot, which is accessed by nonconforming accesses based on the inability 
of use for economic development potential, paired with the helplessness to secure lending 
and have access to affordable insurance. 

 
2. This Board finds that this particular issue is not generally shared by the other properties 

in the same zoning district and the same vicinity. 
 

3. This Board finds that the authorization of the variance will not be of substantial detriment 
to the adjacent properties and character of the district will not be changed by the granting 
of the variance. 

 
4. This Board finds that the granting of such variance is based upon reasons of demonstrable 

and exceptional hardship as distinguished from variations for purposes of convenience, 
profit, or caprice.  

 
A motion was made by Ms. Jeffs, seconded by Mr. Hardesty to approve the Application for 
Variance, under Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations: Section 1.05 which requires all 
subdivided land abut a dedicated and maintained street/road; Section 2.35 which defines a street; 
Section 4.02 (E) which requires that all lots have a minimum 25 feet abutment along a 
street/road; Section 4.03 which requires streets/roads ending in a cul-de-sac be shorter than 600 
feet; Section 4.03 which requires the minimum right-of-way widths to be 66 feet; Section 4.03 
which requires cul-de-sacs have a 66-foot radius; Section 4.11 which require all streets/roads in a 
subdivision conform minimum standards; Section 4.12 (A) which requires access within a 
subdivision be accomplished by dedicated public streets/roads with minimum design standards; 
Section 4.12 (B) which requires all private streets to have a minimum width of 66 feet in width; 



Section 5.01 which sets out requirements for the grading of roads/streets; AND Buffalo County 
Zoning Regulations, Section 5.32 (2) which requires all dwellings to abut an improved road for a 
tract of land located in the North Half of the Southwest Quarter of Section One (1), Township 
Nine (9) North, Range Sixteen (16) West of the 6th p.m., Buffalo County, Nebraska, along with 
the suggested address change to ‘East 106th Street Place’. 
 
Voting “Aye”: Hardesty, Jeffs, White and Gangwish. 
Absent: Pierce and Pemberton-Riege. 
Abstain: None.  
Voting “Nay”: None. 
 
At the January 16, 2025 Buffalo County Planning Commission Meeting, a motion was made by 
Ms. Wolfe, and seconded by Mr. Sedlacek to favorably recommend the Application for 
Preliminary Subdivision, “Heritage Hills Subdivision”, with the condition that the access road be 
renamed to E. 106th Street Place. 
 
Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Jeffs, Sedlacek, Stubblefield, 
Vacek, Wolfe, and Brady. 
Voting “Nay”: None.  
Abstain: None. 
Absent: Keep.  
 
At the February 11, 2025 Board of Commissioners’ Meeting, The Buffalo County Board of 
Commissioners, by simple majority, voted to approve the preliminary plat, on a preliminary 
basis, for “Heritage Hills Subdivision”, via Resolution 2025-06.  
 
Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations, Section 3.18, states: “When the final plat conforms to 
the approved preliminary plat and the requirements have been accomplished, the Board shall 
review the final plat for approval…” 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ZONING AGENDA ITEM #3 
 
 
 

 

 

MEETING DATE:  March 25, 2025 
 
AGENT:   Hanna:Keelan Associates 
 
SUBJECT: Review, discussion, and possible approval of the Buffalo County Zoning 

and Subdivision Regulations and Buffalo County Zoning District Map as 
part of the Buffalo County Comprehensive Plan, or the general plan for 
the improvement and development of the county outside of the jurisdiction 
of any city or village, as required per Neb. Rev. Stat. §23-174.06. 

Discussion: 

On October 17, 2024, The Buffalo County Planning Commission voted to forward the proposed 
final draft of the Buffalo County Zoning and Subdivision Regulations.  
 
Motion was made by Mr. Biehl, and seconded by Mr. Schmidt, to approve the Buffalo County 
Zoning and Subdivision Regulations as presented at the close of that session, as part of the 
Buffalo County Comprehensive Plan or the general plan for the improvement and development 
of the county outside of the jurisdiction of any city or village, as required per Neb. Rev. Stat. 
§23-174.06. 
 
Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Biehl, Keep, Schmidt, Wolfe, 
and Brady. 
Voting “Nay”: None.  
Abstain: None. 
Absent: Jeffs, Vacek, and Stubblefield. 
 
On February 25, 2025, The Buffalo County Board of Commissioners, by simple majority, made 
several code amendments, after review and majority approval by the Buffalo County Planning 
Commission on January 16, 2025, relating to The Proposed Buffalo County Zoning and 
Subdivision Regulations under Resolutions 2025-08 through 2025-11. 
 
With those amendments integrated into the final draft of the Buffalo County Zoning and 
Subdivision Regulations, along with the Final Draft of the Buffalo County Zoning Map, The 
Board of Commissioners will review, discuss, and possibly approve the final draft as part of the 
Buffalo County Comprehensive Plan, as required per Neb. Rev. Stat. §23-174.06. The proposed 
items were made available for public viewing on the Buffalo County Website, as well as the 
Buffalo County Clerk’s Office since 3/12/2025. 
 
 

 
 



Planning  
& 

Zoning 
Commission 

Minutes 

February 20, 2025 



 

MINUTES OF PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
FEBRUARY 20, 2025 

BUFFALO COUNTY COURTHOUSE  
7:00 P.M. 

 
Notice of the meeting was given in advance thereof by publication in the Kearney Hub, the 
designated method for giving notice, on February 6, 2025. A copy of the proof of publication is 
on file in the Zoning Administrator’s Office. Advance notice of the meeting was also given to 
the Planning and Zoning Commission and availability of the Agenda was communicated in the 
advance notice. The Agenda is available for anyone wanting a copy. 
 
Chairperson Scott Brady opened the meeting at 7:04 P.M. on February 20, 2025.  He announced 
that Tim Kreutzer was appointed to the Buffalo County Planning Commission on January 28, 
2025 and Joshua Chaney was appointed to the Buffalo County Planning Commission on 
February 11, 2025 by the Buffalo County Board of Commissioners. 
 
In Attendance: Marc Vacek, Loye Wolfe, Tammy Jeffs, Scott Stubblefield, Jeremy Sedlacek, 
Willie Keep, Tim Kreutzer, Joshua Chaney and Scott Brady. 
 
Quorum has been met. 
 
Also attending were: Deputy County Attorney Josiah Davis and Zoning Administrator Dennise 
Daniels. There were a few members of the public present. 
 
Chairperson Brady announced The Open Meetings Act and agendas were available if anyone 
wished to have one. 
 
The public forum was opened at 7:06 P.M.  No one spoke. The public forum closed at 7:07 P.M.  
 
Chairperson Brady announced the procedure and etiquette for the upcoming public hearings. 
 
Public Hearing. 5(a) 
 
Chairperson Brady opened the public hearing for Agenda Item 5(a) at 7:07 P.M. regarding an 
Application for Special Use Permit to operate a Crushed Concrete Processing/Storage Site, filed 
by Jay Sporer, of Sporer Land Development, Inc., on behalf of Neil Hinrichsen, of Rockin’ H 
Trucking and Cattle Inc., on part of tax parcel 500099000, described as part of Government Lot 
7 and part of Government Lot 8, situated in Section Five (5), Township Eight (8) North, Range 
Eighteen (18) West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska. 
 
Ryan Chrisman, the onsite superintendent, of Sporer Land Development, Inc., on behalf of Neil 
Hinrichsen, of Rockin’ H Trucking and Cattle Inc., stepped forward to present the application. 
Mr. Chrisman approached the GIS image of parcel 500099000, shown via the projector for 
public viewing. He explained that the area, east of the existing house, will be used to crush and 
stockpile concrete from the Interstate 80 project. He stated that during the project, there will be a 
direct access road created from the interstate to that site, where the concrete will be crushed on 



 

site. He testified that they will stockpile the concrete and sell it.  He explained that he foresees 
the pile to exist for a few years. 
 
Ms. Wolfe asked how the inventory will be exited off site and Mr. Chrisman explained that the 
stockpile will be exited out on Buffalo Creek Road to Highway 183.  
 
Mr. Chaney inquired if there was an intent to enter into a road maintenance contract to repair the 
roads, with consideration given to the weight of the stockpile loads and the number of trucks 
traversing the county road. Mr. Chrisman stated that they would enter into a contract for road 
maintenance, if necessary. He added that the situation would be similar to the Odessa Project that 
they brought in front of Buffalo County and received permission for in 2024. 
 
Mr. Chaney inquired who the homeowner was that lived next the temporary plant and Mr. 
Chrisman explained that it is the applicant/landowner of the tract of land they are leasing.  
 
Mr. Sedlacek asked for clarification for how the inventory will enter and exit the tract. Mr. 
Chrisman testified that the inventory will enter the tract of land via an access road directly off 
Interstate 80 and the inventory will exit via Buffalo Creek Road. 
 
Chairperson Brady inquired if the concrete would be crushed onsite and Mr. Chrisman 
confirmed. 
 
Chairperson Brady questioned how long the company intended to crush concrete for until its 
completion and Mr. Chrisman stated that he estimated that all crushing will be complete by 
September 2025, but the stockpile will remain until it has been completely sold off. He estimated 
that the stockpile would be sold within three years.  
 
Mr. Vacek asked how the stockpile at the Odessa Project was selling and Mr. Chrisman testified 
that it is almost gone, as a local contractor bought most of it. Mr. Sedlacek asked Mr. Chrisman 
if this inventory would sell just as quickly as the last and Mr. Chrisman declared that most of the 
inventory would go quickly, but some would be retained for the use of Sporer Land 
Development. 
 
Mr. Stubblefield asked where this project would be occurring. Mr. Chrisman answered that the 
project will have approximately six miles of pavement along Turkey Creek to be removed. He 
added that another three miles of concrete will be stockpiled at the Odessa site, due to the 
location and traffic patterns. 
 
Mr. Stubblefield asked if trucks would be crossing the westbound lane to access the site and Mr. 
Chrisman stated that the construction is all occurring on the westbound lane and no trucks will be 
crossing the intersection. Mr. Chrisman added that three bridges will be removed as part of the 
project, which affects the journey to where the concrete will be trucked to. 
 
Discussion occurred regarding the bridge construction in and along Interstate 80. 
 



 

Chairperson Brady asked Zoning Administrator Daniels if she could show on the projector the 
conditions that were placed for the Odessa Project. Zoning Administrator Daniels projected that 
resolution, which included the following conditions: all inventory must be removed by the end of 
5 years, 911 address signage is required, entry access to state or county highway approved by the 
appropriate state engineer or county staff, the applicant will need to enter into a Road 
Maintenance/Improvement Agreement, and restoration of land to original condition. The 
Commission discussed and reviewed the prior conditions and agreed they were applicable to this 
project, as well. 
 
Vice-Chairperson Keep asked Zoning Administrator Daniels if she had received any complaints 
regarding the Odessa Project and Zoning Administrator Daniels stated that she had not.  
 
Mr. Chaney asked Mr. Chrisman if water is used to contain the dust from the operation and Mr. 
Chrisman confirmed it would. 
 
Discussion occurred regarding other current interstate projects. 
 
Mr. Chaney stated that he appreciated the direct access off Interstate 80, instead of bottlenecking 
the trucks at the interstate exits. Ms. Wolfe and Chairperson Brady agreed. 
 
Chairperson Brady asked if anyone wished to comment. No one spoke.  
 
Chairperson Brady closed the public hearing at 7:20 P.M. 
 
Motion was made by Mr. Stubblefield, and seconded by Mr. Sedlacek to favorably recommend 
the Application for Special Use Permit to operate a Crushed Concrete Processing/Storage Site, 
filed by Jay Sporer, of Sporer Land Development, Inc., on behalf of Neil Hinrichsen, of Rockin’ 
H Trucking and Cattle Inc., on part of tax parcel 500099000, described as part of Government 
Lot 7 and part of Government Lot 8, situated in Section Five (5), Township Eight (8) North, 
Range Eighteen (18) West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska, to The 
Buffalo County Board of Commissioners, with the following conditions: all inventory must be 
removed by the end of 5 years, 911 address signage is required, entry access to state or county 
highway approved by the appropriate state engineer or county staff, the applicant will need to 
enter into a Road Maintenance/Improvement Agreement, and restoration of land to original 
condition. 
 
Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Jeffs, Kreutzer, Stubblefield, 
Wolfe, Chaney, Keep, Sedlacek, Vacek, and Brady. 
Voting “Nay”: None.  
Abstain: None. 
Absent: None.  
 
Motion carried. 
 
Old Business 
 



 

Minutes 
 
Motion was made by Mr. Vacek, and seconded by Secretary Jeffs to approve the January 16, 
2025 meeting minutes, as presented. 
 
Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Jeffs, Kreutzer, Stubblefield, 
Wolfe, Chaney, Keep, Sedlacek, Vacek, and Brady. 
Voting “Nay”: None.  
Abstain: None. 
Absent: None. 
 
Motion carried. 
 
New Business 
 
Report on Previous Hearings 
 
Zoning Administrator Daniels reported that the Buffalo County Board of Commissioners 
reviewed the Application for Zoning Map Amendment, filed by Craig Bennett, of Miller & 
Associates Consulting Engineers, P.C., on behalf of Mark H. Meyer and C. Jayne Meyer, also 
known as Claudia Jayne Meyer, and Loren Bakko, Manager of Bakko Land, L.L.C to rezone 
approximately 30.13 Acres, more or less, from Agricultural – Residential (AGR) to Commercial 
(C). She added the original public hearing was heard on December 23, 2024, but was recessed to 
January 28, 2025. Prior to that public hearing, she testified, the applicant requested a reduction in 
acres from 30.13 acres to 17.56 Acres. However, she continued, on January 28, 2025, The Board 
of Commissioners denied the request for rezone.  
 
Zoning Administrator Daniels reported that the Buffalo County Board of Commissioners 
reviewed and approved the Application for Preliminary Subdivision, “Heritage Hills 
Subdivision”, filed by Mitch Humphrey, licensed land surveyor on behalf of Tyler R. Wilterding 
and Karmen M. Wilterding and Ryan S. Rodehorst and Rutheah A. Rodehorst, on February 11, 
2025. 
 
Zoning Administrator Daniels reported that the Buffalo County Board of Commissioners were 
scheduled to review the proposed code amendments to The Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 
in the following sections: Section 11.1, General Amendment, Section 11.2, Submission to 
Planning Commission for Amendments, Section 11.3, Amendment Consideration and Adoption, 
and Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations, Section 9.03, Amendments, regarding the binding 
recommendations of the planning commission AND Buffalo County Zoning Regulations, 
Section 6.6 Livestock Confinement Facilities regarding minimum distance setbacks for livestock 
confinement operations on February 25, 2025. She stated that she will report back when that 
public hearing is complete.  
 



 

Zoning Administrator Daniels reviewed the correspondence with The Commission. She notified 
The Commission of the proposed plat of Spruce Hollow 3rd in the city of Kearney’s extra-
territorial jurisdiction and asked The Commission to review the proposed letter to the city of 
Kearney. She requested that they let her know if revisions needed to occur. The Commission 
agreed that no changes were recommended. 
 
Extra-territorial jurisdictional boundaries were reviewed with The Commission. 
 
Zoning Administrator Daniels also reviewed the Kearney County notices with The Commission. 
 
Zoning Administrator Daniels notified The Commission that the Nebraska Planning and Zoning 
Conference would be held March 5, 2025 through March 7, 2025 and to let her know by 
February 26, 2025 if they planned to attend. 
 
Zoning Administrator Daniels reported that The Nebraska Planning Conference will be held 
March 5, 2025 through March 7, 2025 and would provide more information as topics become 
available. 
 
Next Meeting 
 
The next meeting will be March 20, 2025, with the submission of an Application of Special Use 
Permit for a daycare center and two other Applications for Special Use for an agricultural 
establishment to the office of the Buffalo County Zoning Administrator. 
 
Adjourn 
 
Chairperson Brady adjourned the meeting at 7:33 P.M. 
 
 
___________________________________   _____________________________
 Scott Brady, Chairperson     Tammy Jeffs, Secretary 

Buffalo County Planning Commission           Buffalo County Planning Commission 
 



Zoning 
Agenda 

Item #1 











Proposed Concrete Crushing Site Zoning/Floodplain Created by: null



Proposed Concrete Crushing Site Aerial/Floodplain Created by: null



Zoning 
Agenda 

 
 

Item #2 
 

 















Report of 
History on 
Proposed 

Development 



Buffalo County Planning & Zoning 
1512 Central Avenue, PO Box 1270  •  Kearney, Nebraska 68848

Phone (308) 236-1998 •  Fax (308) 236-1870 •  Email: zoning@buffalocounty.ne.gov 

To: Buffalo County Board of Commissioners 

From: Dennise Daniels, Zoning Administrator 

Subject: Summary Report of Denial for Proposed Plat 

On or around September 23, 2024, The Buffalo County Zoning Office received an Application 
for Preliminary Plat for “Heritage Hills Subdivision”, filed by Mitch Humphrey, licensed land 
surveyor, for a tract of land being part of the North Half of the Southwest Quarter of Section One 
(1), Township Nine (9) North, Range Sixteen (16) West of the 6th P.M., Buffalo County, 
Nebraska, inventoried as Permit #2024-071, in the Buffalo County Zoning Records. 

While reviewing the proposed final plat, “Heritage Hills Subdivision”, and all applicable Zoning 
and Subdivision Regulations, to ensure compliance, the following regulations, which are 
including, but not limited to, the subsequent provisions, were considered: 

1. Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations, Section 1.05, states, “No subdivision of land,
regardless of acreage involved, shall be permitted within the jurisdiction of Buffalo
County unless the property subdivided and all portions therein abuts before and after
subdividing, a dedicated and maintained public street(s) and/or road(s), or private streets
as private streets are allowed to be created in this Resolution. (Resolution 7-13-2021)”;

2. Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations, Section 2.35, defines a street as, “A highway,
road, avenue, or boulevard, dedicated to and accessed by the public which affords
principal means of access to or abutting property. A private street is not a publicly
accessed street. A private street may limit public access by gates, signage, or other
means, limits or restricts access on and to the private street. (Resolution 7-13-2021)”;

3. Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations, Section 4.02 (E), states, “All lots shall have a
minimum of 25 feet width along a street or road. (Resolution 7-13-2021)”;

4. Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations, Section 4.03, states, “…In all cases of
permanent dead-end streets and roads, cul-de-sac rights of-way shall be dedicated. Streets
and roads ending in a cul-de-sac shall not be longer than six-hundred (600) feet…”; and

5. Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations, Section 4.03, states, “…Cul-de-Sacs must have
a 66-foot radius…”;

6. Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations, Section 4.03, requires the minimum right-of-
way widths to be “66 feet”;

7. Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations, Section 4.11, states, “Streets and roads,
whether private as allowed in Chapter 4 or public, within a subdivision shall minimally
conform to the Nebraska State Board of Public Roads Classification Local Road RL-2 as
to design, grade, maximum grade, tangent sight, traveled width of the road, shoulder

Summary Report of Denial for 
Proposed Plat Submitted to 
The Buffalo County Board of 
Commissioners on 
10/22/2024.



Buffalo County Planning & Zoning 
1512 Central Avenue, PO Box 1270  •  Kearney, Nebraska 68848

Phone (308) 236-1998 •  Fax (308) 236-1870 •  Email: zoning@buffalocounty.ne.gov 

width, and other particulars addressed in State Board of Public Road regulations 
regarding street layout with the dedicated road right of way.”; 

8. Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations, Section 4.12 (A), states, “Access to and within
a subdivision shall be accomplished by dedicated public streets or roads laid out as
directed in minimum design standards.”;

9. Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations, Section 4.12 (B), states, “Private Street
Minimum Width and Operative as Grant of Utility Access and Occupation Private
Streets, when created under this Resolution, shall have a minimum street width of sixty-
six (66) feet in width and grant access within the private street to entry, occupation, and
use by public (Resolution 7-13- 2021).”;

10. Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations, Section 5.01, states, “All streets, roads and
public ways whether designated public or private within the subdivision shall be graded
to the standards described in Chapter 4 of these regulations. Absent a hard surfacing
requirement, all streets, roads, and ways whether designated public or private within the
subdivision shall be minimally surfaced with three (3) inches of crushed rock embedded
into the subgrade during construction and one (1) inch of gravel or higher grade of road
surfacing. (Resolution 2-25-2020)”;

11. Buffalo County Zoning Regulations, Section 5.32 (2), states: “Single family, ranch, and
farm dwellings on a parcel abutting improved road, meaning a road above county
minimum maintenance road classification or public street within approved subdivision,
including ranch and farm dwellings; (Resolution 8-10-04) in addition single family
dwellings must be located minimum distances from livestock confinement facilities
(Resolution 07-13-2021).”.

With careful consideration given to various chapters and sections regarding accesses, in the 
Buffalo County Zoning and Subdivision Regulations, directly affecting the proposed subdivision, 
and a review of the proposed plat, “Heritage Hills Subdivision", inventoried as Permit #2024-071 
in the Buffalo County Zoning Records, the preliminary plat, submitted as, “Heritage Hills 
Subdivision" is not compliant and is, therefore, denied based on the above listed reasons 1 
through 11.  

The applicants and their agent have received a copy of this report.  They may seek appeal of the 
Zoning Administrator’s decision by requesting a variance within ten (10) days from the date of 
decision by The Zoning Administrator, under Buffalo County Zoning Regulations, Section 9.4. 



Application, Plat & 
Accompanying 
Documentation













Last Deed of 
Record







Remainderment 





Applicant & 
Agent Denial 

Letters 





















Certification 
of Board of 
Adjustment 

Meeting 
Minutes

December 12, 2024













Preliminary 
Plat 

Resolution  
2025-06







Heritage Hills Zoning/Floodplain Map Created by: null



Heritage Hills Aerial/Floodplain Map Created by: null



Zoning 
Agenda 

Item #3 



Proposed 
Zoning 

Regulations 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

1 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ARTICLE 1 
 
 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

1.1 TITLE 
 

This Resolution shall be known, referred to, and cited as the Zoning Resolution of 
Buffalo County in the State of Nebraska. 
 

1.2 JURISDICTION 
 

The provisions of this Resolution shall apply within the planning jurisdiction of 
Buffalo County as established on the map entitled “The Official Zoning Map of 
Buffalo County, Nebraska.”  The jurisdiction includes the rural and unincorporated 
areas of Buffalo County. 

 
1.3 PURPOSE 
 

In pursuance of the authority conferred by Sections 23-114.03 to 114.05 and 23-
164 to 174.10 of Nebraska Revised Statutes as amended, and other applicable 
laws, this resolution is enacted for the purpose of promoting the health, safety, 
convenience, order, prosperity and welfare of the present and future inhabitants of 
Buffalo County and for implementing the Comprehensive Plan of the County. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Legend 
  Already approved and updated. 
  Reviewed/Discussed at April 2023 Meeting. 
  Revised at June Meeting. 
  Revised at July Meeting. 
  Reviewed/Revised at August Meeting. 
  Reviewed/Revised at October Meeting. 
  Reviewed/Revised at November Meeting. 
  Reviewed/Revised at February 2024 Meeting. 
  Reviewed/Revised at April 2024 Meeting. 
  BoC Recommended Re-Review. 
  Reviewed/Revised at September Meeting. 
  Reviewed/Revised at October Meeting. 
  Recommended for inclusion by BoC on 2/25/2025. 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

2 

ARTICLE 2 
 

APPLICATION OF REGULATIONS 
 

2.1 GENERAL 
 

The zoning regulations set forth by this resolution within each district shall be 
minimum regulations and shall apply uniformly to each class or kind of structure or 
land, except as hereinafter provided. 

 
2.2 ZONING AFFECTS EVERY BUILDING AND USE 
 

Excepting non-conforming lot sizes, structures, and usages, as set forth in Sec. 2.5, 
2.51, 2.52, and 2.53 of these regulations, after effective date of this Regulation or 
any amendments thereto, no building, construction, or land shall be used or 
occupied, and no building or structure or part thereof shall be erected, constructed, 
moved or structurally altered except in conformity with all of the zoning regulations 
herein specified for the district in which it is located. 

 
2.3 YARD AND LOT REDUCTION PROHIBITED 
 

No yard or lot existing at the time of passage of this resolution shall be reduced by 
private action in dimension or area below the minimum requirements set herein.  
Yards or lots created after the effective date of this resolution shall meet the 
minimum requirements established by this resolution. 

 
2.4 MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS 
 

In their interpretation and application, the provisions of this resolution shall be held 
to be minimum requirements, adopted for the promotion of the public health, safety, 
morals or general welfare.  Where applicable, Municipal, State or Federal 
standards, which are more restrictive than those contained herein, shall apply. 

 
2.41 FLOODPLAIN STRUCTURAL REQUIREMENTS 
 

All changes in use allowed by zoning permits shall be in compliance with 
floodplain regulations adopted by Buffalo County.  Floodplain administration is 
the duty of the Buffalo County Floodplain Administrator and not the duty of the 
zoning administrator.  The zoning permit form shall include a provision for review 
of such permit by the floodplain administrator.  (Resolution 11-08-05) 

 
2.5 NONCONFORMITIES 
 

Nonconformities; Intent: Nonconformities are of three types: nonconforming lots of 
record, nonconforming structures, and nonconforming uses. 

 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

3 

2.51 NONCONFORMING LOTS OF RECORD: The Zoning Administrator may 
issue a Zoning Permit for any nonconforming lot of record provided that: 

 
Said lot is shown by a recorded plat or deed recorded with the Buffalo 
County Register of Deeds to have been owned separately and individually 
from adjoining tracts of land, at a time when the creation of a lot of such size 
and width at such location would not have been prohibited, and  

 
Said lot has remained in separate and individual ownership from adjoining 
tracts of land continuously during the entire time that the creation of such lot 
has been prohibited by the zoning regulation, and 

 
Said lot can meet all yard regulations for the district in which it is located. 

2.52 NONCONFORMING STRUCTURES 
 

Authority to Continue: Any structure which is devoted to a use which is 
permitted in the zoning district in which it is located, but which is located on a 
lot which does not comply with the use regulations and/or the applicable 
yard and height regulations may be continued, so long as it remains 
otherwise lawful. 

 
Enlargement, Repair, Alterations: Any nonconforming structure may be 
enlarged, maintained, repaired, or remodeled or rebuilt; provided, however, 
that no such enlargement, maintenance, repair or remodeling shall either 
create any additional nonconformity or increase the degree of existing 
nonconformity of all or any part of such structure. See illustration below 
where proposed addition would not be allowed to the extent which it 
encroached in setback. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

*In this illustration, the proposed expansion of the existing building that 
encroaches a setback line on one side of the parcel would not be 
allowable because the expansion of use increases the degree of non-
conforming use of the structure in regards to required minimum yard 
space. 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

4 

 
Damage of or Destruction: In the event any nonconforming nonresidential 
structure is damaged or destroyed, by any means, to the extent of more than 
60 percent of its structural value, such structure shall not be restored unless 
it shall thereafter conform to the regulations for the zoning district in which it 
is located.  When a structure is damaged to the extent of 60 percent or less, 
no repairs or restoration shall be made unless a zoning permit is obtained 
within six months, and restoration is actually begun one year after the date 
of such partial destruction and is diligently pursued to completion. 

 
Moving: No nonconforming structure shall be moved in whole or in part of 
any distance whatsoever, to any other location on the same or any other lot 
unless the entire structure shall thereafter conform to the regulations of the 
zoning district in which it is located after being moved. 

 
2.53 NONCONFORMING USES 

 
Authority to Continue: Any lawfully existing nonconforming use of part or all 
of a structure or any lawfully existing nonconforming use of land, not 
involving a structure or only involving a structure which is accessory to such 
use or land, may be continued, so long as otherwise lawful. 

 
Ordinary Repair and Maintenance: 
 
1. Normal maintenance and incidental repair, or replacement, 

installation or relocation or nonbearing walls, nonbearing partitions, 
fixtures, wiring or plumbing, water and/or waste disposal systems, 
may be performed on any structure or system that is devoted in 
whole or in part to a nonconforming use. 

 
2. Nothing in these regulations shall be deemed to prevent the 

strengthening or restoring to a safe condition of a structure in 
accordance with an order of a public official who is charged with 
protecting the public safety who declares such structure to be unsafe 
and orders its restorations to a safe condition. 

 
Extension: A nonconforming use shall not be extended, enlarged, or 
increased in intensity.  Any nonconforming use may be extended throughout 
any parts of a building which was manifestly arranged or designed for such 
use at the time of adoption or amendment of these Regulations, but no use 
shall be extended to occupy any land outside such building.  

 
Enlargement: No structure that is devoted in whole or in part to a 
nonconforming use shall be enlarged or added to in any manner unless such 
structure and the use thereof shall thereafter conform to the regulations of 
the district in which it is located. 

 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

5 

Damage or Destruction: In the event that any structure that is devoted in 
whole or in part to a nonconforming use is damaged to the extent of more 
than sixty (60) percent of its reasonable replacement value, the property 
shall conform to the zone in which it is located. 

 
Moving: No structure that is devoted in whole or in part to a nonconforming 
use and nonconforming use of land shall be moved in whole or in part for 
any distance whatsoever, to any location on the same or any other lot, 
unless the entire structure and the use thereof or the use of land shall 
thereafter conform to all regulations of the zoning district in which it is 
located after being so moved. 

 
Change in use: If no external structural alterations are made which will 
expand the area or change the dimensions of the existing structure, any 
nonconforming use of a structure, or structure and premises, may be 
changed to another nonconforming use provided that the governing body 
after receiving a recommendation from the Planning Commission, by making 
findings in the specific case, shall find that the proposed use is more 
appropriate to the district than the existing nonconforming use. More 
appropriate shall mean creating less traffic, noise, glare, odor or other 
characteristics of the proposed use.  In permitting such change, the 
governing body may require appropriate conditions and safeguards to 
protect surrounding areas and properties.  Once such use has changed, it 
may no longer be returned to the original use or any other less appropriate 
use. 

 
Abandonment or Discontinuance: When a nonconforming use is 
discontinued or abandoned, for a period of twelve (12) consecutive months, 
such use shall not thereafter be reestablished or resumed, and any 
subsequent use or occupancy of such land shall comply with the regulations 
of the zoning district in which such land is located. 
 
Nonconforming Accessory Uses: No use which is accessory to a principal 
nonconforming use shall continue after such principal use shall cease or 
terminate.



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

6 

ARTICLE 3 
 

GENERAL DEFINITIONS 
 

3.1 GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

The following rules of construction shall apply unless inconsistent with the plain 
meaning of the context of this resolution. 

 
3.11  TENSE: Words used in the present tense include the future tense. 

 
3.12 NUMBER: Words used in the singular include the plural, and words used in 
the plural include the singular. 

 
3.13 SHALL AND MAY: The word “shall” is mandatory; the work “may” is 
permissive. 

 
3.14 HEADINGS: In the event that there is any conflict or inconsistency between 
the heading of an article, section or paragraph of this Resolution and the context 
thereof, the said heading shall not be deemed to affect the scope, meaning or intent 
of such context. 

 
3.2 GENERAL TERMINOLOGY 
 

The word “County” shall mean the County of Buffalo, Nebraska.  The words 
“County Board” shall mean the Buffalo County Board of Supervisors Board of 
Commissioners.  The words “Planning Commission” shall mean the Buffalo County 
Zoning and Planning Commission duly appointed by the governing body of Buffalo 
County.  

 
Words or terms not herein defined shall have their ordinary meaning in relation to 
the context. 
 

3.3 DEFINITION 
 

For the purpose of this resolution certain words and terms used herein are defined 
as follows: 

 
3.3100  ACCESSORY USE OF BUILDING: A subordinate building or use 
which customarily is incidental to that of the main or principal building or use of the 
premises.  Customary accessory uses include, but are not limited to, tennis courts, 
swimming pools, detached garages, garden houses, antenna/satellite dishes, and 
residential, agricultural and recreation storage sheds.  Garages or other accessory 
uses attached to the principal structure shall be considered a part thereof and meet 
the requirements of the principal structure. 
 
3.3101 ADULT ENTERTAINMENT ESTABLISHMENT is: A commercial 

establishment or use open to the public which: 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

7 

A. Displays, distributes, issues, gives, provides, lends, delivers, 
transfers, transmits, circulates, disseminates, presents, exhibits, 
advertises, sells, rents or leases a substantial or significant portion, 
as herein defined, of its stock in trade, any material defined by the 
Neb. Rev. Stat. Sec. 28-808 or characterized by the depiction of 
"specified anatomical areas" or "specified sexual activities", as such 
are herein defined; or 

1. Utilizes a substantial or significant portion, as herein defined, 
of its display areas, including but not limited to, floor, shelf, 
rack, table, stand or case display areas, boxes, cabinet 
drawers, cartons, or any other storage area or apparatus, for 
any material defined by the Neb.Rev.Stat. Sec. 28-807, et. 
seq., or characterized by the depiction of "specified 
anatomical areas" or "specified sexual activities", as such 
are herein defined; or 

2. Exhibits for a substantial or significant portion, as herein 
defined, of the total presentation time any material defined 
by Neb.Rev.Stat. Sec. 28-808, et seq, or characterized by 
the depiction of "specified anatomical areas" or "specified 
sexual activities", as such are herein defined. 

B. A commercial establishment or use open to the general public 
which involves employees or customers who engage in conduct 
which is distinguished or characterized by "specified sexual 
activities" or "specified anatomical areas", as herein defined. 

C. Adult Entertainment Establishments shall include, but are not 
necessarily limited to: 

1. Adult arcades; 
2. Adult bookstores; 
3. Adult cabarets; 
4. Adult motion picture theaters; 
5. Adult theaters; 
6. Escort agencies; 
7. Massage parlors; 
8. Nude modeling studios; 
9. Sexual encounter centers (Resolution 03-11-14) 

 
3.3102  ADULT ARCADE: Any place to which the public is permitted or invited 
wherein coin-operated, slug- or token-operated, or electronically, electrically, or 
mechanically controlled still or motion picture machines, projectors, or other image-
producing devices are maintained to show images to five or fewer persons per 
machine at any one time, and where the images so displayed are distinguished or 
characterized by the depicting or describing of "specified anatomical areas" or 
"specified sexual activities," as herein defined.  (Resolution 03-11-14) 
 
3.3103 ADULT BOOKSTORE: A commercial establishment which has 
devoted a substantial or significant portion of its business to the sale, rental or 
any form of consideration, of any one or more of the following: 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

8 

A.  Books, magazines, periodicals or other printed matter, photographs, 
films, motion pictures, video cassettes, video tapes, or other video reproductions, 
slides, or other visual representations which depict or describe "specified sexual 
activities" or "specified anatomical areas"; or 

B.  Instruments, devices, or paraphernalia which depict "specified 
anatomical areas" or are designed for use in connection with "specified sexual 
activities".  (Resolution 03-11-14) 
 
3.3104 ADULT CABARET: A nightclub, bar, restaurant, or similar 
commercial establishment which regularly features: 
 

A.  Person or persons who appear by the exposure of his, her, and/or their 
“specified anatomical areas”, or 

B.  Live performances which are characterized by the exposure of 
"specified  areas", or by "specified sexual activities", including topless or 
bottomless dancers, exotic dancers, or strippers; or 

C.  Films, motion pictures, video cassettes or tapes, slides, or other 
photographic reproductions which are characterized by the depiction or 
description of "specified sexual activities" or "specified anatomical areas". 
(Resolution 03-11-14) 
 
3.3105 ADULT MOTION PICTURE THEATER: A commercial 
establishment where, for any form of consideration, films, motion pictures, video 
cassettes or tapes, slides, or similar photographic reproductions are regularly 
shown which are characterized by the depiction or description of "specified 
sexual activities" or "specified anatomical areas".  (Resolution 03-11-14) 
 
3.3106 ADULT THEATER: A theater, concert hall, auditorium, or similar 
commercial establishment which regularly features persons who appear in a 
state of exposure of “specified anatomical areas”, or live performances that are 
characterized by the depiction or description of "specified sexual activities" or the 
exposure of "specified anatomical areas".  (Resolution 03-11-14) 

 
3.3107  AGRICULTURAL FARM OR OPERATION: Farm or farm operation 
shall mean any tract of land over 20 acres in area used for or devoted to the 
commercial production of farm products. 

 
3.3108  ANIMAL HOSPITAL: A place where animals or pets are given medical 
or surgical treatment and are cared for during the time of treatment.  Use as a 
kennel shall be limited to short-time boarding and shall be only incidental to such 
hospital use.  (Resolution 10-11-11) 
 
3.3109  ARBORIST: An arborist is a person who works for hire or other 
valuable consideration, to trim and cut or prune limbs or branches of trees; to 
perform tree surgery; to cut into and excavate cavities or to remove rotten, dead or 
diseased wood from any tree or to remove any tree and store the trees removed for 
resale or recycling. 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

9 

A. An first-class arborist's certificate, that has been licensed through the 
state of Nebraska, shall entitle the holder thereof to work for hire or other 
valuable consideration, to trim and cut or prune limbs or branches of 
trees; to perform tree surgery; to cut into and excavate cavities or to 
remove rotten, dead or diseased wood from any tree or to remove any 
tree; to fill or treat in any manner any cavity in a tree; to repair any broken 
or injured tree; to spray or otherwise treat for pests or diseases any tree, 
or to treat in any other manner any tree. 

 
3.3110  BUILDABLE AREA: The portion of a lot remaining after required yards 
have been provided. 

 
3.3111  BUILDING: An enclosed structure, anchored to permanent foundation, 
and having exterior or party walls and a roof, designed for the shelter or of persons, 
animals or property.  When divided by other than common or contiguous walls, 
each portion or section of such building shall be regarded as a separate building, 
except that two buildings connected by a breezeway shall be deemed one building.  
“Building” includes “structure.” 
 
3.3112  BUILDING HEIGHT: The vertical distance to the highest point of the 
roofs; to the deck line of mansard roofs; and to the average height between eaves 
and the ridge for gable, hip and gambrel roofs, measured from the curb level if the 
building is not more than 10 feet from the front line or from grade in all other cases: 
(see illustration below)* 

 

 
Source:  A Survey of Zoning Definitions, (American Planning Association, 1989). 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

10 

*The height limitations contained in the permissible heights for the various District 
Regulations shall not apply to spires, belfries, cupolas, antennas, water tanks, 
ventilators, chimneys, or other appurtenances usually required to be placed above 
the roof level and not intended for human occupancy and agricultural structures. 
 
3.3113  BUTCHERING FACILITY:   A Butchering Facility is any land, building, 
place, and/or establishment in which animals are slaughtered, eviscerated, and/or 
animal flesh is prepared for consumption of the owner of the animal and/or the sale 
to the public of butchering produce with sales conducted at the Butchering Facility.  
A Butchering Facility shall be served by an on-site sewage treatment system.   The 
disposal of waste from the facility shall include a plan that shall include, but is not 
necessarily limited to, the disposal of all sewage, processed and unprocessed 
animal parts, manure, entrails, blood, hides, and bones.  A Butchering Facility does 
not include land, a building, and/or a place that slaughters animal(s) or processes 
meat for the owner of the animal(s) on the premises of the owner of the animal(s) 
when the meat derived from the process is returned to the owner of the animal(s). 
(Resolution 4-13-2022). 

 
3.3114  CAMP GROUNDS: For commercial purposes; Any premises where 
two (2) or more camping units are parked/placed for camping purposes, or any 
premises or set apart for supplying to the public, camping space for two (2) or more 
camping units for camping purposes, which include any buildings, structures, 
vehicles or enclosures used or intended for use or intended wholly or in part for the 
accommodation of transient campers. 
 
3.3115  CARPORT: A permanent roofed structure with not more than two (2) 
enclosed sides used or intended to be used for automobile shelter and storage. 

 
3.3116  COMMERCIAL USE: An occupation, employment or enterprise that is 
carried on for profit by the owner, lessee or licensee. 
 
3.3117 DATA CENTER: A data center(s) or other facility(ies) used to house 
computer systems and associated components, such as telecommunications and 
storage systems, coding systems, power supplies and systems for managing 
property performance (including generators), and equipment used for the 
transformation, transmission, distribution or management of electricity (including 
substations), internet-related equipment and services, data communications 
connections, environmental controls and security devices, structures and site 
features and related uses.  
 
This shall also include the operation of specialized computer equipment for the 
purpose of mining one or more blockchain-based cryptocurrencies, such as Bitcoin. 
Typical physical characteristics of cryptocurrency mining include specialized 
computer hardware for mining operations as well as equipment to cool the 
hardware and operating space. For the purposes of the associated regulations, 
cryptocurrency mining does not include the exchange of cryptocurrency or any 
other type of virtual currency nor does it encompass the use, creation, or 
maintenance of all types of peer-to-peer distributed ledgers. 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

11 

3.3118  DAY CARE CENTER: All classifications of day care facilities 
regulated by the State of Nebraska that operate providing care for more than six (6) 
persons.  This term includes nursery schools, preschools, day care centers for 
children or adults, and similar uses but excludes public and private primary and 
secondary educational facilities. (Resolution 3-11-08) 
 
3.3119  DAY CARE HOMES: All classifications of day care facilities regulated 
by the State of Nebraska that operate providing care for not more than six (6) 
persons.  This term includes nursery schools, preschools, day care centers for 
children or adults, and similar uses but excludes public and private primary and 
secondary educational facilities. (Resolution 3-11-08) 
 
3.3120  DWELLING: Any building or portion thereof which is designed and 
used exclusively for residential purposes including mobile homes, manufactured 
homes, and modular homes. 
 
3.3121  DWELLING, MULTIFAMILY: A building or portion thereof used for 
occupancy by two or more families living independently of each other and 
containing two or more dwelling units, which may include townhouses. 

 
3.3122  DWELLING, SINGLE-FAMILY: A dwelling having accommodations for 
an occupied by one family. 

 
3.3123  EASEMENT: A grant by the property owner to the public, a corporation 
or persons for the use of a tract of land for a specific purpose or purposes. 
 
3.3124 ESCORT: A person who, for consideration, agrees or offers to act as 
a companion, guide, or date for another person, or who agrees or offers to 
privately model lingerie or to privately perform a strip tease for another person.  
(Resolution 03-11-14) 

 
3.3125  ESCORT AGENCY: A person or business association which 
furnishes, offers to furnish, or advertises to furnish escorts as one of its primary 
business purposes, for a fee, tip, or other consideration.  (Resolution 03-11-14) 

 
3.3126  FARM RESIDENCE: Residential dwellings located on a farm including 
mobile homes appurtenant to agricultural operations including the living quarters for 
persons employed on the premises. 

 
3.3127  FLOOD PLAIN: Those lands within the zoning jurisdiction of Buffalo 
County which are subject to a one percent (1%) or greater chance of flooding in any 
given year.  The regulatory flood plain for this Resolution shall be based on the 
official Flood Hazard Boundary Map or Flood Insurance administration, U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development and any revision thereto.  Copies 
of said map shall be on file in the Office of the County Assessor or other County 
Official. 

 
3.3128  GENERATOR HOUSING:  The mechanical housing, usually enclosed 
from the weather, that is minimally comprised of an armature shaft, magnets, and 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

12 

electrical wiring that generates direct or alternating electrical current by rotation of 
the armature within a magnetic field. (Resolution 4-13-10) 
 
3.3129  GROUND-MOUNTED SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM: A Solar Energy 
System that is a ground-mounted structure, and no closer than the allowed side, 
front, and rear yard setback from the property line for a structure within the 
zoning district in which it is situated, consisting of Solar Related Equipment that 
does not exceed sixteen (16) feet in height, from the highest panel edge to the 
ground.  The area used for this system is considered coverage for lot coverage 
limitations in the various zoning districts.  (Resolution 02-11-2020) (Resolution 
07-28-2020) 
 
3.3130        HOBBY FARM: Operation or facility containing less than 15 animal 
units in a confined area. 

 
3.3131  HOME OCCUPATION: An occupation or activity carried on within the 
dwelling or accessory building by a member of the family residing on the premises, 
which occupation or activity is incidental and secondary to the residential 
occupancy and does not change the residential character nor infringe upon the right 
of neighboring residents to enjoy a peaceful occupancy of their homes. 

 
3.3132  LANDFILL: A disposal site employing an engineering method of 
disposing of solid wastes in a manner that minimizes environmental hazards by 
spreading, compacting to the smallest volume, and applying cover material overall 
exposed waste at the end of each operating day. 

 
 3.3133  LIVESTOCK, CONFINEMENT FACILITIES/ OPERATIONS: Shall 

mean any building(s), lot(s), pen(s), pool(s) or pond(s) or other confined spaces, 
which normally are not used for raising crops or grazing animals, which are 
designed and/or used for on-going confined raising, feeding or management of 
animals for more than 180 consecutive days.  Size classification of such 
facilities/operations shall be determined in Sec. 6.4 6.6.   

 
3.3134  LIVESTOCK PROCESSING WASTE: Byproducts of the animal 
slaughter processing consisting of but not limited to:  blood, animal parts, and floor 
wash but not consisting of Paunch or Paunch Manure. (Resolution 6-12-07) 
 
3.31345 LOT: A parcel of land occupied or intended for occupation by a use 
permitted in this resolution and abutting a legally accessible street or road. 
(Resolution 7-13-2021) 
 
3.3136  LOT, CORNER: A lot abutting two or more streets or roads at their 
intersection. 

 
3.3137  LOT DEPTH: The average horizontal distance between the front and 
rear lot lines. 

 
3.3138  LOT FRONTAGE: The front of a lot shall be construed to be the portion 
abutting street(s) or road(s). (Resolution 7-13-2021)  



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

13 

3.3139  LOT OF RECORD: A lot of which is part of a sub-division recorded in 
the Office of the Register of Deeds, or a lot or parcel described by metes and 
bounds the description of which has been recorded. 

 
3.3140  LOT WIDTH: The distance on a horizontal plane between the side lot 
lines of a lot, measured at right angles to the line establishing the lot depth at the 
established building setback line. 

 
3.3141  MANUFACTURED HOME: A factory-built structure which is to be used 
as a place for human habitation, which is not constructed or equipped with a 
permanent hitch or other device allowing it to be moved other than to a permanent 
site, which does not have permanently attached to its body or frame any wheels or 
axles, and which bears a label certifying that is was built to compliance with 
National Manufactured Home Construction and Safety Standards, 24 C.F.R. 3280 
et seq., promulgated by the United States Department of Housing and Urban 
Development, or a modular housing unit as defined in Section 71-1557 of the 
Nebraska Revised Statutes bearing the seal of the Department of Health and 
Human Service System. 
 
3.3142  MANURE:  any liquid or solid animal excreta or any bedding, litter, or 
water run-off contaminated with animal excreta. Exempted from this definition is 
packaged or bagged manure sold at retail. (Resolution 6-12-07) 
 
3.3143  MANURING: the spreading of manure upon land. (Resolution 6-12-
07) 
 
3.3144 MASSAGE PARLOR: Any place where, for any form of 
consideration, massage, alcohol rub, administration of fomentations, electric or 
magnetic treatments, or any other treatment or manipulation of the human body 
occurs as part of or in connection with any "specified sexual activity", or where 
any person providing such treatment, manipulation or service related thereto 
exposes any "specified anatomical area." 
 
This term shall not apply to a place wherein registered physical therapists or a 
certified massage therapist treats only patients recommended by a licensed 
physician and operate only under such physician's direction. 
 
This term shall not apply to Massage Therapy.  (Resolution 03-11-14) 
 
3.3145 MASSAGE THERAPY: As defined by the North American Industry 
Classification System (NAICS), 2007 edition, with the additional description that 
any establishment and/or person providing massage therapy services shall be 
appropriately licensed by the Nebraska Department of Health and Human 
Services. This term shall not apply to a Massage Parlor.  (Resolution 03-11-14) 
 
3.3146  MOBILE HOME: A year-round, transportable structures which is a 
single-family dwelling unit suitable for permanent, more that than thirty (30) days of 
living quarters, more than eight (8) feet wide and forty (40) feet in length and built to 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

14 

be towed on its own chassis with or without a permanent foundation when 
connected to the required utilities.  This portable dwelling may consist of one (1) or 
more units that can be telescoped when towed and expanded later for additional 
capacity, or two (2) or more units, separately towable but designed to be joined as 
one (1) integral unit.  Nothing in this definition shall be construed so as to include 
prefabricated, modular, precut dwelling units or those manufactured in sections or 
parts away from the site and transported thereto for assembly.  

 
3.3147  MOBILE HOME PARK: Any area of land which one (1) or more mobile 
homes are parked, connected to utilities and used by one (1) or more persons for 
living or sleeping purposes.  A mobile home parked in this area can either be 
placed on permanent foundation or supported only by its wheels, jacks, blocks, or 
skirtings or a combination of these devices.  A mobile home park includes any 
premises set apart for supplying to the public parking space, either free of charge or 
for revenue purposes for one (1) or more mobile homes, connected to utilities and 
used by one (1) or more persons living, or sleeping purposes and shall include any 
building, structure, tent, vehicle or enclosure used or intended for use as part of the 
equipment of such mobile home park. 

 
3.3148  MODULAR HOME: Any dwelling whose construction consists entirely 
of or the major portions of its construction consist of a unit or units not fabricated on 
the final site for the dwelling units, which units are movable or portable until placed 
on a permanent foundation and connected to utilities.  All modular homes shall bear 
a label certifying that it was built to compliance with the Nebraska Department of 
Health and Human Services System as established in Section 71-1557 of the 
Nebraska Revised Statutes. 

 
3.3149  NONCONFORMING LOT OF RECORD: A lot which is part of a 
recorded subdivision or a parcel of land, the deed to which was recorded prior to,                       
and neither said lot nor parcel complies with the lot width or area requirements for 
any permitted uses in the district in which it is located. 

 
3.3150  NONCONFORMING STRUCTURE: An existing structure which does 
not comply with the lot coverage, height or yard requirements which are applicable 
to new structures in the zoning district in which it is located. 

 
3.3151  NONCONFORMING USE: An existing use of a structure or of land 
which does not comply with the use regulation applicable to new uses in the zoning 
district in which it is located. 
 
3.3152        NUDE MODELING STUDIO: Any place where a person who displays 
any "specified anatomical area" that is provided to be observed, sketched, 
drawn, painted, sculptured, photographed, or similarly depicted by other persons 
who pay money or any form of consideration.  This shall not include uses where 
instruction is given for human lactation, breastfeeding support groups and human 
breastfeeding education groups.  (Resolution 03-11-14) 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

15 

3.3153  PARCEL: A continuous quantity of land in the possession of or owned 
by, or recorded as the property of, the same person or persons. 

 
3.3154  PARKING SPACE, OFF-STREET: An area, enclosed or unenclosed, 
sufficient in size to store one automobile, together with a driveway connecting the 
parking space with a street or road and permitting ingress and egress of an 
automobile. 

 
3.3155  PAUNCH OR PAUNCH MANURE: the undigested food contained in 
slaughtered animal stomach(s).   It does not include floor wash, animal blood, and 
other by-products or waste generated from the slaughter and processing of meat 
products. (Resolution 6-12-07) 
 
3.3156 PAVED HARD SURFACED ROAD/STREET: A road or street that 
uses a minimum thickness of seven (7) inches of poured Portland Concrete with all 
materials used in this type surfacing shall be of class “47B” and shall conform to the 
requirements of the 1985 Nebraska Department of Roads Specifications as revised 
for highway construction or a road or street that uses asphalt using a minimum 
thickness of ten (10) inches, or nine (9) inches with a six (6) inch subbase. The 
terms paved and hard surfaced are interchangeable. (Resolution 3-14-2023) 
 
3.3157 PERSONAL SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM (PSES): A Solar Energy 
System (SES) that is intended primarily for onsite consumption of electrical 
power.  It consists of roof attached and/or free-standing Solar Energy Systems.  
A Personal SES cannot exceed 25kW rated nameplate capacity.  Any SES, or 
combination of SES on one lot, that is, or in total combination are, rated less than 
.8 kW rated nameplate capacity is considered an incidental use to the main use 
of the lot.  No zoning permit is needed for .8 kW rated nameplate capacity solar 
energy systems. (Resolution 02-11-2020)  
 
3.3158  RATED NAMEPLATE CAPACITY: The maximum rated wattage 
output of electric power production of the Solar Energy System or Wind Powered 
Generator rated in Direct Current (DC) at Standard Test Conditions or Alternating 
Current (AC) at Performance Test Conditions. (Resolution 02-11-2020)  

 
3.3159  RECYCLING CENTER: A facility which accepts salvage material 
limited to paper, aluminum foil, containers made of glass, plastic, metal, aluminum 
and paper, and similar household wastes; no hazardous material as defined by 
State and Federal law is accepted; there is not wrecking or dismantling of salvage 
material and no salvage material is held outside a building. 

 
3.3160 RECYCLING COLLECTION POINT: A collection point for small refuse 
items, such as bottles, cans and newspapers, located either in a container or small 
structure. 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

16 

 3.3161  ROOF ATTACHED SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM:  
 

A. Residential: The Solar Energy System’s collector surface and mounting 
devices that attach a solar energy system(s) to the roof of a dwelling use structure. 
It shall have a minimum of a 3-foot open space on the roof from the side edges, 
hip(s), and ridge(s) of the roof, and not cause a height increase of the structure to 
which it is attached. The system cannot be greater than twenty-four (24) inches 
between the roof and highest edge of the surface of the Solar Energy System 
(SES) measured perpendicularly from any part of the roof. (Resolution 02-11-2020) 

B. Non-Residential: The Solar Energy System’s collector surface and 
mounting devices that attach a solar energy system(s) to the roof of a structure that 
is not used as a dwelling.  (Resolution 02-11-2020) (Resolution 09-12-2023) 
 
3.3162  SALVAGE OR JUNK YARD:   A place where waste, discarded or 
salvaged metals, building materials, paper, textiles, used plumbing fixtures, 
abandoned or inoperable motor vehicles or parts thereof, and other used materials 
are bought, sold, exchanged, stored, baled or cleaned; and places or yards for the 
storage of salvaged metal, materials and equipment; but not including pawn shops 
and establishments for the sale, purchase or storage or of used cars or trucks 
presently in operable condition, boats or trailers presently in operable condition, and 
used furniture and household equipment in usable condition and not including the 
processing of used, discarded or salvaged material as part of manufacturing 
operations. 
 
3.3163  SCHOOL, PRIVATE:  shall mean an institution conducting regular 
academic instruction at kindergarten, elementary, junior high, or secondary levels 
operated by a non-governmental organization in conformance with the Section 79-
1701 through 79-1707, Nebraska R. R. S., 1943. (Resolution 3-11-08) 

 
3.3164  SCHOOL, PUBLIC:  shall mean public institutions that have the 
power to condemn and are conducting regular academic instruction at 
kindergarten, elementary, junior high, and secondary levels. Such institutions shall 
offer general academic instruction equivalent to the standards prescribed by the 
State Board of Education. (Resolution 3-11-08) 

 
3.3165 SCHOOLS OF SPECIAL INSTRUCTION:  A school giving instruction 
in business, cultural or dramatic subjects. (Resolution 3-11-08) 
 
3.3166 SEXUAL ENCOUNTER CENTER: A business or commercial 
enterprise that, as one of its primary business purposes, offers for any form of 
consideration, activities between male and female persons and/or persons of the 
same sex when one or more of the persons displays or exposes “specified 
anatomical areas” and/or engages in “specified sexual activity or activities”.  
(Resolution 03-11-14) 
 
 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

17 

3.3167 SIGN or SIGNS shall mean, and include any outdoor sign, display, 
declaration, device, figure, drawing, illustration, message, placard, poster, 
billboard, insignia, or other things which are designed, intended, or used for 
direction, information, identification, or to advertise, to inform, or to promote any 
business, product activity, service, or any interest.    A Sign does not include a 
flag, pennant, or insignia of any political, educational, charitable, philanthropic, 
civic, professional, religious, or like campaign, drive, movement, or event. 
(Resolution 07-13-2021) 

 
3.3168 SOLAR ENERGY: Radiant energy (direct, diffuse and/or reflective) 
received from the sun. (Resolution 02-11-2020)  

 
3.3169 SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEM (SES): An area of land or other area 
used for a solar collection system principally used to capture solar energy, 
convert it to electrical energy or thermal power and supply electrical or thermal 
power. Principal solar energy systems consist of one (1) or more free-standing 
ground, movable, and/or roof mounted solar collector devices, solar related 
equipment and other accessory structures and buildings including light reflectors, 
concentrators, and heat exchangers. (Resolution 02-11-2020)  

 
3.3170 SOLAR FARM: A commercial large-scale solar energy system 
facility for the primary purpose of wholesale sales of generated electricity. A solar 
farm can be the principal or secondary use of the land for the parcel on which it is 
located. It is designed for providing energy to off-site users or export to the 
wholesale market.  It is comprised of one or more Solar Energy System(s) (SES) 
that create and transmit power principally for connection to publicly used power 
grid.  Solar Farm(s) shall include, but shall not necessarily be limited to the 
following structures and uses:  Solar Energy Systems, operations and/or 
maintenance buildings, meteorological towers, electrical wiring, collector grids, 
roads and substations.  Any Solar Energy System (SES) with rated nameplate 
capacity over 25kw singly and/or wholly, is a Solar Farm.  It can include, but is 
not necessarily limited to, substations, electrical infrastructure, transmission lines 
and other appurtenant structures used to collect and distribute power from the 
Solar Farm. (Resolution 02-11-2020)  

 
3.3171 SOLAR PANEL: That part or portion of a solar energy system 
containing one or more receptive cells or modules, the purpose of which is to 
convert solar energy for use in space heating or cooling, for water heating and/or 
for electricity. (Resolution 02-11-2020)  

 
3.3172  SOLAR RELATED EQUIPMENT:  Items including a solar 
photovoltaic cell, module, panel, or array, or solar hot air or water collector device 
panels, lines, pumps, batteries, mounting brackets, framing and possibly 
foundations or other structures used for or intended to be used for collection of 
solar energy.  This equipment can consist of: 

A. SOLAR ARRAY: A grouping of multiple solar modules with purpose of 
harvesting solar energy.  



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

18 

B. SOLAR CELL: The smallest basic solar electric device which generates 
electricity when exposed to light.  

C. SOLAR MODULE: A grouping of solar cells with the purpose of 
harvesting solar energy. (Resolution 02-11-2020)  
3.3173  SPECIAL USE PERMIT: A written permit issued with authorization of 
the County Board.  The special permit provides permission under specific 
conditions to make certain special uses of land in certain zoning districts as 
stipulated under permitted special uses in each of the district zoning regulations. 
 

 3.3174 SPECIFIED ANATOMICAL AREA: or AREAS is defined as: 
A.  Less than opaquely covered human genitals, pubic region or pubic 

hair; or 
B.  Less than opaquely covered perineum, buttock, or anus; or 
C. Less than opaquely covered female breast below a point immediately 

above the top of the areola; or 
D. Human male genitals in a discernibly erect or turgid state, even if 

completely and opaquely covered (Resolution 03-11-14) 
 

3.3175  SPECIFIED SEXUAL ACTIVITY or ACTIVITIES is defined as: 
A.  Human genitals in a discernable state of sexual stimulation or arousal; 
or 
B.  Acts or representations of human masturbation, sexual intercourse, 

sodomy, excretory functions, sadism, masochism, lewd exhibition of genitals; or 
C.  Fondling or other erotic touching of human genitals, pubic region or 

pubic hair, perineum, buttock or anus, or female breast.  (Resolution 03-11-14) 
 

3.3176  STREET OR ROAD: A highway, street, avenue, road, or boulevard, 
not necessarily formally dedicated or acquired by the public, which affords 
principal means of access to or by abutting property. The terms street or road are 
interchangeable. (Resolution 7-13-2021) 
 
3.3177  STREET, CENTER LINE: A line midway between street lines. 

 
3.3178  STREET LINE: A dividing line between a lot, tract, or parcel of line 
and the contiguous street.  The right-of-way line of a street. 

 
3.3179  STRUCTURE: Anything constructed or erected, the use of which 
requires permanent location on the ground; attachment to something having a 
permanent location on the ground; semi-permanent attachment to the ground; or 
is permanently or semi permanently connected to any one of the following 
services, regardless of whether the service described is self-provided, created on 
the premises, or publicly provided: 

A.  water service provided with a plumbing connection of more 
permanency than that of a garden hose,  

B. electrical connection to a public utility or alternative energy source of 
more than 1,000 watts that has permanency than that of an unburied electrical 
drop or extension cord. 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

19 

C. sewer or sewers, for waste deposited and/or created within any 
structure that releases any sewage effluvia outside of the structure.  

 
This does not include fences or public items such as utility poles, street light 
fixtures and street signs. (Resolution 05-11-2021) 
3.3180  STRUCTURAL ALTERATIONS: Any change to the supporting 
members of a structure including foundations, bearing walls, or partitions, columns, 
beams, girders or any structural change in the roof. 
 
3.3181  SUBSTANTIAL, SIGNIFICANT OR PRIMARY, regardless of whether 
these words are used singly or in combination means a use of over fifty (50) 
percent of stock in trade, display area, or presentation time, whichever may be 
applicable to the nature of the establishment.  Stock in trade and material shall be 
measured in terms of titles or objects. Items with the same title or name shall be 
considered as separate titles or objects.  (Resolution 03-11-14) 

 
3.3182   TOWNHOUSE: One of a group or row of not less than three (3) nor 
more than twelve (12) attached, single family dwellings designed and built as a 
single structure facing upon a street in which the individual townhouse may or may 
not be owned separately.  For the purpose of the side yard regulations, the 
structure containing the row or group of townhouses shall be considered as one 
building occupying a single lot. 
 
3.3183  TRUCK WASH SERVICES:  A facility to wash and clean interior and 
exterior of semi-truck tractors, large trucks and small vehicles, together with trailers. 
(Resolution 2-12-08) 

 
3.3184  VARIANCE: A variance is a relaxation of the terms of the zoning 
resolution where such variance will not be contrary to the public interest and where, 
owing to conditions peculiar to the property, and not the result of the actions of the 
applicant, a literal enforcement of the resolution would result in unnecessary and 
undue hardship. 
 
3.3185   WIND FARM:  One or more wind powered generators that create and 
transmit power principally for connection to publicly used power grid.  Wind farms 
shall include, but shall not necessarily be limited to the following structures and 
uses: wind powered generators, operations and/or maintenance buildings, 
meteorological towers, electrical wiring, collector grids, roads and substations.  Any 
wind powered generator or generators that create over 25 kW, singly and/or wholly, 
is a wind farm. (Resolution 4-13-10) 
 
3.3186  PERSONAL USE WIND POWERED GENERATOR (WPG):  A turbine 
or rotary type generator designed to extract kinetic energy from the wind and 
convert this energy to electrical energy.  It is comprised of a base where it attaches 
to the ground, supporting member of the generator housing usually referred to as a 
tower, wiring at or within the tower, generator housing, and a means to propel the 
armature shaft in the generator housing by use of the power of the wind 
accomplished through use of airfoils or similar devices connected to the armature 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

20 

shaft. A Personal WPG cannot exceed 25kW rated nameplate capacity. 
(Resolution 4-13-10)   

 
3.3187  YARD: A required open space, other than a court, unoccupied and 
unobstructed by any structure or portion of a structure, provided, however, that 
fences, walls, poles, posts, and other customary yards accessories, ornaments, 
and furniture may be permitted in any yard subject to the district regulations. 

 
3.3188 YARD, FRONT: A yard extending from an adjoining public or private 
street(s) to the closest edge of the building as determined and measured from 
the street to the building. A lot that abuts two or more streets or roads shall be 
considered to have 2 or more front yards for any yard that adjoins a public street. 
(Resolution 7-13-2021) 
 
3.3189  YARD, REAR: A yard extending between side lot lines and measured 
horizontally at right angles to the rear lot line from the rear lot to the nearest point of 
the main building. 
 
3.3190  YARD, REQUIRED: The required minimum open space between the 
property line and the building line.  The required yard shall contain no building or 
structure other than the projection of the usual steps, or open porches, or as 
otherwise provided in this resolution. 
 
3.3191  YARD, SIDE: A yard between a building and the side lot line measured 
horizontally at right angles to the side lot line from the side lot line to the nearest 
point of the main building. * 

 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

21 

 Source:  A Survey of Zoning Definitions, (American Planning Association, 1989). 
 

A. The ordinary projections of chimneys and flues, buttresses, eaves, 
overhangs, open-unenclosed steps or stoops up to 5' in height may 
extend into required yards for a distance of not more than two (2) feet in 
the required side yard and not more than five (5) feet in the required 
front yard  

 
B. An open unenclosed porch or paved terrace may project into a front yard 

for a distance not exceeding ten (10) feet. An enclosed vestibule 
containing not more than forty (40) square feet may project into a front 
yard for a distance not to exceed four (4) feet. 

 
3.3192  ZONING ADMINISTRATOR: The person duly designated by the 
County governing body to enforce these regulations. 

 
3.3193  ZONING DISTRICT: The term “zoning map” means a map or maps 
officially enacted by the County Board, as part of this chapter showing the 
boundaries of a zoning district or districts, a copy or copies of which, certified to 
have been enacted as provided by law, is filed in the office of the County Clerk, as 
an official record of the County. 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

22 

ARTICLE 4 
 

ESTABLISHMENT AND DESIGNATION OF DISTRICTS 
 

4.1 ZONING AND PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

It shall be a purpose of the Zoning and Planning Commission to recommend the 
boundaries of the various original districts and appropriate regulations to be 
enforced therein.  The Zoning and Planning Commission shall make a preliminary 
report and hold public hearings thereon before submitting its final report, and the 
County Board shall not hold its public hearings or take action until it has received 
the final report of the Zoning and Planning Commission. 

 
4.2 DISTRICTS CREATED 
 

For the purpose of this resolution, there are hereby created zoning districts for 
Buffalo County, as named and described in Article 5 of this Resolution. 

 
A. AG – Agriculture District 
B. RC – Rural Conservation District 
C. AGR 1 – Agricultural – Residential District 1 
D. AGR 2 – Agricultural – Residential District 2 
E. C – Commercial District 
F. I – Industrial District 

 
4.3 OFFICIAL ZONING MAP 
 

1. The boundaries of the district are shown upon maps, which is made a part hereof 
by reference, which map(s) are designated as the Buffalo County Zoning Map, 
dated September 10, 2002 and signed by the Chairperson of the County Board 
and attested by the County Clerk and hereinafter referred to as the “Official Zoning 
Map.” 

 
2. The signed copy of the Zoning Map(s) containing the zoning districts designated 

at the time of adoption of this resolution shall be maintained in the offices of the 
County Clerk for the use and benefit of the public. 

 
3. If in accordance with the provisions of this resolution, changes are made in the 

district boundaries or other matter portrayed on the Official Zoning Map(s), such 
changes shall be entered on the appropriate part of the Official Zoning Map(s) 
promptly after the amendment has been approved by the governing body with 
an entry on the Official Zoning Map(s) as follows: 

 
 “On (date), by official action of the County, the following change was made in the 

Official Zoning Map(s) (brief description of the nature of the change), “which entry 
shall be signed by the Chairperson of the County and attested by the County 
Clerk.” 

 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

23 

 No amendment to this resolution which involves matter portrayed on the Official Zoning 
Map(s) shall become effective until after such change and entry have been made on 
said map(s). 

 
4.  No changes of any nature shall be made in the Official Zoning Map(s) or matter shown 

thereon except in conformity with the procedures set forth in this resolution. 
 
5.  In the event that the Official Zoning Map(s) become damaged, destroyed, lost or 

difficult to interpret, the County may, by resolution, adopt a new Official Zoning Map(s) 
which shall supersede the prior Official Zoning Map(s). 

 
 The new Official Zoning Map(s) may correct drafting or other errors or omissions in the 

prior Official Zoning Map(s), but no such correction shall have the effect of amending 
the original Official Zoning Map(s) or any subsequent amendment thereof. 

 
4.4 RULES FOR INTERPRETATION OF DISTRICT BOUNDARIES 
 

Where uncertainty exists as to the boundaries of zoning districts as shown on the 
Official Zoning Map, the following rules shall apply: 

 
1. Boundaries indicated as approximately following the center lines of streets, 

highways, or alleys shall be construed to follow such center lines; 
 
2. Boundaries indicated as approximately following platted lot lines shall be construed 

as following such lot lines; 
 

3. Boundaries indicated as approximately following village limits shall be construed as 
following such village limits; 

 
4. Boundaries indicated as following railroad lines shall be construed to be midway 

between the railroad right-of-way; 
 

5. Boundaries indicated as parallel to or extension of features indicated in 
subsections 1 through 4 above shall be so construed.  Distances not specifically 
indicated on the Official Zoning Map(s) shall be determined by the scale of the 
map. 

 
6. Where physical or cultural features existing on the ground are at variance with 

those shown on the Official Zoning Map(s), or in other circumstances not covered 
by subsection 1 through 5 above, the Board of Zoning Adjustment shall interpret 
the district boundaries. 

 
7. Where a district boundary line divides a lot which was in single ownership at the 

time of passage of this resolution the Board of Zoning Adjustment may permit, 
as an exception, the extension of the regulations for either portion of the lot not 
to exceed one hundred and fifty (150) feet beyond the district line into the 
remaining portion of the lot. 

 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

24 

ARTICLE 5 
 

ZONING DISTRICTS 
 

5.1 AG AGRICULTURE DISTRICT 
 

5.11 INTENT: This district is designated for general agriculture use and is 
intended to preserve and protect agriculture production from encroachment by 
incompatible uses. The AG District is also intended to conserve and protect the 
value of open space, wooded areas, streams, inventoried wetlands, mineral 
deposits and other natural resources and to protect these uses from incompatible 
land uses. 

 
5.12 PERMITTED PRINCIPLE USES AND STRUCTURES: The following shall 

be permitted as uses by right: 
 

1. Bulk grain and produce storage, excluding commercial warehouses; 
2. Daycare Home; 
3. General farming and ranching activities, excluding any expansion of 

existing or development of Class IV III or larger livestock confinement 
facilities/operations as defined in Article 3 and classified in Sec. 6.4 6.6 
(Resolution 4-13-10) (Resolution 7-10-12);  

4. Irrigation, flood, erosion and sediment control projects; 
5. Personal Use Solar Energy Systems. (Resolution 02-11-2020); 
6. Public Uses: Including fire stations, public schools, public utilities and 

utility distribution systems (Resolution 3-11-08); 
7. Signs, As allowed in Sec. 8.31 (Resolution 07-13-2021); 
8. Single family, ranch, and farm dwellings on a parcel abutting an improved 

road, meaning a road above county minimum maintenance road 
classification or public street within approved subdivision, including ranch 
and farm dwellings; and one additional on farm/ranch single/two family 
dwellings for the purpose of housing relatives or permanent agriculture 
workers, in addition single family dwellings must be located one and one-
half times the minimum distances from a livestock confinement 
facility/operation in conformance with Section 6.4 6.6 not of the same 
property. The applicant requesting a residence in this distance area shall 
additionally execute a nuisance waiver as to the livestock confinement 
facility/operation and present a signed waiver of this distancing requirement 
executed by the owner of the livestock confinement facility/operation.  A form 
waiver, attached as Exhibit A, to this resolution, is a suggested waiver form.  
(Resolution 7-13-2021); 

9. Greenhouses and garden centers; 
10. Bed and breakfast;  
11. Animal hospitals (Resolution 10-11-11) 
12. Churches and places of worship 

 
 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

25 

5.13 PERMITTED ACCESSORY USES AND STRUCTURES: The following 
accessory uses and structures shall be permitted: 

 
1. Accessory uses and structures normally appurtenant to the permitted uses 
and structures and to uses and structures permitted as special uses; 
 
2. Home occupations in accordance with Article 8; and 
 
3. Roadside stands for the temporary sale of produce. 
 
5.14 PERMITTED SPECIAL USES: A building or premises may be used for the 

following purposes in the “AG” Agriculture District if a special permit for such 
use has been obtained in accordance with Article 6 of these regulations: 
(Resolution 12-4-07 & Resolution 10-11-11) 

 
1. Agriculture service establishments primarily engaged in performing 

agricultural, animal husbandry or horticultural services on a fee or contract 
basis; agricultural grain product milling and processing; commercial grain 
warehouses, establishments engaged in performing services such as crop 
dusting, fruit picking, grain cleaning, harvesting and plowing; farm equipment 
services and repair; 

2. Airports and heliports including crop dusting strips; 
3. Animal hospitals (Resolution 10-11-11); 
4. Bed and Breakfast;  
5. Butchering facility handling less than 2,500 Animal Equivalent Units per 

year as defined in Section 6.4 6.6. (Resolution 04-12-2022); 
6. Cemeteries; 
7. Churches and places of worship, exceeding an exterior size of 5,000 

square feet shall and abutting or and haveing access to an existing paved 
road; 

8. Class III , but excluding any larger livestock confinement facilities/operations 
as defined in Article 3 and classified in Section 6.4 6.6. (Resolution 4-13-10) 
(Resolution 7-10-12); 

9. Communications towers in excess of 100 feet which serve communication 
needs including radio, telephone, television, or emergency communication 
purposes so long as they comply with all applicable Federal Aviation 
Administrative rules and regulations.  Additionally, any special use permit 
application under this section shall include engineering certifications 
regarding the collapse zone of any proposed tower. (Resolution 5-8-18); 

10. Private Day Care Centers (Resolution 3-11-08); 
11. Facilities for the commercial storage or sale of fertilizer or toxic or flammable 

agricultural chemicals; 
12. Greenhouses and Garden Centers;  
13. Mineral extraction, which shall include the following: oil wells, sand, dirt 

and/or gravel extraction and quarries accomplished through the use of water 
and aggregate pumping machinery and/or earth moving surface equipment. 
(Resolution 3-24-09); 

14. Personal Wind powered generation of electrical power. (Resolution 4-13-10); 
15. Private schools (Resolution 3-11-08); 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

26 

16. Private recreational uses, when abutting or and having access to an existing 
paved road; 

17. Public recreational uses, including parks and playgrounds, when abutting or 
and having access to an existing paved road; 

18. Sewage treatment plants for primary and secondary treatment; public and 
private sanitary landfills; gravel plants and asphalt or concrete batch plants; 

19. Solar Farm (Resolution 02-11-2020); 
20. Signs, As Allowed in Sec. 8.32 (Resolution 07-13-2021); 
21. Temporary Concrete and/or Asphalt Plant  Associated with Federal, State, 

and/or County Road Improvement Projects: includes facilities that crush, 
recycle, and process concrete and/or asphalt for reuse for other construction 
purposes for five (5) years; does not prohibit reapplication for a special use 
permit that will be subject to public hearings and review by The Planning 
Commission and Board of Commissioners. 

22. Wind Farms. (Resolution 4-13-10). 
23. Auction/sale barns and yards; 
24. Salvage or junk yards in accordance with Section 6.3; 
25. Dog breeding establishments, kennels, and domesticated animal training 

facilities provided that all buildings and facilities be at least 100 feet from the 
property line and 300 feet from any neighboring residence; (Resolution 10-
10-17) (Resolution 3-14-2023) 

26. Commercial and/or Industrial operations, excepting therefrom Adult 
Entertainment Establishments when abutting and have access to paved 
roads; (Resolution 3-11-14) 

27. Hospitals, penal institutions and sanitariums; 
28. Nursing and care homes;  
29. Recreational motel-lodging. 

 
 5.15 PROHIBITED USES AND STRUCTURES: All other uses and structures 

which are not specially permitted or nor permissible as special uses shall be 
prohibited from the AG Agriculture District. 

 
 5.16   MINIMUM LOT REQUIREMENTS 

 
1. The minimum lot area for AG uses shall be three (3) five (5) acres. By 

special permit, this lot size may be reduced for Public Uses: Including fire 
stations, public elementary and high schools, public utilities and utility 
distribution systems. (Resolution 8-10-04) All improved uses, other than 
general farming, ranging, pasturing, etc., shall be on a parcel abutting an 
improved county road (above minimum maintenance road) (Resolution 7-
13-2021). 

 
2. Single Family Dwelling, Lot Size:  

 
A.   Three 3 Five (5) acres, with the placement of a 

maximum of four single family dwellings per U.S. 
Government surveyed quarter section, on a parcel abutting 
an improved road (above minimum maintenance road). , at 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

27 

a minimum distance of 1,000 feet between dwellings 
located in same quarter section. Such 1,000 feet between 
dwelling requirement and four single family dwelling per 
quarter section limitation may be relaxed by zoning 
administrator when such proposed single family dwelling 
meets all other zoning requirements, and said lot is shown 
by a recorded plat or deed recorded with the Buffalo 
County Register of Deeds to have been owned separately 
and individually from adjoining tracts of land prior to date of 
adoption of this ordinance (Resolution 7-13-2021). 

 
B. Existing farmsteads of 3 acres or more not previously 

subdivided as of the date of adoption of the zoning 
ordinance as defined in the zoning regulations can be 
subdivided into two parcels, the minimum size of each of 
said parcels shall not be less than three 3 Five (5) acres.   

 
C. Legally existing parcels which are less than three 3 

Five (5) acres, as of the effective date of the zoning 
regulations (January 1, 2003) without a residence may have 
a single-family dwelling constructed, but must obtain a 
zoning permit.  

 
3. Lots shall have a minimum of twenty-five (25) feet lot width abutting any 

street or road. (Resolution 7-13-2021). 
 

5.17 MINIMUM YARD REQUIREMENTS- AG AGRICULTURE DISTRICT 
 

Front Yard: There shall be a minimum front yard of not less than the greater of a 
depth of fifty (50) feet from the right-of-way of street or eighty-three (83) 
feet from the center of right-of-way. 

 
Rear Yard: There shall be a minimum rear yard of ten (10) fifteen (15) feet or 

unless abutting an improved county road, state or federal highway, 
then the minimum rear yard shall be the greater of a depth of fifty (50) 
feet from the right-of-way of street or eighty-three (83) feet from the 
center of right-of-way. 

 
Side Yard: There shall be a minimum side yard shall be of ten (10) feet or unless 

abutting an improved county road, state or federal highway, then the 
minimum side yard shall be the greater of a depth of fifty (50) feet from 
the right-of-way of street or eighty-three (83) feet from the center of 
right-of-way. (Resolution 7-9-19) 

 
 5.18 MAXIMUM HEIGHT: No limitation, unless regulated by state or federal 

authorities. 
 
 5.19  PARKING REQUIREMENTS: See Article 7. 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

28 

5.2 RC RURAL CONSERVATION DISTRICT (RESOLUTION 7-10-12) 
 

5.21 INTENT:  This district is intended for those areas which, because of limiting 
environmental characteristics such as scenic status, excessive slope, soils 
conditions, high water table, or other factors, require the regulation of development 
in keeping with the conditions imposed by the natural environment. 
 
5.22  PERMITTED PRINCIPLE USES AND STRUCTURES:  The following 

shall be permitted as uses by right: 
 

   1.  General farming and ranching activities, excluding any expansion of existing or 
development of intensive livestock confinement facilities/operations; as defined 
in Section 3.50 and  

 
 2.  Single family, ranch, and farm dwellings on a parcel abutting on an 

improved road, meaning a road above county minimum maintenance road 
classification or public street within approved subdivision, including ranch 
and farm dwellings; and one additional on farm/ranch single/two family 
dwellings for the purpose of housing relatives or permanent agriculture 
workers. in addition single family dwellings must be located minimum 
distances from a livestock confinement facility/operation in conformance 
with Section 6.4 6.6 not of the same property (Resolution 7-13-2021). 

 
5.23 PERMITTED ACCESSORY USES AND STRUCTURES:  The following 
accessory uses and structures shall be permitted: 
 

1. Accessory uses and structures normally appurtenant to the permitted uses        
and structures and to uses and structures permitted as special uses; 

2. Home occupations in accordance with Article 8;  
3. Personal Use Solar Energy Systems. (Resolution 02-11-2020); 
4. Roadside stands for temporary sale of produce; 
5. Signs, As allowed in Section 8.31 (Resolution 07-13-2021)  

 
5.24  PERMITTED SPECIAL USES:  a building or premises may be used for the 
following purposes in the “RC” Rural Conservation District  if a special permit for 
such use has been obtained in accordance with Article 6 of these regulations. 
 
1. Day care homes; 
2. Communications towers in excess of 100 feet which serve communication 

needs including radio, telephone, television, or emergency communication 
purposes so long as they comply with all applicable Federal Aviation 
Administrative rules and regulations.  Additionally, any special use permit 
application under this section shall include engineering certifications 
regarding the collapse zone of any proposed tower. (Resolution 5-8-18) 

3. Community buildings and/or facilities owned and/or occupied by public 
agencies; 

4. Flood, erosion and sediment control projects; 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

29 

5. Mineral extraction, which shall include the following: oil wells, sand, dirt 
and/or gravel extraction and quarries accomplished through the use of water 
and aggregate pumping machinery and/or earth moving surface equipment. 
(Resolution 3-24-09); 

6. Parks and recreational areas owned and/or occupied by private agencies; 
7. Parks and recreational areas owned and/or occupied by public agencies; 
8. Public schools; 
9. Sewage disposal and water systems; 
10. Signs, As Allowed in Sec. 8.32 (Resolution 07-13-2021); 
11. Wind Farms.  
12. Bed and breakfast establishments; 
13. Commercial and/or Industrial operations; 
14. Wind powered generation of electrical power; 

 
5.25   PROHIBITED USES AND STRUCTURES:  All other uses and structures 
which are not specially permitted or not permissible as special uses shall be 
prohibited from the RC Rural Conservation District. 

 
 5.26  SPECIAL REGULATION:  Provisions must be made for disposal of wastes 

in accordance with local and state regulations. 
 
      5.27 MINIMUM AREA REQUIREMENTS: 

 
1. The minimum lot area for RC uses shall be eighty (80) acres. By 

special permit this lot size may be reduced for Public Uses: Including 
fire stations, public elementary and high schools, public utilities and 
utility distribution systems. All improved uses, other than general 
farming, ranching, pasturing, etc., shall be on a parcel abutting an 
improved county road (above minimum maintenance road) (Resolution 
07-13-2021). 

 
2. Single Family Dwelling, Lot Size:  

 
A. Single Family Dwelling, Lot Size: (A) 3 acres, with the 

placement of a maximum of One (1) single family dwellings 
per U.S. Government surveyed quarter section, on a parcel 
abutting an improved road (above minimum maintenance 
road), at a minimum distance of 1,000 feet between 
dwellings located in same quarter section. Such 1,000 feet 
between dwelling requirement and one single family 
dwelling per quarter section limitation may be relaxed by 
zoning administrator when such proposed single family 
dwelling meets all other zoning requirements, and said lot 
is shown by a recorded plat or deed recorded with the 
Buffalo County Register of Deeds to have been owned 
separately and individually from adjoining tracts of land 
prior to date of adoption of this ordinance (Resolution 07-
13-2021). 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

30 

A.  Existing farmsteads of 3 acres or more not previously 
subdivided as of the date of adoption of the zoning 
ordinance as defined in the zoning regulations can be 
subdivided into two parcels, the minimum size of each of 
said parcels shall not be less than three (3) five (5) acres.  
 

B. Legally existing parcels which are less than three (3) five 
(5) acres, as of the effective date of the zoning regulations 
(January 1, 2003) without a residence may have a single-
family dwelling constructed, but must obtain a zoning 
permit.  

 
3. Lots shall have a minimum of twenty-five (25) feet lot width abutting any 

street or road. (Resolution 7-13-2021). 
 
5.28 MINIMUM YARD REQUIREMENTS: RC RURAL CONSERVATION DISTRICT 

  
Yard requirements are as follows: 
 
Front Yard: There shall be a minimum front yard of not less the greater of a depth 

of fifty (50) feet from the right-of-way of street or eighty-three (83) feet 
from the center of right-of-way. 

 
Rear Yard: There shall be a minimum rear yard of ten (10) fifteen (15) feet or 

unless abutting an improved county road, state or federal highway, 
then the minimum rear yard shall be the greater of a depth of fifty (50) 
feet from the right-of-way of street or eighty-three (83) feet from the 
center of right-of-way. 

 
Side Yard: There shall be a minimum side yard shall be of ten (10) feet or unless 

abutting an improved county road, state or federal highway, then the 
minimum side yard shall be the greater of a depth of fifty (50) feet from 
the right-of-way of street or eighty-three (83) feet from the center of 
right-of-way. 

 
5.29 MAXIMUM HEIGHT:  No limitation, unless regulated by state or federal 
authorities. 
 
5.30  PARKING REQUIREMENTS:  See Article 7. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

31 

5.3 AGR 1  AGRICULTURAL – RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT 1 
 
5.31 INTENT: This district is intended to provide for low-density, acreage 
residential development in selected areas in close proximity to the communities of 
Buffalo County, or in rural areas with reasonable access to major rural roads.  
Generally, these districts are located near urban and built-up areas within 
reasonable reach of fire protection and hard surfaced roads. 

 
5.32 PERMITTED PRINCIPLE USES AND STRUCTURES: The following shall 
be permitted as uses by right: 

 
1. Bed and Breakfast; 
2. Community buildings and/or facilities owned and/or occupied by public 

agencies; 
3. Day care homes (Resolution 3-11-08); 
4. General farming, including hobby farming or Class I as defined in Article 3 

and classified in Section 6.4 6.6. (Resolution 4-13-10); 
5. Irrigation and flood control projects; 
6. Parks and recreational areas owned and/or occupied by public agencies 

(Resolution 10-10-03); 
7. Personal Use Solar Energy System, when the system is situated on a lot 

comprised of 10.00 acres or greater (Resolution 07-28-2020); 
8. Public schools (Resolution 3-11-08); 
9. Signs, As allowed in Section 8.31 (Resolution 07-13-2021); 
10.  Single family, ranch, and farm dwellings on a parcel abutting improved road, 

meaning a road above county minimum maintenance road classification or 
public street within approved subdivision, including ranch and farm 
dwellings; (Resolution 8-10-04) in addition single family dwellings must be 
located one and one-half times the minimum distances from livestock 
confinement facilities. The applicant requesting a residence in this distance 
area shall additionally execute a nuisance waiver as to the livestock 
confinement facility/operation and present a signed waiver of this distancing 
requirement executed by the owner of the livestock confinement 
facility/operation.  A form waiver, attached as Exhibit A, to this resolution, is 
a suggested waiver form. (Resolution 07-13-2021); 

11.  Churches, places of worship, and cemeteries; and 
 
5.33 PERMITTED ACCESSORY USES AND STRUCTURES: The following 
accessory uses and structures shall be permitted: 

 
1. Accessory uses and structures normally appurtenant to the permitted uses 

and structures and shall not occupy more than thirty percent of the area of 
the side, front, and rear yards; 

2. Home occupations in conformance with Article 8.2;  
3. Personal Use Solar Energy Systems when situated in or on a residential 

lot’s roofs, rear or side yards. (Resolution 02-11-2020) (Resolution 07-28-
2020); 

4. Roadside stands for sale of agricultural produce.  (Resolution 10-10-03) 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

32 

5.34 PERMITTED SPECIAL USES: A building or premises may be used for the 
following purposes in the AGR – 1, Agricultural – Residential District 1 if a special 
permit for such use has been obtained in accordance with Article 6 of these 
regulations: (Resolution 12-4-07) 
 
1. Agricultural service establishments primarily engaged in performing 

agricultural, animal husbandry or horticultural services; 
2. Animal hospitals (Resolution 10-11-11);  
3. Airports (Resolution 10-10-03); 
4. Campgrounds, when abutting or and having access to an existing paved 

road; 
5. Cemeteries, crematories, mausoleums and columbarium; 
6. Churches and places of worship, exceeding an exterior size of 5,000 

square feet shall and abutting or and haveing access to an existing paved 
road; 

7. Class II I, but excluding any larger livestock confinement 
facilities/operations as defined in Article 3 and classified in Section 6.4 6.6. 
(Resolution 4-13-10); 

8. Communications towers in excess of 100 feet which serve communication 
needs including radio, telephone, television, or emergency communication 
purposes so long as they comply with all applicable Federal Aviation 
Administrative rules and regulations.  Additionally, any special use permit 
application under this section shall include engineering certifications 
regarding the collapse zone of any proposed tower. (Resolution 5-8-18); 

9. Concrete batch and/or asphalt plant(s) that uses movable equipment 
utilized for area road or localized construction. (Resolution 3-24-09); 

10. Day care center (Resolution 3-11-08); 
11. Greenhouses and nurseries;  
12. Mineral extraction, which shall include the following: oil wells, sand, dirt 

and/or gravel extraction and quarries accomplished through the use of water 
and aggregate pumping machinery and/or earth moving surface equipment. 
(Resolution 3-24-09); 

13. Mobile home parks, when abutting or and having access to an existing 
paved road; 

14. Parks and recreational areas owned and/or occupied by private agencies 
when abutting or and having access to an existing paved road. 
(Resolution 10-10-03); 

15. Personal Use Solar Energy Systems (12-8-2020); 
16. Personal Wind Powered Generation of electrical power (Resolution 4-13-

10); 
17. Private schools. (Resolution 3-11-08); 
18. Private schools for instruction and training of the physically, mentally, 

and/or functionally impaired. (Resolution 3-11-08); 
19. Public utilities and utility distribution systems (Resolution 8-10-04); 
20. Schools of special instruction in business, cultural, or dramatic subjects or 

schools of special instruction. (Resolution 3-11-08); 
21. Signs, As Allowed in Sec. 8.32 (Resolution 07-13-2021); 
22. Temporary construction material crushing plant that uses movable 

equipment utilized for area road or localized construction. (Resolution 3-



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

33 

24-09 & 5-12-09); 
23. Dog breeding establishments, kennels, and domesticated animal training 

facilities; (Resolution 10-10-17). 
 

5.35 PROHIBITED USES AND STRUCTURES: All other uses and structures 
which are not specifically permitted or not permissible as exceptions shall be 
prohibited from AGR – 1, Agricultural – Residential District 1. 
 
5.36 MINIMUM AREA AND YARD REQUIREMENTS: 
 

1.        The minimum lot area for AGR – 1 uses shall be 3 acres*. All 
improved uses, other than general farming, ranching, pasturing, 
etc., shall be on a parcel abutting an improved county road 
(above minimum maintenance road) (Resolution 07-13-2021) 

 
*When a proposed subdivision utilizes a shared or “community” drinking water and sewage 
system the minimum lot area may be reduced to one (1) acre subject to review and 
compliance by The State of Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy. 
 
3 acres minimum in a proposed and approved subdivision may be reduced to 70,000 square 
feet subject to review and compliance by The State of Nebraska Department of Environment 
and Energy and approval of County Board. 
 
By special permit this lot size may be reduced for Public Uses: Including fire stations, public 
elementary and high schools, public utilities and utility distribution systems.  (Resolution 8-
10-04) 
 

2. Yard requirements are as follows: 
 

    Front Yard: There shall be a minimum front yard of not less 
than the greater of a depth of fifty (50) feet from the right-of-
way of street or eighty-three (83) feet from the center of 
right-of-way. 

 
    Rear Yard: There shall be a minimum rear yard of ten (10) 

fifteen (15) feet or unless abutting an improved county road, 
state or federal highway, then the minimum rear yard shall 
be the greater of a depth of fifty (50) feet from the right-of-
way of street or eighty-three (83) feet from the center of 
right-of-way. 

 
    Side Yard: There shall be a minimum side yard shall be of 

ten (10) feet or unless abutting an improved county road, 
state or federal highway, then the minimum side yard shall 
be the greater of a depth of fifty (50) feet from the right-of-
way of street or eighty-three (83) feet from the center of 
right-of-way. 

 
3. Lots shall have a minimum of twenty-five (25) feet lot width abutting 

any street or road. (Resolution 7-13-2021). 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

34 

5.37 MAXIMUM HEIGHT: No limitation, unless regulated by state or federal 
authorities.  

 
5.38 PARKING REGULATIONS: Parking shall be in conformance with the 

provisions of Article 7 of these regulations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

35 

5.4 AGR 2  AGRICULTURAL – RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT  2 
 
5.41 INTENT: This district is intended to provide for a land use density equal to or 
higher than AGR – 1 in areas in close proximity to the communities of Buffalo 
County, or in rural areas with reasonable access to major rural roads.  Generally, 
these districts are located near urban and built-up areas within reasonable reach of 
fire protection and hard surfaced roads. 
 
If expansion occurs, AGR – 2 should only be abutting or contiguous to other AGR – 
2 zoned areas. 

 
5.42 PERMITTED PRINCIPLE USES AND STRUCTURES: The following shall 
be permitted as uses by right: 

 
1. Bed and Breakfast; 
2. Community buildings and/or facilities owned and/or occupied by public 

agencies; 
3. Day care homes; 
4. General farming, including hobby farming, not to exceed 50 15 animal 

units, as designated in Section 6.4 6.6; 
5. Irrigation and flood control projects; 
6. Parks and recreational areas owned and/or occupied by public agencies; 
7. Public schools;  
8. Single family, ranch, and farm dwellings on a parcel abutting improved road, 

meaning a road above county minimum maintenance road classification or 
public street within approved subdivision, including ranch and farm 
dwellings; in addition, single family dwellings must be located minimum 
distances from livestock confinement facilities; 

9. Signs, As allowed in Section 8.31;  
10. Personal Use Solar Energy System, when the system is situated on a lot 

comprised of 10.00 acres or greater; 
 

5.43 PERMITTED ACCESSORY USES AND STRUCTURES: The following 
accessory uses and structures shall be permitted: 
 
1.  Accessory uses and structures normally appurtenant to the permitted uses 

and structures and shall not occupy more than thirty percent of the area of 
the side, front, and rear yards; 

2.  Home occupations in conformance with Article 8.2;  
3.  Personal Use Solar Energy Systems when situated in or on a residential 

lot’s roofs, rear or side yards; 
4.  Roadside stands for sale of agricultural produce.   

 
5.44 PERMITTED SPECIAL USES: A building or premises may be used for the 
following purposes in the AGR – 2, Agricultural – Residential District 2 if a special 
permit for such use has been obtained in accordance with Article 6 of these 
regulations:  
 
1. Accessory Dwelling Unit;    



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

36 

2. Churches and places of worship, exceeding an exterior size of 5,000 
square feet, shall abut and have access to an existing paved road; 

3. Communications towers in excess of 100 feet which serve 
communication needs including radio, telephone, television, or emergency 
communication purposes so long as they comply with all applicable Federal 
Aviation Administrative rules and regulations.  Additionally, any special use 
permit application under this section shall include engineering certifications 
regarding the collapse zone of any proposed tower; 

4. Day care center;  
5. Mobile home parks, when abutting and having access to an existing 

paved road; 
6. Multi-Family Dwelling, when abutting and having access to an 

existing paved road; 
7. Personal Use Solar Energy Systems; Personal Use Solar Energy 

Systems when situated in or on a residential lot’s roofs, rear or side yards;  
8. Public utilities and utility distribution systems; 
9. Signs, As Allowed in Sec. 8.32;  

 
5.45 PROHIBITED USES AND STRUCTURES: All other uses and structures 
which are not specifically permitted or not permissible as exceptions shall be 
prohibited from AGR – 2, Agricultural – Residential District 2. 
 
5.46 MINIMUM AREA AND YARD REQUIREMENTS: 

 
1. The minimum lot area for AGR – 2 uses shall be 3 acres*. All          

improved uses, other than general farming, ranching, pasturing, 
etc., shall be on a parcel abutting an improved county road (above 
minimum maintenance road)  

 
*When a proposed subdivision utilizes a shared or “community” drinking water and sewage 
system the minimum lot area may be reduced to one (1) acre subject to review and 
compliance by The State of Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy 
 
3 acre minimum in a proposed and approved subdivision may be reduced to 70,000 square 
feet subject to review and compliance by The State of Nebraska Department of Environment 
and Energy and approval of County Board. 
 
By special permit this lot size may be reduced for Public Uses: Including fire stations, public 
elementary and high schools, public utilities and utility distribution systems.   

 
2. Yard requirements are as follows: 

 
    Front Yard: There shall be a minimum front yard of not less 

than the greater of a depth of fifty (50) feet from the right-of-
way of street or eighty-three (83) feet from the center of 
right-of-way. 

 
    Rear Yard: There shall be a minimum rear yard of ten (10) 

fifteen (15) feet or unless abutting an improved county road, 
state or federal highway, then the minimum rear yard shall 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

37 

be the greater of a depth of fifty (50) feet from the right-of-
way of street or eighty-three (83) feet from the center of 
right-of-way. 

 
    Side Yard: There shall be a minimum side yard of ten (10) 

feet or unless abutting an improved county road, state or 
federal highway, then the greater of a depth of fifty (50) feet 
from the right-of-way of street or eighty-three (83) feet from 
the center of right-of-way. 

 
3. Lots shall have a minimum of twenty-five (25) feet lot width abutting 

any street or road.  
 

5.47 MAXIMUM HEIGHT: No limitation, unless regulated by state or federal 
authorities.  

 
5.48 PARKING REGULATIONS: Parking shall be in conformance with the 
provisions of Article 7 of these regulations. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

38 

5.5 C  COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 
 
   5.51 INTENT: The C Commercial District is intended for the purpose of providing 

limited sale or resale of commercial goods or services.  Off-street parking is 
required in order to reduce adverse effects on adjacent properties. 

 
5.52 PERMITTED PRINCIPLE USES AND STRUCTURES: The following shall 
be permitted as uses by right: 

 
1. Auction houses (Resolution 6-9-20); 
2. Automobile sales & services (Resolution 6-9-20); 
3. Animal Hospitals (Resolution 10-11-11); 
4. Bed and breakfast operations; and 
5. Campgrounds, when abutting and having access to an existing paved 

road; 
6. Churches and other religious institutions exceeding an exterior size of 

5,000 square feet, shall abut and have access to an existing paved road; 
7. Construction sales and services; 
8. Convenience store or filling station; 
9. Detached banking facilities (ATM); 
10. Electric and telephone substations; 
11. Farm machinery, equipment, and implement sales and services 

(Resolution 6-9-20); 
12. Garden centers and nurseries; 
13. Irrigation equipment sales and services; 
14. Medical clinics; 
15. Motels, including accessory service uses, such as swimming pools, liquor 

stores and restaurants; 
16. Personal Use Solar Energy Systems (Resolution 02-11-2020); 
17. Private clubs and lodges; 
18. Private recreational uses, when abutting or and having access to an existing 

paved road; 
19. Public recreational uses, including parks and playgrounds, when abutting or 

and having access to an existing paved road; 
20. Restaurants and cafes; 
21. Service stations; 
22. Signs, As allowed in Section 8.31 and Section 8.32 (Resolution 07-13-

2021) (Resolution 3-14-2023); 
23. Mini Storage facilities; Storage facilities having no more than the following 

special limitations per each unit of storage: a maximum area of no more than 
640 square foot per each storage unit area; an entry access or accesses to 
each storage unit that has no greater dimensional area than that of 224 total 
square feet; and a maximum exterior height of no greater than twenty feet. 
(Resolution 6-13-2023); 

24. Stores or shops for sale of goods or services at retail; 
25. Transportation warehousing; 
26. Trucks and freight terminals; 
27. Truck Sales and service (Resolution 6-9-20); 
28. Utilities, including shops and offices;  



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

39 

29. Automobile wash facilities; 
 

5.53 PERMITTED ACCESSORY USES AND STRUCTURES: The following 
accessory uses and structures shall be permitted: Accessory uses and structures 
normally appurtenant to the permitted uses and structures and to uses and 
structures permitted as special uses. 

 
5.54 PERMITTED SPECIAL USES: A building or premises may be used for the 
following purposes in the C Commercial District if a special use permit for such use 
has been obtained in accordance with Article 6 of these regulations. 

 
1. Adult Entertainment Establishments; specifically allowed only in the 

Commercial District; and not as a special use in Agricultural District. 
2. Airports and Heliports; 
3. Arborist Services;  
4. Automobile/Truck wash services (Resolution 2-12-08); 
5. Butchering facility handling less than 2,500 Animal Equivalent Units per year 

as defined in Section 6.4 6.6. (Resolution 04-12-2022); 
6. Communications towers in excess of 100 feet, radio studios, transmitters, 

and antennas, which serve communication needs including radio, 
telephone, television, or emergency communication purposes so long as 
they comply with all applicable Federal Aviation Administrative rules and 
regulations.  Additionally, any special use permit application under this 
section shall include engineering certifications regarding the collapse zone 
of any proposed tower (Resolution 3-13-18); 

7. Data Center; 
8. Dog breeding establishments, kennels, and domesticated animal training 

facilities provided that all buildings and facilities be at least 100 feet from the 
property line and 300 feet from any neighboring residence (Resolution 3-14-
2023); 

9. Educational and scientific research services; 
10. Facilities for the commercial storage or sale of fertilizer or toxic or 

flammable agriculture chemicals; 
11. Mineral extraction, which shall include the following: oil wells, sand, dirt 

and/or gravel extraction and quarries accomplished through the use of water 
and aggregate pumping machinery and/or earth moving surface equipment. 
(Resolution 3-24-09); 

12. Personal wind powered generation of electrical power (Resolution 7-10-
12) 

13. Recreational facilities or entertainment facilities and/or areas not owned or 
operated by public agencies, when abutting or and having access to an 
existing paved road (Resolution 10-10-03); 

14. Short Term Rentals, including AirBnB; 
15. Single Family Homes; 
16. Solar farm (Resolution 02-11-2020); 
17. Wind Farms (Resolution 7-10-12) (Resolution 3-11-14). 
18. Private clubs and lodges; 
19. Recycling centers;  



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

40 

20. Radio studios, transmitters and antenna;  
21. Signs, As Allowed in Sec. 8.32 (Resolution 07-13-2021); 

 
5.55 SCREENING REQUIREMENTS:  Open storage of materials attendant to a 

permitted use or special permit use shall be permitted only within an area 
surrounded or screened by a solid wall or fence. 

 
5.56 PROHIBITED USES:  All other uses and structures which are not 
specifically permitted or permissible as special uses shall be prohibited from the C 
Commercial District. 
 
5.57 HEIGHT AND AREAS REGULATIONS: The maximum height, maximum 
lot coverage and minimum area regulations shall be as follows: (Resolution 7-11-
06 & Resolution 10-11-11) 

 
1. General Requirements (Resolution 7-13-2021): 

 

  
Lot Area***                                                                                

(Sq.' Ft.) 
Lot Width* Required 

Front Yard 
Required 
Side Yard 

Required 
Rear Yard Height 

Permitted 
Uses 40,000 100' 

Greater of 50'* 
or 93 83'** 15' 15' None 

       
* Measured from the abutting road or street right-of-way line. 
** Measured from center line of abutting road or street right-of-way. 
*** Unless more regulated by state or federal authorities. Such minimum lot size is subject to 
restrictions imposed by the Department of Environmental Quality or other agencies with 3 acres being 
exempt at the time of adoption of these regulations (Resolution 10-10-03) 
 

* Measured from the abutting road or street right-of-way line.  
           ** Measured from center line of abutting road or street right-of-way.  
         *** Unless more regulated by state or federal authorities.  Such minimum lot size is subject to 
restrictions imposed by Department of Environmental Quality or other agencies with 3 acres being exempt at 
time of adoption of these regulations (Resolution 10-10-03) 
 

2. MAXIMUM LOT COVERAGE: In no event shall the area of a lot 
covered by buildings or roofed areas, excluding allowed projecting eaves, 
balconies, and similar features exceed 55% of the lot area. (Resolution 10-
10-03, Sec 5.59 & 7-11-06) 

 
3. PUBLIC USE EXCEPTION:  By special use permit this lot size may be 
reduced for Public Uses including, but not limited to; fire stations, elementary 
and high schools, utilities, whether publicly or privately owned, and utility 
distribution systems. (Resolution 7-11-06) 

 
5.58 PARKING AND LOADING REGULATIONS:  Parking and loading within the 
C Commercial District shall be in conformance with the provisions of Article 7 of 
these regulations.  (Resolution 10-10-03). 

 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

41 

5.6 I   INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT 
 

5.61 INTENT: This district is designed to provide for a wide range of industrial 
and related uses and the creation and/or processing of goods or services. 

 
5.62 PERMITTED PRINCIPLE USES AND STRUCTURES: (Resolution 10-11-
11) 

 
1. Animal hospitals; 
2. Arborist Services; 
3. Auction houses (Resolution 6-9-20); 
4. Automobile sales and services; 
5. Automotive/Truck wash facilities;  
6. Building material sales and ready-mix concrete plants; 
7. Butchering facility handling less than 2,500 Animal Equivalent Units per year 

as defined in Section 6.4 6.6. (Resolution 04-12-2022); 
8. Data Center; 
9. Educational and scientific research services; 
10. Equipment rental and leasing services; 
11. Farm machinery, implements and equipment – retail, sales and service 

(Resolution 6-9-20); 
12. Farm supplies - retail; 
13. Feeds, grains and hay - retail; 
14. Garden centers and nurseries; 
15. Gas utility maintenance yard; 
16. Landscape sales and services; 
17. Manufacturing, processing, fabrication, warehousing or cleaning activity that 

is completely confined within a closed facility and does not normally emit 
noise, smoke, or odor outside of the fenced facility; 

18. Personal Use Solar Energy Systems. (Resolution 02-11-2020); 
19. Public utility and public service uses; 
20. Recycling centers; 
21. Service stations; 
22. Mini Storage facilities; Storage facilities having no more than the following 

special limitations per each unit of storage: a maximum area of no more than 
640 square foot per each storage unit area; an entry access or accesses to 
each storage unit that has no greater dimensional area than that of 224 total 
square feet; and a maximum exterior height of no greater than twenty feet. 
(Resolution 6-13-2023); 

23. Stores or shops for the sale of industry goods at retail; 
24. Signs, As allowed in Section 8.31 and Section 8.32 (Resolution 07-13-

2021) (Resolution 3-14-2023); 
25. Telephone services; 
26. Wholesale establishments except those which handle products of a highly 

explosive, combustible or volatile nature; and 
27. Bottling works; 
28. Carpenter, cabinet, plumbing or sheet metal shops; 
29. Carpet and rug cleaning and repair services; 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

42 

30. Disinfecting and exterminating services; 
31. Dry cleaning, laundering and dyeing services; 
32. Dyeing and finishing of textiles; 
33. Electrical sales and services; 
34. Food lockers and storage services; 
35. Freight forwarding services; 
36. Furniture repair and reupholster services; 
37. Fur trading services; 
38. Mini-warehouse 
39. Mobile and modular home sales and manufacturing; 
40. Newspaper publishing plants and commercial printing; 
41. Photoengraving; 
42. Photo finishing services; 
43. Radios, televisions, phonographs, recorders, tape players and other 

similar devices repair services; 
44. Transportation warehousing; 
45. Truck wash services; 
46. Warehousing and storage except for products of a highly explosive, 

combustible or volatile nature; 
 

5.63 PERMITTED ACCESSORY USES: Accessory uses and structures normally 
appurtenant to permitted uses and structures. 

 
5.64 PERMITTED SPECIAL USES:  A building or premises may be used for the 
following purposes in the I Industrial District if a special permit for such use has 
been obtained in accordance with Article 6 of this Resolution.  

 
1. Airport & heliport; 
2. Butchering facility handling 2,500 or more Animal Equivalent Units per year 

as defined in Section 6.4 6.6. (Resolution 04-12-2022); 
3. Communications towers in excess of 100 feet which serve communication needs 

including radio, telephone, television, or emergency communication purposes so 
long as they comply with all applicable Federal Aviation Administrative rules and 
regulations.  Additionally, any special use permit application under this section 
shall include engineering certifications regarding the collapse zone of any 
proposed tower. (Resolution 5-8-18); 

4. Dog breeding establishments, kennels, and domesticated animal training 
facilities provided that all buildings and facilities be at least 100 feet from the 
property line and 300 feet from any neighboring residence. (Resolution 3-14-
2023); 

5. Manufacturing, processing, fabrication or warehousing activity that is not 
completely confined within a closed facility and does emit noise, smoke, or 
odor outside of the fenced facility; 

6.  Mineral extraction, which shall include the following: oil wells, sand, dirt 
and/or gravel extraction and quarries accomplished through the use of water 
and aggregate pumping machinery and/or earth moving surface equipment. 
(Resolution 3-24-09); and 

6. Personal Wind powered generation of electrical power (Resolution 4-10-12); 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

43 

7. Salvage or junk yard in accordance with Section 6.3; 
8. Solar farm (Resolution 02-11-2020); 
9. Warehousing and storage except for products of a highly explosive, combustible or 

volatile nature. 
10. Wind Farms (Resolution 4-10-12) 
11. Signs, As Allowed in Sec. 8.32 (Resolution 07-13-2021); 
12. Recycling center;  

 
5.65 PROHIBITED USES AND STRUCTURES:  All other uses and structures 

which are not specifically permitted or not permissible as special uses shall 
be prohibited from the I Industrial District. 

 
5.66 HEIGHT AND AREA REGULATIONS:  The maximum height and minimum 

area regulations shall be as follows: (Resolution 10-11-11) 
 

1. General Requirements (Resolution 7-13-2021): 
 

  
Lot Area***                                                                                

(Sq.' Ft.) 
Lot Width* Required 

Front Yard 
Required 
Side Yard 

Required 
Rear Yard Height 

Permitted 
Uses None 100' 

Greater of 50'* 
or 83 93'** 15' 15' None 

       
* Measured from the abutting road or street right-of-way line. 
** Measured from center line of abutting road or street right-of-way. 
*** Unless more regulated by state or federal authorities. Such minimum lot size is subject to restrictions 
imposed by the Department of Environmental Quality or other agencies with 3 acres being exempt at 
the time of adoption of these regulations (Resolution 10-10-03) 
 
 * Measured from the abutting road or street right-of-way line. 
          **  Measured from center line of abutting road or street right-of-way. 
        ***  Unless more regulated by state or federal authorities.  Such minimum lot size is subject to 
restrictions imposed by Department of Environmental Quality or other agencies with 3 acres being exempt at 
time of adoption of these regulations (Resolution 10-10-03) 
 

5.67 PARKING REGULATIONS:  Parking within the I Industrial District shall be 
in conformance with the provisions of Article 7 of this Resolution. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

44 

ARTICLE 6 
 
 SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
 
6.1 GENERAL 
 

The County may authorize by special permit after public hearing, any of the 
buildings or uses designated in this resolution as permitted special uses. 

 
6.2 PROCEDURES 
 

Such application shall be in writing, filed in the Office of the Zoning Administrator 
County Clerk, state the proposed location and use of the property, and such other 
relevant matters as may be requested by the County.  Upon receipt of such 
application, the Zoning Administrator shall forward the application to the Planning 
Commission for its recommendation.  Upon hearing, the Planning Commission 
shall forward its recommendation to the County Board, within thirty (30) days.  
Upon hearing, the County Board may allow or deny the application in whole or in 
part, or prescribe conditions for such use of the property.  In making any decision 
granting a special use permit, the County Board shall impose such restrictions, 
terms, time limitations, landscaping, improvement of off-street parking lots, and 
other appropriate safeguards as required protecting adjoining property.  Unless 
otherwise specifically stated, construction requested on such special permit shall 
commence within 120 days after authorization and shall be substantially completed 
two years after commencement.  No special use permit shall become effective until 
after separate public hearings are held by both the Planning Commission and the 
County Board in relation thereto, at which parties in interest and citizens shall have 
an opportunity to be heard.  Notice of the purpose, time, and place of such hearing 
shall be given by publication thereof in a paper of general circulation in the County 
and in the local newspaper of any county/village/city which has territory within three 
miles of the property affected by such action of the County Board, one time at least 
ten days prior to such hearing. 

 
In addition to the publication of the notice herein prescribed, a notice, in sign form, 
of the hearing shall be posted in a conspicuous place on or near the property on 
which such action is pending.  The sign shall be placed at least ten (10) days prior 
to date of each hearing.  The sign shall state in conspicuous writing visible from the 
traveled surface of the nearest public road: the purpose, time, and place of hearing. 
A notice of the purpose, time, and place of the hearing shall be given in writing to 
the Chairperson of the County Board, or Planning Commission which has 
jurisdiction over land within three miles of the property affected by such action.  In 
the absence of a Planning Commission, such notice shall be given to the clerks of 
units of local government having jurisdiction over land within three miles of the 
property affected by such action.  A written notice of such hearing shall be 
distributed to record title owners of property located within three hundred (300) feet 
of the property line of the property requesting the special use permit. 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

45 

Except as otherwise provided herein, no special use permit shall be granted by the 
County Board, without an affirmative vote of a majority of all members of the 
County Board and providing the proposed use is found to comply with the following 
guidelines: 

 
1. Be compatible with and similar to the use permitted in the district, and 
 
2. Not be a matter which should require re-zoning of the property, and 
 
3. Not be detrimental to adjacent property, and 
 
4. Not tend to depreciate the value of the surrounding structures or property, 
and 
 
5. Be compatible with the stated intended use of the district, and 
 
6. Not change the character of the district, and 
 
7. Be in accordance with the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
In case of protest against such special use permit, filed with County Clerk within 
seven (7) days following Planning Commission’s public hearing considering such 
special use permit signed by the owners of twenty percent (20%) or more either of 
the area of the lots included in such proposed change, or of those immediately 
adjacent on the side and in the rear thereof extending one hundred (100) feet, 
therefrom, and of those directly opposite thereto extending one hundred (100) feet 
from the street frontage of such opposite lots, such special use permit shall not 
become effective except by the favorable vote of two-thirds of all members of the 
County Board. (Resolution 10-10-03) 
 

6.3 APPEALS SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
An appeal of a decision by the County Board of Supervisors County Board of 
Commissioners regarding a special use shall be made to the District Court.  
(Resolution 11-8-05) 
 

6.4  REVIEW AND CANCELLATION OF SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
 

Reviews and cancellations of special use permits shall be instigated by one of two 
methods: 

 
1. If the Zoning Administrator finds at any time that the terms, conditions and 
requirements of a special permit have not been complied with, or that any phase 
thereof has not been completed within the time required under said special permit 
or any amendment thereto, the Zoning Administrator shall report this fact to the 
County Board. 
 
2. County Board may take the matter up by any two members of the Board 
desiring hearing.  Thereafter, a public hearing shall be held with notice to permittee 
and/or entity using such property and owners of properties subject to notice of the 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

46 

original permit.  Following such public hearing, the County Board may take such 
action(s) as it deems necessary to obtain compliance, including, but not limited to, 
revocation of such special permit for failure to comply with such terms, conditions 
and requirements.  (Resolution 5-9-06) 

   
6.5 SALVAGE OR JUNK YARD 
 

Salvage or junkyard operations and related facilities shall only be allowed by 
special permit in the AG and I Zoning Districts under the following conditions: 
(Resolution 3-9-04) 

 
1. A remediation fund or bond shall be posted for cleanup of facility in the 
event of abandonment. 

 
2.  The operation shall be conducted wholly within a noncombustible building 
or within an area completely surrounded on all sides by a visual obscuring fence, 
wall or hedge.  The fence, wall or hedge shall be of uniform height (at least eight (8) 
feet high) and uniform texture and color shall be so maintained by the proprietor as 
to insure ensure maximum safety to the public and preserve the general welfare of 
the neighborhood.  The fence, wall or hedge shall be installed in such a manner as 
to retain all scrap, junk or other material within the yard and no scrap, junk or other 
material shall protrude above the fence. 

 
3.  No junk shall be loaded, unloaded or otherwise placed, either temporarily 
or permanently, outside the enclosed building, hedge fence or wall, or within the 
public right-of-way. 

 
4.  Any other requirement deemed appropriate and necessary by the County 
Board for the protection of the general health and welfare. 

 
5.  Special use permits granted under this section shall be subject to annual 
review by the County Board with written notice of hearing of such review given to 
permit holder at last given address. 

 
6.  In making any decision granting a special use permit, the County Board 
shall impose such restrictions, terms, time limitations, landscaping, improvement of 
off-street parking lots, and other appropriate safeguards as required to protect 
adjoining property.  (Resolution 3-9-04) 

 
6.6 LIVESTOCK CONFINEMENT FACILITIES/OPERATIONS 
 

1.   All livestock confinement facilities/operations, excepting facilities/operations 
containing less than fifteen animal equivalent units as hereinafter described, are 
allowed under the following conditions: (Resolution 4-13-10) (Resolution 7-10-12) 
 

A.  Expansion of an existing livestock confinement facility/operation is 
defined as such when capacity of the facility is increased to the point where 
the total animal units is defined as a larger class. See minimum distance 
requirements under Section 6.6 (C) in the following table.   



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

47 

B.  Distance requirements: 
 

1.  Any new or expanding livestock confinement 
facilities/operations greater than Class I, shall either be: (1) a 
minimum distance from any dwelling, commercial or industrial 
facility, or church, school or any other facility operated and/or utilized 
by the general public other than the dwelling of the confinement 
facilities/operations owner and/or operator unless owner(s) of each 
dwelling, commercial or industrial facility, or church, school or other 
facility operated and/or utilized by the general public has executed a 
waiver of nuisance in form similar to form attached to this resolution, 
or the applicant obtains have signed waiver(s) of nuisance in form 
similar to Exhibit A, Nuisance Form, attached to this resolution letters 
of agreement from surface landowner(s)within below stated radius of 
the designated perimeter supporting the proposed expansion or 
development of new livestock confinement facilities/operations. 
(Resolution 7-10-12) 

 
2.  Any new or expanding livestock confinement facility/operation 
Greater than Class I, shall also be: 

 
a.  No closer than one (1) mile from any property zoned 
AGR-1 or AGR-2. 

 
b.  No closer than two (2) miles from the corporate limits of 
any village or city. 

 
C.  MINIMUM DISTANCE REQUIREMENTS (Resolution 7-10-12) 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 General 
Farming/Ranching 

Classification                                     
Class I Class II Class III Class IV 

Total Animal 
Units Allowed 1-299 300-1,000 1,001-

2,500 
2,501-
5,000 5,001 and above 

Minimum 
Distance 
Required 

No Minimum 
Requirement 

1/2 mile 
¼ mile 

3/4 mile 
½ mile 

1 mile 
¾ mile 

1 mile, ¾ mile plus 1 foot 
per every 2 animal units in 

excess of 5,000 
(Maximum Amount: 2 Miles) 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

48 

 
 

 
 

D.  Facility with liquid waste management system lagoon shall have 
the closest edge of such lagoon no closer than distance stated in above 
paragraph for total animal units such lagoon system serves from any 
residence or commercial or industrial facility, or church or school, or any 
other facility operated and/or utilized by the general public other than the 
residence of the confinement facilities/operations owner and/or operator.  
However, the minimum distance may be increased or decreased as 
determined by the County Board. 
 
E.  A management plan for the facility, acceptable to the Nebraska 
Department of Environmental Quality and the County Board, which 
provides for the proper disposal of animal waste and dead animals in a 
manner as not to contaminate ground water or any stream, creek or river 
and minimizes odor. 

 
F.  Any other requirement deemed appropriate and necessary by the 
County Board for the protection of the general health and welfare. 

 
G.  Special use permits granted under this section shall be subject to 
review by the County Board if not in compliance with Department of 
Environmental Control. State of Nebraska Department of Environment 
and Energy. 

 
H.  For purposes of determining size of such livestock confinement      
facility/operation, the number of animals of all species situated in such 
facility/operation at any one time, shall be calculated in Animal Units 

  Class I Class II Class III 
Total Animal Units Allowed                                                                         

Section 6.6 (H) 
300 to 
2,500 

2,501 to 
5,000 5,001 and above 

Minimum Distance Required 1/2 Mile 1 Mile 
1 Mile, plus 1 Foot Per Every Two 

Animal Units                                                        
Maximum Amount: 2 Miles 

 
MINIMUM DISTANCE REQUIREMENTS  

 
 
 

 
Class I 

 
Class II 

 
Class III 

 
Class IV  

Total Animal 
Units Allowed 
Section 6.4(6) 

 
1 to 300 301 to 2,500 

 
2,501 to 10,000 10,001 & above 

 
Minimum 
Distance 
Required 

 
No 

Minimum 
Requirement 

 
1 / 2 Mile 

 
1 Mile 

 
 

 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

49 

Equivalents based upon the following table:  
 

  Animal Units Equivalents 
1. (1.0   x ____ number of head) Slaughter and Feeder Cattle 

2. (1.2   x ____ number of head) Cow/Calf Pairs 

3. (1.4   x ____ number of head) Mature Dairy Cattle 
4. (0.40 x ____ number of head) Swine, 55lbs. and over 

5. (0.04 x ____ number of head)   Weaned Pigs, less than 55lbs. 

6. (0.1   x ____ number of head) Sheep 
7. (2.0   x ____ number of head) Horses 

8. (0.01 x ____ number of head) Chickens 

9. (0.02 x ____ number of head) Turkeys 

10. (0.02 x ____ number of head) Ducks 

11. 
For Immature Dairy Cattle, or those species not listed, number of 
animal units shall be calculated as the average weight of animals 

divided by 1,000 lbs., multiplied by the number of animals. 

  (Resolution 9-19-19) 
 

 Animal Units Equivalents 
1.  (1.0   x ____ number of head) Slaughter and Feeder Cattle 
2.  (1.2   x ____ number of head) Cow/Calf Pairs 
3.  (1.4   x ____ number of head) Mature Dairy Cattle 
4.  (0.40 x ____ number of head) Swine, 55lbs. and over 
5.  (0.04 x ____ number of head)  Weaned Pigs, less than 55lbs. 
6.  (0.1   x ____ number of head) Sheep 
7.  (2.0   x ____ number of head) Horses 
8.  (0.01 x ____ number of head)  Chickens 
9.  (0.02 x ____ number of head)  Turkeys 
10.(0.02 x ____ number of head)  Ducks 
11.  For Immature Dairy Cattle, or those species not listed, number of 
animal units shall be calculated as the average weight of animals divided 
by 1,000 lbs., multiplied by the number of animals.  
(Resolution 9-19-19) 
 
I. PROCEDURAL REQUIREMENTS:  

1.  Any application for a Special Use Permit by a Livestock 
Confinement Facilities/Operation shall be submitted to the Planning 
Commission for a Public Hearing.  

 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

50 

a.  All exhibits must be entered into the record during the 
Public Hearing. These exhibits may be identified by the title 
and exhibit number. 

 
b.  The County Comprehensive Plan shall always be 
submitted as Exhibit Number 1. 

 
c.  The County Zoning and Subdivisions Regulations 
shall be submitted as Exhibit Number 2. 

 
d.  The County Zoning Map shall always be submitted as 
Exhibit Number 3. 

 
e.  The Conditional Use Permit Application and 
documentation shall be submitted as Exhibit Number 4. 

 
f.  Letters, written comments and material presented 
during the public hearing shall be given an Exhibit Number, 
as they are presented.  

 
2.  After closing the Public Hearing, the Planning Commission 
shall not vote on the application until the next meeting, unless the 
Planning and Zoning Commission passes by unanimous vote that 
the Commission suspend the one-meeting delay rule, and 
thereafter proceeds to vote on the application in the same meeting 
in which the Public Hearing is held. 

 
3.  At the meeting in which the vote on the application is taken, 
the Zoning Administrator will present a “Statement of Finding of 
Facts” drawn from the Public Hearing and exhibits. The Planning 
Commission shall then make a recommendation, or defer a 
recommendation to the next meeting, to the County Board of 
Commissioners to approve or deny the application based on the 
Public Hearing. 

 
4.  The County Board of Commissioners shall schedule a Public 
Hearing and make proper notice of this meeting. 
 
5.  The Zoning Administrator shall prepare a resolution 
containing the “Statement of Finding of Facts” and any conditions to 
be placed on the Applicant if the application is approved. 
 
6.  If during the Public Hearing held by the Board of 
Commissioners, no new facts, in the opinion of the County Board 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

51 

are entered at the hearing, a vote on the application may be taken 
after the hearing is closed. 
 
7.  If new facts are entered at the public hearing of the Board, 
the decision shall be postponed until the next meeting or until the 
“Statement of Finding of Facts” in the resolution can be revised. 
 

8.  Following approval of the application by the Board of 
Commissioners, the applicant shall be notified in writing of the 
decision, including conditions imposed and a finding of fact as to 
support the Board’s decision, if any. 

9.  In the case of denial of the application by the Board, the 
applicant shall be notified in writing of opportunity to amend the 
application and resubmit the application, with no additional fee, to 
the Planning Commission for a Public Hearing with submissions 
that address the specific reasons for denial or to seek judicial 
review of the proceedings. 

J. SPECIAL REGULATIONS CONCERNING DISPOSAL OF 
CONFINEMENT FACILITY, FEEDLOT WASTE, LIVESTOCK 
PROCESSING WASTE, AND/OR OTHER WASTE. (Resolution 6-12-07) 

 
1.  Disposal and storage of any confinement facility or feedlot manure 
on land within Buffalo County other than on the property upon which 
the confinement facility or feedlot is located shall be subject to the 
license requirements and manure disposal requirements and 
recommendations of the State of Nebraska (Resolution 6-12-07).   
 
2. No manure disposal by spraying, injecting or spreading on land 
shall be closer than thirteen hundred and twenty (1,320) feet to an 
inhabited residence without written consent by the property owner of 
the residence.  This restriction shall not apply to lands upon which the 
confinement or feedlot is located (Resolution 6-12-07). 
 
3.  Disposal of paunch manure shall be allowed only in AG District 
with the same being subject to any applicable license and/or permit 
requirements of the State of Nebraska and/or Buffalo County 
(Resolution 6-12-07). 
 
4.  In no event shall there be storage of and/or disposal of livestock 
manure from a confinement or feedlot facility on, upon, or within 100 
feet of land designated by the United States Department of 
Agriculture, or entity thereof, as delineated inventoried wetlands 
(Resolution 6-12-07). 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

52 

5.  Livestock processing waste shall not be allowed upon the lands 
of Buffalo County (Resolution 8-14-07). 
 
6.   Exemption smaller facilities/operations:  Operations or 
facilities comprises of less than 15 Animal Equivalent Units, as 
herein described, are exempted from the foregoing provisions.  

 
6.5 7 SPECIAL PROVISIONS REGARDING ADULT ENTERTAINMENT 

ESTABLISHMENTS 
 
1.  Adult Entertainment Establishment, as previously defined, shall not be 
allowed in the Agricultural District (AG), and shall only be allowed as a special permit 
in the Commercial (C) District, under the following conditions: 
 

A. LOCATION AND DISTANCE REQUIREMENTS: 
 

1.  An Adult Entertainment Establishment, as herein defined: 
 

a.  Shall not be located or expanded within one thousand 
(1,000) feet of either Agricultural – Residential District 1 (AGR 
1) or Agricultural – Residential District 2 (AGR 2) zoned 
property;  

 
b.  Shall not be located or expanded within one thousand 
(1,000) feet of any other Adult Entertainment Establishment; 

 
c.  Shall not be located or expanded within one thousand 
(1,000) feet of any church, synagogue or temple, hospital, 
public school or public park, or any day care center or day 
care home. 

 
B. Measurements pursuant to the foregoing section shall be made in a 
straight line, without regard to intervening structures or objects, from the 
nearest portion of the building or structure used as a part of the premises of an 
Adult Entertainment Establishment to: 

 
1. The nearest property line of any real estate situated in either 
Agricultural – Residential District 1 (AGR 1) or Agricultural – 
Residential District 2 (AGR 2) use district by the Zoning Map of 
Buffalo County; and 

 
2. The nearest portion of the building or structure used as a part 
of the premises of any other Adult Entertainment Establishment; and 
 
3. The nearest property line of the premises of a church, 
synagogue, temple, hospital, public school, public park, day care 
center, and day care home. 

 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

53 

C.  Distance certifications:  An application for an Adult Entertainment 
Establishment shall be accompanied by a current certificate and straight-line 
drawing prepared within thirty (30) days prior to application by a registered 
land surveyor depicting the property lines and the structures containing any 
existing Adult Entertainment Establishments within 1000 feet of the property 
to be certified; the property lines of any church, synagogue or temple, 
hospital, public school or public park, or any day care center or day care 
home within 1000 feet of the property to be certified; and  the property lines 
of any property either in the Agricultural – Residential District 1 (AGR 1) or 
Agricultural – Residential District 2 (AGR 2)  by the Zoning Map of Buffalo 
County, within 1000 feet of the property to be certified.   For purposes of this 
sub-section, a use shall be considered existing if it is in existence at the time 
an application is submitted.  

 
2. SPECIAL REQUIREMENTS: 

 
A. An Adult Entertainment Establishment shall be located in a 
freestanding building, one lot, containing no other uses or Adult 
Entertainment Establishments. 

 
B. All Adult Entertainment Establishment businesses, its owners, 

managers, entertainers, and any other employee thereof shall 
permit any governmental official acting in their official capacity to 
inspect the premises and activities on the premises as necessary 
to insure ensure the business is complying with all applicable 
regulations (Resolution 03-11-14) (Resolution 2-22-2022) 

 
6.6 8  Wind Farms Location and Distancing Requirements 
 

1. LOCATION AND DISTANCE REQUIREMENTS-WIND FARMS:  
 

A.  A Wind Farm, as herein defined within the Buffalo County Zoning 
Regulations:  

 
1.  Shall not be located or expanded within: 

 
a.  Three miles from the thread of the stream of the 
South Loup River. 
 
b.  Five miles from any Federal or State wildlife 
preservation or management area.   
 
c.  One-quarter mile from any and all inventoried 
Wetlands, as set out in the U.S. Fish and Wildlife’s mapping 
and inventory of Wetlands, namely the mapping contained at:  
(https://fwsprimary.wim.usgs.gov/wetlands/apps/wetlands-
mapper/). (Resolution 6-13-2023). 

i. Three-miles of Agricultural Residential (AGR) zoned property. 

https://fwsprimary.wim.usgs.gov/wetlands/apps/wetlands-mapper/
https://fwsprimary.wim.usgs.gov/wetlands/apps/wetlands-mapper/


 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

54 

ii. Three miles of any owned in whole or in part by a non-applicant of 
the wind farm, unless the applicant secures consent of all property 
owners of parcels within three miles of the parcel boundaries 
containing the proposed wind farm.  This can be waived, with an 
agreement in writing filed with the Register of Deeds, executed and 
filed prior to submittal of the application. 

iii. Three-miles of any church, synagogue or temple, hospital, public 
school or public park, or any licensed day care center or day care 
home. 

iv. Five-miles of any incorporated village or city. 
v. Two Miles of a private or public burial site. 
vi. The south river bank of the Platte River to three miles from the 

north right of way for Highway 30 and three miles from the 
centerline of Highway 2. 

 
B. Measurements pursuant to the foregoing section shall be made in a 
straight line, without regard to intervening structures or objects, from the 
nearest portion of the building or structure used as a part of the premises 
of a Wind Farm to the following distances, whichever applies: 
 

a. The nearest portion of the building or structure used as a 
part of a Wind Farm; and 
 
b. The nearest property line of a Federal or State wildlife 
preservation or management area. 

 
c. The nearest edge of inventoried Wetlands as set out in the 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife’s mapping and inventory of Wetlands, 
namely the mapping contained at:  
(https://fwsprimary.wim.usgs.gov/wetlands/apps/wetlands-
mapper/). (Resolution 6-13-2023). 

i. The nearest property line of any real estate situated in the 
Agricultural Residential (AGR) use district by the Zoning Map of 
Buffalo County; and 

ii. The nearest property line of the premises of a windfarm  non-
applicant  property line, church, synagogue, temple, hospital, public 
school, public park, licensed day care center, and day care home, 
and 

iii. The nearest grave marker at a burial site. 
iv. The nearest municipal corporate limit line, exclusive of areas 

annexed for economic development. 
 

C. Distance certifications: An application for a Wind Farm shall be 
accompanied by a current certificate and straight-line drawing prepared 
within thirty (30) days prior to application by a registered land surveyor 
depicting the property lines and the structures within two miles of the 
property to be certified; that shall minimally include the property lines of 
any church, synagogue or temple, hospital, public school or public park, or 

https://fwsprimary.wim.usgs.gov/wetlands/apps/wetlands-mapper/
https://fwsprimary.wim.usgs.gov/wetlands/apps/wetlands-mapper/


 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

55 

any day care center or day care home within two-miles of the property to 
be certified; and the property lines of any property zoned Agricultural 
Residential (AGR) by the Zoning Map of Buffalo County within two miles of 
the property to be certified.    
 
D. For purposes of this sub-section, a use shall be considered existing 
if it is in existence at the time an application is submitted. (Resolution 3-
14-2023) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

56 

ARTICLE 7 
 

PARKING REGULATIONS 
 

7.1 GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 

1. All buildings and structures erected and all uses of land in all districts 
established after the effective date of this Ordinance shall provide accessory 
parking and loading facilities as required under this section. 

 
2. All off-street parking spaces required by this Ordinance shall be located on 

the same lots as the use it serves. 
 

3. Owners of two or more uses or parcels of land may agree to jointly utilize the 
same parking spaces provided that satisfactory legal evidence is presented 
in the form of deeds, leases, or contract documents to establish such a joint 
area of use. 

 
4. All yard area including driveways, except the required front yard for 

residential uses may be used for off-street parking.  Garages and driveways 
may be considered as off-street parking spaces. 

 
5. A plan, drawn to scale, indicated how the off-street parking and loading 

requirements are to be met, shall accompany an application for a zoning 
permit.  The plan shall show all elements necessary to indicate that the 
requirements are being fulfilled. 

 
7.2 OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS 
 

At the time of construction, alteration or enlargement of a structure or building or 
change in the use of land, off-street parking spaces and loading areas shall be  
provided, constructed, and maintained for all uses as follows:    

 
 
 
Use 

 
Minimum Number  
of Parking Spaces 

 
1. Residential 

Single family, two-family dwelling 
 
 
1 per dwelling unit 

 
2. 

 
Mobile Home Trailer Park 

 
1 per trailer unit 

 
3. 

 
Hotel and Motel 

 
1 per rental unit plus  
1 for every 4 employees 

 
4. 

 
Hospitals, nursing homes, rest homes,  
Or similar uses 

 
1 for every 2 ½ patient beds and 1 for 
each staff and employee on the largest 
shift 

               



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

57 

5. Places of public assembly such as 
auditoriums, theaters, stadiums, community 
halls, churches, etc. 

1 per every four persons 1 per 200 
square feet of floor area as determined 
by interior wall dimensions 

 
6. 

 
Bowling Alley 

 
2 for each alley 

 
7. 

 
Retails sales department stores, 
restaurants, taverns, grocery stores, etc. 

 
1 per 200 square feet of floor area as 
determined by exterior wall dimensions 

 
8. 

 
Professional office establishments 

 
1 per 500 square feet of floor area as 
determined by exterior wall dimensions 

 
9. 

 
Manufacturing, wholesale warehouse and 
similar uses 

 
1 for every 2 employees on the largest 
working shift 

 
7.3 OFF-STREET LOADING REQUIREMENTS 
 

At the time of construction, alteration or enlargement of any structure or building 
except residences and farms having an aggregate gross floor area of 500 square 
feet or more, off-street loading areas shall be provided and maintained for all uses 
as follows: 
Number Loading Area  Gross Floor Area 

1. One  500 square feet For every 5,000 to 20,000 square feet 
2. One  500 square feet For every 20,000 square feet or fraction thereof 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

58 

ARTICLE 8 
 
 ACCESSORY USES 
 
8.1   ACCESSORY BUILDING 
 

Buildings and structures may be erected and land may be used for purposes, which 
are clearly incidental to, and customarily and commonly associated with the main 
permitted use of the premises.  Such accessory buildings, structures and uses shall 
be so constructed, maintained and conducted as to not produce noise, vibration, 
concussion, dust, dirt, fly ash, odor, noxious gases, heat or glare which is injurious, 
damaging, unhealthful or disturbing to adjacent property, or the users thereof, and 
shall be on the premises of the main use. 
 
Accessory buildings and structures shall not occupy more than thirty percent of the 
area of the side, front, and rear yards. Any accessory building and/or structure 
and/or use comprised of two hundred (200) square feet or less is exempted from 
the need to obtain a zoning permit, but shall have a minimum yard setback as 
required within the zoning district.  Attached garages, attached to the principal 
structure, shall be are considered part of principal building. (Resolution 02-11-2020) 
(Resolution 02-09-2021) 

 
8.2   HOME OCCUPATIONS 
 

An occupation or activity carried on within the dwelling or accessory building by a 
member of the family residing on the premises, which occupation or activity is 
incidental and secondary to the residential occupancy and does not change the 
residential character nor infringe upon the right of neighboring residents to enjoy a 
peaceful occupancy of their homes. 

 
The following conditions and restrictions shall apply to such customary home 
occupations: 

 
1. The primary use of the building or structure in which the occupation is situated shall 

clearly be the dwelling used by the person as his private residence. 
 

2. No equipment or machinery shall be used in such activities that are perceptible off 
the premises by reason of noise, smoke, odor, dust, radiation, electrical 
interference, or vibration.  Parking shall be handled in such a manner as to not 
impede or hinder traffic on any public right of way. 

 
8.3  SIGNS.   
 
All signs, regardless of the need to obtain a zoning permit, shall not impair visibility along 
any street or road. The approval of the County Highway Superintendent is needed before 
placing a sign within fifty feet of public road street right-of-way to ensure no issues exist, as 
to visibility.  A sign permit that is issuable by a permit by right can be included in a zoning 
permit for a structure to which the zoning permit pertains.   In this situation, there shall be 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

59 

no additional payment of zoning fees for the sign that accompanies the structure. 
(Resolution 3-14-2023) 
 

8.31. Signs Allowed as a Use by Right partially exempted. The following signs are 
allowed as a use by right by submittal of zoning application and without need of 
payment of permit fee, but subject to approval by the County Highway Superintendent 
if located within fifty feet of a public road street right-of-way, in the various zoning 
districts if listed in the particular applicable zoning district (Resolution 3-14-2023): 

 
1. Signs erected by, or required by a public entity that has power to 

condemn, 
2. Permanent sign(s) with an signage area of nine (9) square feet or less,  
3. Permanent sign(s) for church(s) or cemeteries with a signage area of 

twenty (20) square feet or less, or 
4. Temporary sign, whether affixed to the ground or on a trailer, with a 

signage area of thirty-three (33) square feet or less, 
5. These signs are subject to any regulation State regulation when located 

within sight of a State or Federal Highway. 
 

8.32 Signs Allowed by Right and/or Special Permit. Signs not meeting the criteria 
set out in Sec. 8.31 shall be allowed only by special permit as allowed  as provided in 
the various zoning districts. Minimally these shall be required to (Resolution 3-14-
2023): 

 
1. Maintain as a minimum setback from all property lines a distance equal in feet 

to the square root of the area of the sign, plus the height, both measured in 
feet, rounded up, which said distance shall be measured from the nearest 
edge of the sign to any property line.  

 
2. Comply with any state and/or federal regulations relating to signage.   Buffalo 

County in granting any permit for signage makes no assurance as to 
compliance with state and/or federal regulations relating to signage. (Resolution 
3-14-2023) 
 

3. Have permission from the Nebraska Department of Transportation, if located 
along, or in, a Federal or State Maintained highway, or Buffalo County 
Highway Superintendent, or both, if placed on land that abuts a parcel 
abutting both state and locally controlled or maintained highways, streets, 
and/or roads.  These agencies shall have the sole judgment as to whether the 
sign, either as erected or maintained, may obscure or otherwise physically 
interfere, or cause confusion with any official traffic sign, signal, or device, or 
obstruct or physically interfere with a driver’s view of approaching, merging, or 
intersecting traffic. 

 
3. Meet the following, location, setback, and size limitations, unless a more 
limiting size is set out for the particularized use relating to the sign: 

 
Specific size requirement for each zoning district are is given in this table: 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

60 

Zoning District   Agriculture 
(AG) 

Agricultural - 
Residential 

(AGR) 

Rural 
Conservation 

(RC) 
Commercial 

(C) Industrial (I) 

Sign Class   I II I II I II I II I II 
                        

Maximum Size                       
(square feet)*:    50 300 25 75 25 25 No Limit No Limit 

Maximum Height:                                         
(feet)   10 35 10 20 10 10 35 50 35 50 

Space, Minimum 
Linear Distance 
Between Signs 

(feet): 
  No 

Limit 1000 1 Per Lot 1 Per Lot 
No 

Limit 250 
No 

Limit 250 
Illumination 

Allowed:   Yes Yes Yes Yes No No Yes Yes Yes Yes 
Minimum Distance 
from Intersection                    

(feet): 
  

50 150 50 50 50 50 50 150 50 150 
Maximum Length                                             

(feet):   10 30 10 15 10 10 30 30 30 30 
Minimum Distance 

from Public 
Property Use Land:                                                  
Other than 8.32 (1) 

& Other than Streets 

  

None 50 None 50 None 50 None 150 50 150 
Minimum Distance 
from Any Property 

Line: 
  The square root of the area of the sign, plus the height of the sign, both 

measured in feet, with each number rounded up prior to addition of the two. 

            
*All measurements are in feet.          
 

For purposes of Sign classification as either “I” or “II” in this chart, the following definitions 
apply: 

 
CLASS I SIGNS: Sign(s) that only advertise activities conducted on the property on which the 
sign(s) are located. 
 
CLASS II SIGNS: All other outdoor advertising signage, which includes including bill boards, 
which are not Class I signs, that are not excluded from other requirements of these zoning 
regulations or issued special use permits. 
 

1.  “All zoning permits issued by Buffalo County are subject to any rule or 
regulation of the Nebraska Department of Transportation relating to placement of 
advertising signage.  That Department’s regulations relating to sign(s) are 
adopted by reference as a part of these regulations.  The state regulations shall 
apply with the area of their jurisdiction except where local zoning rules impose a 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

61 

stricter standard.   In areas subject to state jurisdiction, the applicant shall be 
required to obtain a state permit prior to issuance of a county zoning permit.” 
 

8.4 YARD REGULATIONS: (Resolution 3-11-08) 
 

8.41 FRONT YARDS: The front yards heretofore established shall be adjusted in 
the following cases: (Resolution 3-11-08) 

 
Where forty percent (40%) or more of the frontage on one side of a street 
between two intersecting streets is developed and the buildings on this side 
of a block have observed a front yard greater in depth than herein required, 
new buildings shall not be erected closer to the street than the average front 
yard so established by the existing buildings provided that no building shall 
be required to have a front yard setback of more than fifty (50) feet. 

 
Where forty percent (40%) or more of the frontage on one side of a street 
between two intersecting streets is developed with buildings that have a front 
yard less than the required, new buildings shall not be erected closer to the 
street than the nearest building on the block. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

62 

ARTICLE 9 
 

 COUNTY BOARD OF ZONING ADJUSTMENT 
 
9.1   CREATION, MEMBERSHIP 
 

The County Board of Zoning Adjustment is hereby created and shall be known as 
the County Board of Zoning Adjustment.  The members of said board shall be 
appointed by the County Board. 

 
One (1) member only of said board shall be appointed from membership of the 
Planning Commission and the loss of membership on the Planning Commission by 
such member shall also result in the immediate loss of membership on the County 
Board of Zoning Adjustment. 

 
Said board shall consist of five regular members, plus one additional member 
designated as an alternate who shall attend and serve only when one of the regular 
members is unable to attend for any reason, each to be appointed for a term of 
three (3) years and removable for cause by the County Board upon written charges 
and after public hearings.  Vacancies shall be filled for the unexpired terms of any 
member whose terms becomes vacant.  (Ref. 23-168.01  RS. Neb) 

 
9.2  MEETINGS 
 

Meetings of the Board of Zoning Adjustment shall be held at the call of the 
chairperson and at such times as the Board may determine.  The Board shall keep 
minutes of its proceedings, showing the vote of each member upon each question, 
or if absent or failing to vote, indicating such fact, and shall keep records of its 
examinations and other official actions, all of which shall be immediately filed in the 
office of the county clerk and shall be a public record. 

 
9.3  INTERPRETATIONS AND VARIANCES 
 

9.31 The Board of Adjustment shall, subject to appropriate conditions and 
safeguards as specified in these regulations, have the following powers (Ref. 23-
168.03 R.S. Neb.): 

 
1. To hear and decide appeals where it is alleged there is error in any order, 

requirement, decision or determination made by an administrative official or 
Planning Commission based on or made in the enforcement of any zoning 
regulation or any regulation relating to the location or soundness of 
structures; 

 
2. To hear and decide, in accordance with the provisions of any regulation, 

requests for interpretation of any maps, or for decisions upon other special 
questions upon which the Board is authorized by any such regulation to 
pass; and 

 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

63 

3. Where by reason of exceptional narrowness, shallowness, or shape of a 
specific piece of property at the time of adoption of the Zoning Resolution, or 
by reason of exceptional topographic conditions or other extraordinary and 
exceptional situation or condition of such piece of property, the strict 
application of any enacted regulation under this act would result in peculiar 
and exceptional practical difficulties to, or exceptional and undue hardships 
upon the owner of such property, to authorize, upon appeal relating to the 
property, a variance from such strict application so as to relieve such 
difficulties or hardships, if such relief may be granted without substantial 
detriment to the public good and without substantially impairing the intent 
and purpose of these zoning regulations, but no such variance shall be 
authorized unless the Board finds that: 

 
A. The strict application of the regulation would produce undue hardship; 

 
B. Such hardship is not shared generally by other properties in the same 

zoning district and the same vicinity; 
 

C. The authorization of such variance will not be of substantial detriment 
to adjacent property and the character of the district will not be changed 
by the granting of the variance; and 

 
D. The granting of such variance is based upon reasons of demonstrable 

and exceptional hardship as distinguished from variations for purposes of 
convenience, profit or caprice. 

 
9.32  No variance shall be authorized unless the Board finds that the condition or 
situation of the property concerned or the intended use of the property is not of so 
general or recurring a nature as to make reasonable practicable the formulation of a 
general regulation to be adopted as an amendment to the zoning regulations. 

 
9.33  In exercising the above-mentioned powers such Board may, in conformity 
with the provisions of said sections, reverse or affirm, wholly or partly, or may 
modify the order, requirement, decision or determination appealed from, and may 
make such orders, determine time limitations for commencement and substantial 
completion of work, unless otherwise specifically stated, construction requested on 
such variance shall commence within 120 days after authorization and shall be 
substantially completed two years after commencement, requirements, decisions or 
determinations as shall be proper, and to that end shall have all the powers of the 
officer from whom the appeal is taken.  The concurring vote of four (4) members of 
the board shall be necessary to reverse any order, requirement, decision or 
determination of any such administrative official, or to decide in favor of the 
applicant on any matter upon which it is required to pass under any such regulation 
or to effect affect any variation in such regulation. (Resolution 10-10-03) 

 
9.4  PROCEDURES FOR REQUESTING A VARIANCE 
 

The procedures to be followed by the Board of Zoning Adjustment shall be as 
follows. 

 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

64 

9.41  Appeals to the Board may be taken by any person aggrieved or by any officer, 
department, governmental agency affected by any decision of the zoning 
administrator.  Such appeal shall be made within ten (10) days from the date of 
decision by any county officer or department.  The appeal filed in writing shall 
define the appeal being requested and the grounds therefore.  The officer from 
whom the appeal is taken shall forthwith transmit to the Zoning Board of Adjustment 
all the paper constituting the record upon which the action appealed from was 
taken. 

 
9.42  The Chairperson of the Board shall set a hearing within thirty (30) days of receipt 
of the appeal.  The time, date, place of the hearing, and description of the request shall 
be published in a local newspaper of general circulation ten (10) days prior to the actual 
hearing. NOTICE The Board shall also notify provide notice to the interested parties ten 
(10) days prior to the hearing date, in the case of which includes the hearing date, time 
and place of the hearing. The prescribed method of giving notice, unless otherwise 
specifically changed by the action being taken, shall be as follows: 

A. Adjoining landowners:  Notice(s) for any public hearing shall be sent to 
owners of record who have property three hundred (300) or less feet from 
outside borders of tract(s) and/or if streets or roads abut the property that is the 
subject of the action extending three hundred (300) feet from the street frontage 
of such opposite lots measured from the opposite side of the road, sought to be 
vacated at least ten (10) days before the Commission and County Board public 
hearing(s). Receipt of such notice is not mandatory or required as a condition 
precedent to any such public hearing. 

B. Publication  Notice of the public hearings shall also be given by publication of 
notice of said hearing one time at least ten (10) days prior to such hearing in a 
daily newspaper having a general circulation in the City of Kearney and Buffalo 
County. 

C. Property shall be described  For notices to adjoining landowners and by 
publication, the notice(s) for  shall clearly describe the plat or portion thereof to 
be considered at the public hearing and state the time and place of the meetings 
of the Commission and The Board of Commissioners at which the consideration 
and adoption of the resolution will be voted upon. 

D. Posting on the property:  Notice of such hearing shall also be posted ten (10) days 
in advance of the public hearing(s) concerning the property in a conspicuous place on 
or near the property in sign form to seeking action in the public hearing. 
 
 
9.5  APPEALS FROM THE BOARD OF ZONING ADJUSTMENT 
 

Any person or persons, jointly or separately, aggrieved by any decision of the 
Board of Zoning Adjustment, or any officer, departments, board or bureau of the 
County, may seek review of such decision by the district court for the County in the 
manner provided by the laws of the State and particularly by Section 23-168.04. 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

65 

ARTICLE 10 
 
  ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS, ENFORCEMENT 
 AND FEES 
10.1 ENFORCEMENT 
 

10.11 ZONING ADMINISTRATOR.  This resolution shall be enforced and 
administered by a zoning administrator who shall be appointed by the County 
Board and who may be provided with the assistance of such other persons as the 
County Board may direct in order to carry out the following duties and 
responsibilities: 

 
1. Approve and issue all zoning permits, zoning permits and occupancy 

certificates when compliance is made with this resolution. 
 

2. Conduct inspections of buildings, structures and uses of land to determine 
compliance with the provisions of this resolution. 

 
3. Receive, file and forward to the County Board of Zoning Adjustment the 

records in all appeals for variances. 
 

4. Maintain permanent and current records of the Zoning Resolution including 
but not limited to, all zoning maps, amendments, special use permits, 
variances, appeals and applications thereof and records of hearings 
thereon. 

 
5. Prepare and have available in book, pamphlet or map for each year. 

 
A. The compiled text of the Zoning Resolution and amendments thereto, 

including all amendments adopted through the preceding twelve 
months; and 

 
B. A zoning map or maps, showing the zoning districts, divisions and 

classifications in effect on the preceding twelve months.  
 

6. Whenever the Zoning Administrator shall find that any of the provisions of 
this resolution have been or are being violated, he/she shall notify in writing 
the person responsible for such violation, indicating the nature of the 
violation and ordering the action necessary to correct it.  He/she may order 
discontinuance of illegal use of land, buildings or structures; removal of 
illegal buildings, structures or additions or alterations thereto; discontinuance 
of any illegal work being done; or take any other appropriate action 
authorized by this resolution to insure ensure compliance with, or to prevent 
violation of, its provisions. 

 
 
 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

66 

10.2 ZONING PERMITS 
 

10.21 GENERAL. No zoning or other structure shall be erected, moved, added to, 
demolished, or structurally altered, without a zoning permit first having been 
issued by the Zoning Administrator.  No zoning permit shall be issued unless 
the proposed construction or use is in conformance with all of the provisions 
of this resolution and with all other applicable codes, regulations and laws of 
Buffalo County and with all orders, and variances lawfully issued by the Board 
of Adjustment. 

 
10.22 APPLICATION FOR ZONING PERMIT.  All applications for a zoning permit 

shall be accompanied by a plot plan showing the location, ground area, 
height and bulk of all present and proposed structures, additions, parking 
areas and site improvements; the actual dimensions and shape of the lot 
lines; the uses to be built upon; the building lines in proposed structures or 
additions; and any other reasonable and pertinent information as may be 
required by the Zoning Administrator or the proper enforcement of this 
resolution. 

 
1. NEED OF PROFESSIONAL DESIGN AND SUPERVISION TO OBTAIN 

ZONING PERMIT FOR PUBLIC STRUCTURES, BUILDINGS, GATHERING 
PLACES AND EMERGENCY INTERCONNECTIVITY COMPLIANCE.  All 
building construction and development for the structures and uses described 
in Section 10.22 (2) shall be in conformity with these regulations with the 
following additional regulations.  

 
2. A licensed Engineer and/or Architect shall sign a letter of approval of plans, for 

a structure, or change in use of a structure, to accompany any zoning permit 
for structures and uses described in this section. This professional statement 
shall also include a certification by the Engineer and/or Architect that the 
structure(s) described in on the zoning permit, after finished construction, is 
compliant with 2012 IFC (International Fire Code) SECTION 510 
EMERGENCY RESPONDER RADIO COVERAGE interconnectivity needs of 
emergency personnel and services together with any needed professional 
review as required by the Nebraska Engineers and Architects Regulation Act.  
(Neb.Rev.Stat. 81-3401 as of 10/19/23 or as subsequently amended)  
 

A. This provision applies to zoning permits issued for:  
 

1. The construction, remodeling, alteration, or 
renovation of a detached single-family through four-
family dwelling of comprised of greater than five 
thousand square feet of above-grade finished space. 
Any detached or attached sheds, storage buildings, 
and/or garages incidental to the dwelling are not 
included in the tabulation of finished space. 
  



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

67 

2. The construction, remodeling, alteration, or 
renovation of a one-story commercial or industrial 
building or structure comprised of:  

 
a.  An area greater than five ten thousand 
square feet of above grade finished space,  
 
b.  A height that exceeds thirty feet, or 

 
c.  After completion of the erection of the 
permitted structure, or the remodeling or 
repairing thereof, provides for the employment, 
housing, or assembly of twenty or more persons.  

 
d.  Exempted from this requirement are:  

 
1.  Any detached or attached sheds, 
storage buildings, and garages 
incidental to the building or structure, the 
area of which are not included in the 
tabulation of finished space.  
 
2.   The construction, remodeling, 
alteration, or renovation of farm 
buildings, including barns, silos, sheds, 
or housing for farm equipment and 
machinery, livestock, poultry, or storage, 
if the structures are designed to be 
occupied by no more than twenty 
persons.” 

 
3. After finished construction, and/or change of use, if an existing structure, the 

structure shall be tested as being is compliant with 2012 IFC SECTION 510 
EMERGENCY RESPONDER RADIO COVERAGE interconnectivity needs 
of emergency personnel and services for this County.  This interconnectivity 
needs test shall be conducted by the Buffalo County Sheriff’s Office, or an 
approved testing entity previously approved in writing by the Buffalo County 
Sheriff’s Office.   The Sheriff’s Office is authorized to change a fee for this 
service, with the fee being published as an additional cost fee, for zoning 
permits, paid to the Sheriff’s Office.  A report of interconnectivity compliance 
or noncompliance will be filed with the zoning permit application.   

 
10.23 APPROVAL OR DISAPPROVAL OF PERMIT.  The Zoning Administrator 

shall examine all applications for zoning permits, including plans, 
specifications and documents filed therewith and shall either approve or 
disapprove such application within thirty (30) days of receipt of same with 
review of Floodplain Administrator to occur with same timeframe.  Upon 
approval and receipt of required fees, the Zoning Administrator shall promptly 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

68 

issue the zoning permit and shall affix his/her signature to the permit and the 
plans and mark the plans "Approved."  Upon disapproval of the application, 
the Zoning Administrator shall refuse to issue the permit and shall state in 
writing on the plans the reasons for disapproval, affix his/her signature and 
mark the plans "Disapproved." 

 
10.24  EXPIRATION OF ZONING OR OTHER GRANTED PERMIT:  If the 

work described in any zoning permit, when issued by use of right has not 
commenced within 120 days from the date of issuance thereof, said permit 
shall expire, it shall be cancelled by the County Zoning Administrator with 
written notice thereof give to the person affected.  Resolution 10-10-03) 

 
If the work described in any zoning permit, when issued by use of right, has 
not been completed within two years of the date of issuance thereof, said 
permit shall expire and be cancelled by the County Zoning Administrator, and 
written notice thereof shall be given to the persons affected together with 
notice that further work as described in the cancelled permit shall not proceed 
unless and until a new zoning permit has been obtained.  (Resolution 10-10-
03) 

 
10.25  APPEAL FROM APPROVAL OR DISAPPROVAL.  An appeal from approval  

or disapproval of any Application shall be made to the Board of Adjustment in 
writing within ten (10) days after the determination of the Zoning Administrator 
has been filed. 

 
10.26 NOT REQUIRED.  Zoning permits are not required for buildings utilized for 

agricultural purposes on a farmstead of twenty acres or more which produces 
one thousand dollars or more of farm products each year.  For computation of 
twenty acres the land used as a farmstead need not be a contiguous singular 
parcel of real estate when such twenty-acre farmstead is located in AG. (R.S. 
Neb. 23-114.03) 

 
10.3 FORM OF PETITIONS, APPLICATIONS AND APPEALS 
 

10.31  A verbal decision by the Zoning Administrator except in the cases of 
building, occupancy shall be the primary instrument for administering compliance 
with this resolution. 

 
10.4 SCHEDULE OF FEES 
 

10.41  The schedule of fees shall be established for this Zoning Resolution to cover 
costs of administration by the County Board. 

 
The schedule of fees shall be posted in the office of the Zoning Administrator and 
may be altered or amended only by the County Board. Until all applicable fees, 
charges and expenses have been paid in full, no action shall be taken on any 
application or appeal. 
   



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

69 

ARTICLE 11 
 

 AMENDMENT 
11.1   GENERAL 
 

The County Board may from time-to-time supplement, change or generally revise 
the boundaries or regulations contained in this resolution amendment.  A proposal 
for such amendment may be initiated by the County Board, Planning Commission 
or upon application of the owner of the property affected.  A filing fee established by 
the County Board is required for each application to be considered by the Planning 
Commission. 
 
The regulations, restrictions and boundaries set forth in this Resolution may from 
time to time be amended, supplemented, changed or repealed, provided however 
that no such action may be taken until after public hearing in relation thereto, at 
which parties in interest and citizens shall have an opportunity to be heard. At least 
ten days’ notice of the time and place of such hearing shall be published in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the county. 

 
11.2   SUBMISSION TO PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

All such proposed amendments shall first be submitted to the Planning Commission 
for recommendation and report. Upon the development of tentative 
recommendations, the Planning Commission shall hold a public hearing thereon 
and shall cause an accurate written summary to be made of proceedings, and shall 
give notice in like manner as that required for the original zoning recommendations. 
Such notice shall fix affix the time and place for such hearing and contain a 
statement regarding the proposed changes in regulations or restrictions or in the 
boundary of any district. 

 
If such proposed amendment is not a general revision of an existing provision of 
this resolution, and will affect specific property, it shall be designated by legal 
description and general street location and in addition to such publication notice, 
written notice of such proposed amendment shall be mailed to all owners of lands 
located within three hundred (300) feet of the area proposed to be altered and an 
opportunity granted to interested parties to be heard. 
 
An amendment may be initiated by the County Board of Commissioners by a 
motion of the County Board, by the Planning Commission by motion of a member 
of the Planning and Zoning Commission, or by written petition of any property 
owner addressed to the County Board of Commissioners. The County Board of 
Commissioners shall act on any petition prior to 120 days of date of receipt. 
Having once considered a petition, the County Board of Commissioners will not 
consider substantially the same petition or proposal for one year from date of 
rejection.  If the amendment request is not acted upon by the County Board after  
120 days of receipt, the proposal shall be deemed to be denied by the County 
Board. 

 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

70 

All proposed amendments, except those initiated by the Planning Commission, shall  be 
submitted to the Planning Commission for study and recommendation. The Planning 
Commission shall study the proposals to determine: 
 

A. The need and justification for the change. 
B.  When pertaining to a change in the district classification of property, the effect of 

the change, if any, on the property and on surrounding properties. 
C. When pertaining to a change in the district classification of property, the amount 

of undeveloped land in the general area and in the county having the same district 
classification as requested. 

D. The relationship of the proposed amendment to the purposes of the general 
planning program, with appropriate consideration as to whether the proposed 
change will further the purpose of this Resolution and the Comprehensive Plan. 

 
Within 60 days from the date that any proposed amendment is referred to it (unless a 
longer period shall have been established by mutual agreement between the County 
Board of Commissioners and the Planning Commission in the particular case), the 
Planning Commission shall submit its report and recommendation to the County Board of 
Commissioners.  
 
A vote either for or against an amendment by a majority of all the Planning Commission 
members present shall constitute a recommendation of the Commission; whereas a vote 
either for or against an amendment by less than a majority of the Planning Commission 
present constitutes a failure to recommend. When amending zoning district boundaries, 
the Planning Commission and County Board where applicable and authorized may place 
conditions upon property sought to be re-zoned. (Resolution 9-14-04)  
 
When the Planning Commission submits a recommendation of approval or disapproval of 
the proposed amendment, and the County Board agrees with the recommendation of the 
Planning Commission, then the County Board, may by simple majority vote, adopt the 
recommendation of approval or denial of the proposed all done by resolution. 
 
When the Planning Commission submits a recommendation of approval or disapproval of 
the proposed amendment, and the County Board does not agree with the 
recommendation of the Planning Commission, then the County Board, by no less than 
two-thirds majority vote may modify the Planning Commission’s recommendation and 
adopt the amendment as modified by the Board all done by resolution. 
 
When the Planning Commission submits a failure to recommend then the County Board 
may take such action as it deems appropriate with the final decision of the County Board 
done by resolution.    
 
If the amendment shall affect the boundaries of any district, the resolution shall define the 
change or the boundary as amended, shall order the Official Zoning Map(s) to be changed 
to reflect such amendment, and shall amend the section of the resolution incorporating the 
same and reincorporate such Map as amended. 

 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

71 

11.3   AMENDMENT CONSIDERATION AND ADOPTION  NOTICE 
 

The procedure for the consideration and adoption of any such proposed 
amendments shall be in like manner as that required for the consideration and 
adoption of the resolution except herein before or herein after modified.  For action 
on zoning amendments, a quorum of the Planning Commission is more than one-
half (½) of all the members.  A vote either for or against an amendment by a 
majority of all the Planning Commission members present constitutes a 
recommendation of the commission; whereas a vote either for or against an 
amendment by less than a majority of the Planning Commission present constitutes 
a failure to recommend.  When amending zoning district boundaries, the Planning 
Commission and County Board where applicable and authorized may place 
conditions upon property sought to be re-zoned.  (Resolution 9-14-04) 
 
When the Planning Commission submits a recommendation of approval or 
disapproval of such amendment, the County Board, if it approves such 
recommendation, may either adopt such recommendation by resolution or take no 
further action thereof as appropriate.  In the event the Planning Commission 
submits a failure to recommend, the County Board may take such action as it 
deems appropriate.  Upon receipt of a recommendation of the Planning 
Commission which the County Board disapproves, the said governing body shall 
return such recommendation to the Planning Commission with a statement 
specifying the basis for disapproval, and such recommendation shall be considered 
in like manner as that required for the original recommendation returned to the 
Planning Commission. If such amendment shall affect the boundaries of any 
district, the resolution shall define the change or the boundary as amended, shall 
order the Official Zoning Map(s) to be changed to reflect such amendment, and 
shall amend the section of the resolution incorporating the same and reincorporate 
such Map as amended. 
 
Notice of hearing for an amendment for hearing at the Planning Commission and/or 
Board of County Commissioners shall fix the time and place for the amendment 
hearing and contain a statement regarding the proposed changes in regulations or 
restrictions or in the boundary of any district. If the proposed amendment is not a 
general revision of an existing provision of this resolution, and will affect specific 
property, it shall be designated by legal description and general street location.  In 
addition to such publication notice, written notice of such proposed amendment 
shall be mailed to all owners of lands located within three hundred (300) feet of the 
area proposed to be altered and an opportunity granted to interested parties to be 
heard.   Also, in addition to the proposed notices, notice of the hearing shall also be 
posted ten (10) days in advance of the public hearing(s) concerning the property in 
a conspicuous place on or near the property to seeking action in the public hearing. 

 
11.4   PROTEST 
 

Regardless of whether or not the Planning Commission approves or disapproves a 
proposed zoning amendment or fails to recommend, if a protest against such 
amendment be filed in the office of the County Clerk within seven (7) days after the 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

72 

date of the conclusion of the Planning Commission’s public hearing pursuant to 
said publication notice, duly signed and acknowledged by the owners of twenty 
percent (20%) or more either of the area of the lots included in such proposed 
change, or of those immediately adjacent in the rear thereof extending one hundred 
(100) feet therefrom, or of those directly opposite thereto extending one hundred 
(100) feet from the street frontage of such opposite lots, such amendments shall 
not become effective except by the favorable vote of two-thirds (2/3) majority of the 
County Board.  (Resolution 10-10-03) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

73 

ARTICLE 12 
 
 COMPLAINTS, PENALTIES, REMEDIES 
 
12.1   COMPLAINTS REGARDING VIOLATIONS 
 

Whenever a violation of this resolution occurs, or is alleged to have occurred, any 
person may file a written complaint.  Such complaint stating fully the causes and 
basis thereof shall be filed with the Zoning Administrator.  He/she shall record 
properly such complaint, immediately investigate, and take action thereon as 
provided by this resolution. 

 
12.2   PENALTIES 
 

The owner or agent of a building or premises in or upon which a violation of any 
provisions of this resolution has been committed or shall exist or lessee or tenant of 
an entire building or entire premises in or upon which such violation shall exist, shall 
be guilty of a Class III misdemeanor.  Each and every day that such violation 
continues after notification shall constitute a separate offense.  (Resolution 11-8-05) 

 
Nothing herein contained shall prevent the County from taking such other lawful 
action as is necessary to prevent or remedy any violation. 

 
12.3   REMEDIES 
 

In case any building or structure is erected, constructed, reconstructed, altered, 
repaired, converted, or maintained; or any building, structure or land is used in 
violation of this resolution the appropriate authorities of the County may institute 
any appropriate action or proceedings to prevent such unlawful erection, 
construction, reconstruction, alteration, repair, conversion, maintenance or use; to 
restrain, correct or abate such violation; to prevent the occupancy of said building, 
structure or land; or to prevent any illegal act, conduct, business or use in or about 
such premises. 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

74 

ARTICLE 13 
 
 LEGAL STATUS PROVISIONS 
 
13.1   SEPARABILITY 
 

Should any article, section or provisions of this resolution be declared by the courts 
to be unconstitutional or invalid, such decisions shall not affect the validity of this 
resolution as a whole, or any part thereof other than the part so declared to be 
unconstitutional or invalid. 

 
13.2   PURPOSE OF CATCH HEADS 
 

The catch heads appearing in connection with the foregoing sections are inserted 
simply for convenience, to serve the purpose of any index and they shall be wholly 
disregarded by any person, officer, court, or other tribunal in construing the terms 
and provisions of this resolution. 

 
13.3   PURPOSE OF LEGAL AUTHORITY CITED (Resolution 8-14-07) 

 
The reference to a legal authority or annotation stated under any of the foregoing 
sections, if so stated, is inserted simply for convenience and to serve the purpose 
of referring to suggested statutory authority or other legal authority.  In no event 
shall such reference or annotation be indicative of sole authority of such section or 
regulation. 

 
13.4  REPEAL OF CONFLICTING RESOLUTIONS 
 

All other resolutions and regulations in conflict with this resolution are hereby 
repealed to the extent necessary to give this resolution full force and effect. 

 
13.5    EFFECT DATE 
 

This resolution shall take effect at 12:01 o’clock a.m. January 1, 2003 and be in 
force from and after its passage on September 10, 2002 and publication according 
to law. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

75 

Appendix 
 

“Exhibit A” Nuisance Form 
 

 
(3” Margin) 

 
 

 
BUFFALO COUNTY, NEBRASKA 

 
CONSENT FOR WAIVER FROM DISTANCE 

For Concentrated Animal Feeding Operation 
 
 

NOTICE: This document, as a form, has been prepared by the Buffalo County 
Planning and Zoning Office. 

 
This document can be filed against any real estate described in this document. It 

will run with the land.  Legal descriptions and providing names of property owners 
and all parties of ownership interest of record of this property is the responsibility 

of the applicant. 
 

Zoning Officials take no responsibility for any omissions or errors. 
 

Date: __________________________ 
 

Owner: _____________________________________________________________ 
 

Address: ____________________________________________________________ 
 

Legal Description: _____________________________________________________ 
(Exact legal description of livestock feeding operation site) 

 
 
 
 
 

Consenting Property Owner (Residence and/or Non-residential property owner): 
Name: 

_______________________________________________________________________ 
Address: 

______________________________________________________________________ 
 

I (We) owners(s) of the following legally described property hereby give consent 
to___________ 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

76 

______________________________________________________ to locate/expand a 
Livestock Feeding Operation and/or expand size of lagoon, if used, on the above legally 
described property at/to a level of _________________(State Class II, III, IV, _____) or 

dimensions of lagoon described as:-_______________________________.  This consent 
is required by Buffalo County CAFO Regulations. 

 
If this is consent from a residence: 

 
The legal description of the residential 

_______________________________________________________________________
_______ 

(Exact legal description of residence site) 
_______________________________________________________________________

_______________________________ 
(street address of residence) 

 
If consent is from non-residential property owner then state: 

 
_______________________________________________________________________

________________________________ 
(Exact legal description of nonresidential property) 

 
________________________________________________________ 

Consenting Property/Residence Owner(s) Signature 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ________ day of 
_____________, 20____ 

 
___________________________________________ 

Notary Public 
 

My Commission expires: ________________ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

77 

AMENDMENTS TO SEPTEMBER 10, 2002 ZONING RESOLUTION: 
Resolution Number Resolution Date Section Affected 
2003-16 5-27-03 5.34 
Regular Motion 10-10-03 5.32 
  5.33 
  5.34 
  5.54 
  5.57 
  5.58 
  5.59 
  6.2 
  9.33 
  10.24 
  11.4 
2004-06 3-9-04 6.3 
2004-30 8-10-04 5.16 
  5.34 
  5.36 
2004-31 8-10-04 5.32 
2004-33 9-14-04 11.3 
2005-37 11-8-05 12.2 
2005-38 11-8-05 6.5 
2005-39 11-8-05 2.41 
2006-14 5-9-06 6.6 
  3.66 
  3.74 
2006-29 7-11-06 5.57 
  5.59 
2007-20 6-12-07 3.47 
  3.55 
  3.56 
  3.65 
  6.4 #7 
  6.4 #7A 
  6.4 #7B 
  6.4 #7C 
  6.4 #7D 
2007-32 8-14-07 6.4 #7E 
2007-33 8-14-07 13.3 
2007-54 12-4-07 5.14 #17 
  5.34 #8 
2008-09 2-12-08 5.54 #8 
  3.76 
2008-011 3-11-08 3.38 
  3.39 
  3.71 
  3.72 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

78 

  3.73 
  5.12 #2 
  5.14 #10 
  5.14 #11 
  5.32 #4 
  5.32 #7 
Resolution Number Resolution Date Section Affected 
  5.34 #3 
  5.34 #11 
  5.34 #15 
  5.34 #16 
  5.34 #17 
  8.4 
  8.41 
2009-19 3-24-09 5.34 #18 
  5.34 #19 
2009-20 3-24-09 5.34 #20 
2009-34 5-12-09 5.34 #20 
2010-23 4-13-10 5.12 #1 
  5.14 #12 
  5.32 #1 
  6.4 
2010-24 4-13-10 3.46 
  3.84 
2010-24 4-13-10 3.85 
  5.14 #4 
  5.14 #19 
  5.14 #20 
  5.34 #6 
2011-58 10-11-11 5.57 
  5.66 
2011-59 10-11-11 3.32 
  5.12 #1 
  5.14 #13 
  5.34 #9 
  5.52 #21 
  5.62 #36 
2012-10 4-10-12 5.64 #5 
  5.64 #6 
2012-29 7-10-12 6.4 
2012-30 7-10-12 5.12 #2 
  5.14 #12 
2012-31 7-10-12 5.2 – 5.291 
2012-32 7-10-12 5.54 #9 & #10 
2014-13 3-11-14 Added definitions 
2014-13 3-11-14 5.14 #14 
2014-13 3-11-14 5.54 #11 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

79 

2014-13 3-11-14 6.5 
2017-53 10-10-17 5.14 #13 
  5.34 #7 
2018-03 3-13-18 5.54 #12 
2018-13 5-8-18 5.14 #4 
  5.24 #13 
  5.34 #4 
  5.64 #7 
2019-19 7-9-19 5.17 
  5.28 
2019-44 9-19-19 6.4#6 
2020-03 2-11-20 Solar Energy-Added 

definitions, allowable & 
accessory use 

2020-04 2-11-20 Accessory Bldg Amendment 
– 8.1 

2020-21 6-9-20 5.52 #1,#2, #9, #19 & 5.62 
#2, #15 

2020-31 7-28-2020 Amend 3.3125, 5.32 #7 & 
5.33 #4. 

2020-58 12-8-2020 Remove 5.34 (11) – Mini 
Storage facilities with all 
items enclosed within the 
building or buildings 
(Resolution 3-11-08) & Add 
5.34 (13) – Personal Use 
Solar Energy Systems 

2021-08 2/9/2021 Amend Section 8.1 to add 
“side & front” & to exempt 
200 sq’ structures from 
zoning permits 

2021-33 5/11/2021 Amend Section 3.3172: 
definition of “Structure”. 

2021-41 7/13/2021 Amend Section 10.22 
ensuring compliance with 
applicable rural structures 
and the 2012 IFC Section 
510 Emergency Responder 
Radio Coverage 
interconnectivity needs. 

2021-42 7/13/2021 
 

Add/Amend Sections 
3.3161, 8.3,  5.12, 5.14, 
5.22, 5.24, 5.32, 5.34, 5.52, 
5.54, 5.62, 5.64 regarding 
signage. 

2021-43 7/13/2021 Add/Amend Sections 
3.3130, 3.3133, 3.3169, 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

80 

3.3181, 5.12 (6), 5.16, 5.22 
5.27, 5.32 (2), 5.36,  5.57, 
5.66 

2021-76 11/23/2021 Amend Section 8.3 (1) and 
8.3 (3) 

2021-77 11/23/2021 
 

Amend Sections 5.16 (2B) 
and 5.27 (2B) 

2022-02 2/22/2022 Reformat/Renumber Section 
“14.5”, Adult Entertainment 
to Section “6.5”, Ensure 
Numerical Order. 

2022-12 04/12/2022 Add definition of Butchering 
Facilities (Section 3.3112), 
Add Butchering Facilities to 
Sections 5.62, 5.54, 5.14 & 
5.64. 

2023-09 3/14/2023 Add/Renumber Section 6.6 
to Include Location and 
Distance Requirements for 
Wind Farms 

2023-10 3/14/2023 Dog Breeding 
Establishments, Kennels 
and Domesticated Animal 
Training Facilities: Remove 
Section 5.34 (7); Add to 
Section 5.54, Section 5.64 
and Amend Section 5.14 (4) 
Dog breeding 
establishments, kennels, 
and domesticated animal 
training facilities provided 
that all buildings and 
facilities be at least 100 feet 
from the property line and 
300 feet from any 
neighboring residence. 

2023-11 3/14/2023 Add/Renumber Section 
3.3152 to Define “Paved 
Hard Surfaced Road/Street” 

2023-12 3/14/2023 Amend Section 5.52 (16), 
Section 5.62 (36), Section 
8.3; Remove Section 5.54 
(10) & 5.64 (7) regarding 
signage. 

2023-33 6/13/2023 Amend Section 5.52(12) to 
define “Mini-Storage 
Facilities”. 

2023-34 6/13/2023 Amend Section 6.6 



 

 
Buffalo County Zoning Regulations 

81 

regarding Wind Farms’ 
Location and Distancing 
Requirements 

2023-46   9/12/2023 Amend Section 3.3156 to 
create subcategories and 
outlining requirements of 
rooftop solar unit setbacks. 
 

  Regulation Revision & 
Review as part of The 
Comprehensive Plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



Proposed 
Subdivision 
Regulations 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
1 | P a g e  
 

Legend 
  Already approved and updated.  
  Reviewed/Discussed at April Meeting.                  
  Reviewed/Revised at August Meeting. 
  Reviewed/Revised at October Meeting. 
  Reviewed/Revised at November Meeting. 
  Reviewed/Revised at February Meeting. 
  Reviewed/Revised at October Meeting. 
  Recommended for inclusion by BoC on 2/25/2025. 

 
CHAPTER 1 
 
TITLE AND PURPOSE 
 
Sec. 1.01 NAME AND CITATION OF RESOLUTION  This resolution shall be 
known, referred to and cited as "The Buffalo County Land Subdivision 
Resolution" of County of Buffalo, State of Nebraska. 
 
Sec. 1.02 AUTHORITY  These regulations are adopted and enacted under 
authority of R.R.S., Nebr. 1943, Chapter 23, and amendments thereto, and 
comprise minimum requirements, standards and specifications with respect to 
provisions for the proper location and width of streets, building lines, open 
spaces, safety, recreation; and, for the manner in which streets will be graded 
and improved; and, the extent to which water, sewer and other utility services 
shall be provided; and, to provide for the recommendation for and approval of 
preliminary plats and final plats and endorsement thereof by the Buffalo County 
Planning and Zoning Commission and by the County Board of Supervisors. The 
Buffalo County Board of Commissioners.  No plat of a subdivision shall be 
approved and accepted by the County or be filed with any title recording agency 
unless it conforms to the provisions of these regulations.  
 
Sec. 1.03 JURISDICTION  The provisions of this County Resolution shall apply 
within the area of planning and zoning jurisdiction as defined on the Official 
Zoning Map of Buffalo County as may be amended from time to time. 
 
Sec. 1.04 APPLICABILITY  Any plat, hereafter made, for each subdivision or 
part thereof lying within the jurisdiction of this County Resolution, shall be 
prepared for approval and recorded as herein prescribed. All lots approved in any 
subdivision shall conform to the requirements of the Zoning Regulations of 
Buffalo County for the zoning district where located. The regulations contained 
herein shall apply to the subdivision of a lot, tract, parcel of land into two or more 
lots, tracts, or other division of land for the purpose of sale or development, 
whether immediate or future, including the re-subdivision or re-platting of land or 
lots.  Further, the regulations set forth by this County Resolution shall be 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
2 | P a g e  
 

minimum regulations which shall apply uniformly throughout the jurisdiction of 
this County Resolution except as hereafter provided. 
 

A. Plat Approval Required  No subdivision of land shall be permitted within 
the jurisdiction of this County Resolution unless a plat is approved in 
accordance with the provisions of this County Resolution.   

B. Sales of Unsubdivided Land Prohibited  No lot in a subdivision may be 
sold, transferred, no permit to erect, alter, or repair any building upon land 
in a subdivision may be issued, and no building may be erected in a 
subdivision unless a final plat has been approved by the County Board 
and recorded with the Buffalo County Register of Deeds. 

 
Sec. 1.05 MINIMUM ACCESS REQUIREMENTS  No subdivision of land, 
regardless of acreage involved, shall be permitted within the jurisdiction of 
Buffalo County unless the property subdivided and all portions therein abuts and 
have access to, before and after subdividing, a dedicated and maintained public 
street(s) and/or road(s), or private streets as private streets are allowed to be 
created in this Resolution (Resolution 7-13-2021). 
 
Sec. 1.06 EXEMPTED INSTANCES  These regulations shall not apply to the 
following: 
 
More than Ten Acres  These regulations shall not apply to the following:  
 

A. More than Ten Acres To a subdivision of land whereby the smallest 
parcel created or remaining is more than ten (10) acres, net of any private 
and/or public road reservation, dedication, right-of-way, or occupation and 
such land abuts dedicated and maintained public road or street or private 
streets as private streets are allowed to be created as provided with this 
resolution (Resolution 7-13-2021). 

B. Burial Lots  The subdivision of burial lots in cemeteries. 
C. Two Lots with Same Use  The combination of two or more lots for one 

principle use. 
D. Boundary Changes.  A change in the boundary between adjoining lands 

where the lot sizes after boundary change comply with all applicable 
subdivision and zoning regulations. 

E. Previously Existing Subdivisions  A subdivision of land, filed of record 
with the Register of Deeds of Buffalo County prior to the effective date of 
this resolution. 

F. Judicial Actions  Judicially ordered land splits, land divisions, and/or 
boundary changes. 

G. Street, Public Utility, Railroad Adjustments  Land used for adjusting 
street or railroad right-of-way, a drainage easement or other public utilities 
subject to local, state or federal regulations, where no new street or 
easement of access is involved. 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
3 | P a g e  
 

H. Government and Public Utility Acquisitions  Any subdivision of land 
caused by the acquisition of land by the Federal Government, State  of 
Nebraska, any natural resource district, any county, city, village or public 
utility having power to condemn. 

 
Sec. 1.07 PURPOSE  This resolution is to provide for the harmonious 
development of Buffalo County, except those areas under the jurisdiction of any 
city or village; for the coordination of streets, roads or highways within 
subdivisions with other existing or planned streets, roads or highways for 
adequate open spaces, for traffic, recreation, light and air; and for a distribution 
of population and traffic which will tend to create conditions favorable to health, 
safety, convenience or prosperity.  It is also the purpose of this resolution to 
provide known access to all parcels of real estate.  
 
Sec. 1.08 NON-EXCLUSIONARY INTENT  It is not the intent of this resolution to 
exclude any economic, racial, religious, or ethnic groups from enjoyment of 
residence, land ownership, or tenancy within this County; nor is it the intent of 
this resolution to use public powers in any way to promote the separation within 
this County of economic, racial, religious, or ethnic groups, 
 
CHAPTER 2 
 
DEFINITIONS 
 
Sec. 2.01 DEFINITIONS -- GENERALLY  For the purpose of this resolution, 
certain words, phrases and terms shall be construed as set out in this paragraph. 
 
Sec. 2.02 ALLEY  Alley shall mean a public way not designed for general travel 
or to allow through vehicular traffic, used as a secondary access to the rear or 
side of lots, which shall in no way be a street. 
 
Sec. 2.03 BOARD  Board shall mean the County Board of Supervisors. County 
Board of Commissioners of the County of Buffalo, Nebraska. 
 
Sec. 2.04 BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT  shall mean the Buffalo County Board of 
Adjustment as established and defined generally in Article 9, of Buffalo County 
Zoning Regulations.  
 
Sec. 2.05 COMMISSION  Commission shall mean the Buffalo County Planning 
and Zoning Commission. 
 
Sec. 2.06 COMMON AREA  Any area or space designed for joint use of 
residents of subdivided land. 
 
Sec. 2.07 COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  Comprehensive Plan shall be the general 
plan for the improvement and development of the County outside the jurisdiction 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
4 | P a g e  
 

of any city or village as provided by Chapter 23, Reissue Revised Statues of 
Nebraska 1943 and as provided by Resolutions of the County Board of 
Supervisors The Board of Commissioners of the County of Buffalo, Nebraska. 
 
Sec. 2.08 CORNER LOT  Corner lot means a lot that has frontage on two (2) or 
more intersecting streets or roads. 
 
Sec. 2.09 COUNTY  County shall mean the County of Buffalo a subdivision of 
the State of Nebraska. 
 
Sec. 2.10 COUNTY CLERK  County Clerk shall mean the County Clerk of the 
County of Buffalo. 
 
Sec. 2.11 COUNTY ENGINEER  County Engineer shall mean the County 
Engineer of the county of Buffalo.  In absence of a designated County Engineer, 
the Buffalo County Planning and Zoning Administrator shall take such County 
Engineer’s position and duties and employ reviewing engineer with permission of 
Board. 
 
Sec. 2.12 CUL-DE-SAC  A street with only one outlet and having an appropriate 
turn-around for a safe and convenient reverse traffic movement. 
 
Sec. 2.13 DOUBLE FRONTAGE LOT  Double frontage lot means a lot that 
abuts 2 or more streets or roads (Resolution 7-13-2021)  
 
Sec. 2.14 EASEMENT  A grant by a property owner of the use of land for 
specific purposes. 
 
Sec. 2.15 FLOOD INSURANCE STUDY  Flood Insurance study (FIS) shall mean 
the Flood Insurance Study for Buffalo County, Nebraska and Incorporated Areas 
published by FEMA in conjunction with the FIRM and containing background 
data such as base flood discharges and water surface elevations used to prepare 
the FIRM. 
 
Sec. 2.16 FLOODPLAIN  Floodplain shall mean those lands within the zoning 
jurisdiction of the County of Buffalo shown on the official Flood Insurance Rate 
Map or Flood Boundary and Floodway Map issued by the Federal Emergency 
Management Agency, Federal Insurance Administration and any revision thereto. 
Copies of the said maps shall be on file in the office of the County Clerk and/or 
Buffalo County Floodplain Administrator. 
 
Sec. 2.17 FRONTAGE  The boundary of a lot or tract of land which abuts the 
street and through which the lot has its primary vehicular and/or pedestrian 
access. Of the two sides of a corner lot, the front shall be deemed to be the 
shorter of the two sides fronting on streets. 
 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
5 | P a g e  
 

Sec. 2.18 HARD SURFACED ROAD/STREET: A road or street that uses a 
minimum thickness of seven (7) inches of poured Portland Concrete with all 
materials used in this type surfacing shall be of class “47B” and shall conform to 
the requirements of the 1985 Nebraska Department of Roads Specifications as 
revised for highway construction or a road or street that uses asphalt using a 
minimum thickness of ten (10) inches, or nine (9) inches with a six (6) inch sub-
base.(Resolution 2-25-2020) 
 
Sec 2.19 HEALTH DEPARTMENT  Health department shall mean the “Two 
Rivers Health Partners”, the Buffalo County designated health department at 
adoption of this Regulation and any lawful successor thereto however designated 
by the County Board of Supervisors. The Buffalo County Board of 
Commissioners. 
 
 
Sec. 2.20 HIGHWAY  A publicly accessed thoroughfare, street, avenue, road, or 
boulevard, acquired by and used by the public, which affords principal means of 
access to or by abutting property (Resolution 2-25-2020) 
 
Sec. 2.21 HIGHWAY SUPERINTENDENT shall mean the Highway 
Superintendent of the county of Buffalo. The county highway superintendent shall 
manage and supervise of all the public roads and bridges in the county under the 
general supervision and control of The County Board. 
  
Sec. 2.21 IMPROVEMENTS Improvements shall mean street surfacing and 
paving, curbs and gutters, street lights, street signs, sidewalks, crosswalks, water 
mains and lines, water motors, fire hydrants, sanitary sewers, storm drainage 
facilities, culverts, bridges, public utilities, or other such installations. It is also 
street grading or crowning that is comprised of more than surface maintenance 
(Resolution 2-25-2020) 
 
Sec 2.22 INDIVIDUAL WASTEWATER SYSTEM  Individual wastewater system 
means a wastewater system, other than a public or community system, which 
receives either human excreta or liquid waste, or both, from no more than one 
lot. Included within the scope of this definition are wastewater stabilization ponds, 
septic tank soil-absorption systems, chemical-type systems, and such other 
types of systems as may be similar to those specified herein. 
 
Sec. 2.23 LOT  Lot means:  
 (a) A portion of real property containing at least the area required at the 
time it was created by the zoning district in which it is or was located for use, 
coverage, and yard space, exclusive of existing, laid out, proposed, or reserved 
streets, public ways, or roads, abutting and have access to at least one public 
street, road, or private street as a private street is allowed to be created in this 
resolution or  



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
6 | P a g e  
 

(b) a parcel of real property with a separate and distinct number or other 
designation shown on a final plat approved by the Buffalo County Board recorded 
in the office of the Register of Deeds for Buffalo County, Nebraska (Resolution 7-
13-2021). 
 
Sec. 2.24 LOT DEPTH  The mean horizontal distance between the front and rear 
lot lines. 
 
Sec. 2.25 LOT WIDTH  The mean horizontal distance between the side lot lines. 
 
Sec. 2.26 OUTLOT  A parcel of real property having the same definition as a 
"lot" as defined hereinbefore, but not presently designated for building or 
occupancy, reserved for future building or occupancy after platting and 
subdivision, which present and proposed future use must be designated by the 
subdivider at the time of filing of the initial plat. 
 
Sec. 2.27 PARCEL  The word “parcel” shall be construed to be synonymous with 
“lot”. 
 
Sec. 2.28 PAVED ROAD/STREET:  A road or street that uses concrete and/or 
asphalt for its traveled surface.” (Resolution 2-25-2020) 

 
Sec. 2.29 PLANNING and ZONING ADMINISTRATOR  Planning and Zoning 
Administrator shall mean “Buffalo County Planning and Zoning Administrator”.  It 
shall mean the administrative head of the Buffalo County Planning and Zoning 
Department as provided by Chapter 23 Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska 
1943 and as provided by Resolutions of the County Board of Supervisors. The 
Board of Commissioners of the County of Buffalo, Nebraska. 
 
Sec. 2.30 PLAT  Includes the terms: Map, plan, plot, replat or replot; a map or 
plan of a tract or parcel of land which is to be, or which has been, subdivided. 
When used as a verb, “plat” is synonymous with “subdivide”.  
 
Sec. PRIVATE ROADWAY, WAY, OR STREET: Non-publicly accessed path, 
driveway, acquired and used for private purposes, which affords a means of 
access through nonpublic property to another parcel or parcels of property 
(Resolution 7-13-2021). 
 
Sec. 2.32 PROPERTY  Any tract, lot, parcel or several of the same collected 
together for the purposes of subdividing. 
 
Sec. 2.33 RIGHT-OF-WAY  The dedicated land upon which a street is located, 
including both the improved travel surface and the land adjacent to the improved 
surface within which utility lines and other public facilities may be installed. 
 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
7 | P a g e  
 

Sec. 2.34 ROAD  A highway, road, avenue, or boulevard, not necessarily 
formally dedicated or acquired by the public, but accessed by the public, which 
affords principal means of access to or by abutting property (Resolution 7-13-
2021). 
 
Sec. 2.35 STREET  A highway, road, avenue, or boulevard, dedicated to and 
accessed by the public which affords principal means of access to or abutting 
property. A private street is not a publicly accessed street.  A private street may 
limit public access by gates, signage, or other means, limits or restricts access 
on and to the private street (Resolution 7-13-2021). 
 
Sec. 2.36 STREET WIDTH  The total width of the strip of land dedicated or 
reserved for public travel, including but not limited to traveled roadway, 
shoulders, borrow areas, curbs, gutters, sidewalks and planting strips. 
 
Sec. 2.37 SUBDIVIDER  An individual, corporation, registered partnership, 
and/or any other legally recognized entity owning any tract, lot or parcel of land to 
be subdivided, or a group of two (2) or more persons owning any tract, lot or 
parcel of land to be subdivided, who have given their power of attorney to one of 
their group or another individual to act on their behalf in planning, negotiating, for, 
in representing, filing documents, or executing the legal requirements of the 
subdivision. 
 
Sec. 2.38 SUBDIVISION  The division of a lot, tract, or parcel of land into two (2) 
or more lots,  sites, tracts, parcels, or other divisions of land for the purpose, 
whether immediate or future, of transfer of ownership or of building development. 
The term “subdivision” includes “resubdivision” and, when appropriate, shall 
relate to the process of subdividing or to land being subdivided. 
 
Sec. 2.39 SURFACE MAINTENANCE  Buffalo County’s maintenance of the 
surface of streets within a subdivision consisting of no more than: once monthly 
grading and annual application of gravel.   It does not include, and is not limited 
to the following: placement, design, and maintenance of culverts, bridges, or 
other drainage devices; design of streets; borrow or fill operations to build or 
repair street; and street shoulder maintenance. 
 
Sec. 2.40 TEMPORARY DEAD-END STREET OR ROAD  Temporary dead-end 
street or road shall mean a street which is terminated at the boundary line of the 
subdivision, but which will be required to be extended at a later date to provide 
access to abutting land. 
 
Sec. 2.41 TEMPORARY TURNAROUND  Temporary turnaround shall mean a 
surfaced area for the turning of vehicles at the end of a temporary dead-end 
street or road. 
 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
8 | P a g e  
 

Sec. 2.42 VACATE  Render an approved subdivision of property, or part thereof, 
null and void. 
 
CHAPTER 3 
 
PROCEDURE TO SUBDIVIDE LAND 
 
Sec. 3.01 SUBDIVISION, WHEN REQUIRED  It shall be unlawful for the owner, 
agent or person having control of any land within the subdivision, jurisdiction of 
the County of Buffalo, to subdivide or re-subdivide land, except in accordance 
with Section 23-372 to 377 Reissue Revised Statutes of Nebraska 1943, and the 
provisions of this resolution.    
 
Sec. 3.02 ADMINISTRATIVE SUBDIVISION  The Planning and Zoning 
Administrator or his/her authorized representative is hereby authorized to 
approve subdivisions as preliminary subdivision and submit the same to the 
Board as a final plat, under the following conditions: 
 

A. No additional Access Requirements.  Public road/street access:  The 
property to be administratively subdivided, prior to being subdivided, shall 
abut a public highway, road or street and no public highway, road or street 
is needed to be constructed to access the property or needs to be 
accepted, within the area of the new lot(s), other than right-of-way 
additions to the previously abutting and existing highway(s), road(s), or 
street(s).   Private road or street access is allowed if done in compliance 
with Chapters 4 and 5.  (Resolution 4-25-17)  

B. Limit on Number of Lots Created  No more than three (3) additional lots 
shall be created from any lot, tract or parcel of land. If the remainder of 
any one parcel of land is ten (10) acres or less net of all street and road 
easements, reservations, and/or occupations, it shall be considered one of 
the additional three (3) lots.  (Resolution 4-25-17) 

C. Limitations on use of Administrative Subdivision process to develop 
land:  The administrative subdivision provision is not intended to allow for 
incremental division of larger tracts.  The administrative subdivision 
process will not be allowed where the total area under single ownership 
would result in more than four (4) parcels, including any remainder of the 
original parcel or any previous divisions that existed as one parcel anytime 
within the last five years as of date of the application for the administrative 
subdivision.  (Resolution 4-25-17) 

D. Information Required  The subdivider shall submit such information as 
set forth in this resolution when specified by the Planning and Zoning 
Administrator. 

E. Design Standards  The subdivision, and remainder parcel from which it is 
subdivided if applicable, shall comply with the Design Standards, Chapter 
4, Minimum Improvements, Chapter 5, Subdivision with Flood Plain, 
Chapter 6, and Form of Final Plat, Chapter 8, in this resolution. 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
9 | P a g e  
 

F. Format of Plat 
a. There shall be a 3” x 3” blank space in the top left-hand corner for 

recording purposes. 
b. Any stamps, required on the plat, shall not cover or interfere with 

any part of the document. 
c. All font shall be legible and require a minimum of 12-point font. 
d. Lot information  The lot area in square feet for each lot and outlot, 

the number of acres, total number of lots and outlots within the 
subdivision. 

G. Dedications, Proof of Title  In the event of any proposed dedication for 
public use, a certificate of title or a title opinion issued to or for the benefit 
and protection of the County showing all parties whose consent is 
necessary to pass clear title for the land being subdivided and dedicated, 
together with the nature of their interests therein, shall be furnished. Such 
proof of title shall be in a form acceptable to the County Attorney. Exhibit 
“A” is appended hereto as a form acceptable to such office, as illustrated 
on Exhibit “A”. Any subsequent change affecting ownership of the 
proposed subdivision or any part thereof shall be noted and given in 
writing.  The County shall assume no responsibility for any title problem 
with said proposed subdivision or any part there, and approval of said 
subdivision shall not be construed as approval of the title of the proposed 
subdivision or any part thereof. 

H. Survey Required  The subdivider shall submit an accurately drawn plan 
showing the proposed lots including the length of each lot line and its 
angle of deflection. Attached to the plan shall be a certificate signed by a 
registered land surveyor certifying that each proposed lot has been 
accurately surveyed in the proposed subdivision and that each lot corner 
has been well and accurately staked and marked.  The survey shall 
mathematically close with an error of not more than one (1) in twenty-five 
thousands (25,000).   Monumentation establishment, material, and design 
shall be as set forth in Attachment “D”, incorporated herein by this 
reference. 

I. Name of Administrative Subdivision  Name(s) of administrative 
subdivision(s) shall be in accordance with requirements for final plat and 
shall include the words “subdivision” or “addition”.  

J. Necessary Signatures and Acknowledgements  Such plat shall be 
signed and acknowledged by the owner, owners, lienholder(s), and/or any 
party having an interest of record of the land subdivided in the same 
manner and form as the acknowledgment of a deed conveying real estate, 
before some officer authorized to take the acknowledgments of deeds. 

a. All signatures shall be made in black or blue ink. 
K. Distribution of Copies  Copies A minimum of copies two original copies 

and two electronically-stored copies in a medium, acceptable to the 
Planning and Zoning Administrator,of the application shall be distributed to 
other county departments and governmental agencies who are directly 
concerned with the proposed subdivision for their review and comments. 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
10 | P a g e  
 

L. Fees  Shall be paid by subdivider as established by the County Board of 
Supervisors. The Buffalo County Board of Commissioners. 

M. Notices  A notice given as prescribed in Sec. 3.26 3.27 for the Board’s 
public hearing. 

N. Where approved Administrative Subdivision is filed, filing fees, how 
filed, and who files it  The subdivider shall file and pay for such filing of 
the approved subdivision plat in the office of the Register of Deeds of 
Buffalo County, Nebraska.  Such plat shall be presented by subdivider to 
the Register of Deeds.  When filed it shall consist of one original Mylar 
copy and one original, signed copy five copies plus whatever other 
information or documents the Register shall require.   Cost for this filing is 
not included in subdivision fees and shall be paid by subdivider. 

O. Failure to Timely File Administrative Subdivision  Failure of subdivider 
to file the approved subdivision within six (6) months of date of issuance 
shall cause such subdivision request to become null and void and of no 
effect. 
 

Sec. 3.03 FILING OF NON-ADMINISTRATIVE PRELIMINARY PLAT  Except as 
provided in Section 3.02 of this chapter, a plat shall be required under this 
Resolution. A subdivider shall file with the Planning and Zoning Administrator, a 
minimum of copies two original copies and two electronically-stored copies in a 
medium, acceptable to the Planning and Zoning Administrator, of the preliminary 
plat prepared in accordance with the specifications of Chapter 7 herein. The 
Planning and Zoning Administrator shall determine the number of copies to be 
filed with a minimum of ten (10) being required. 
 
Sec. 3.04 DEPARTMENT REPORTS ON PRELIMINARY PLAT  The Planning 
and Zoning Administrator shall distribute copies of the preliminary plat and 
accompanying data to County Highway Department and school district in which 
the property is situated.  
 
Sec. 3.05 PRELIMINARY PLAT FEES  Shall be paid by subdivider as 
established by the County Board of Supervisors. The Buffalo County Board of 
Commissioners. 
 
Sec. 3.06 HEARING BY COMMISSION  Hearing on a preliminary plat shall be 
before the Commission at its first regular meeting following filing, provided: 
 

A. that notice of the consideration of such plat and the time and place of 
hearing shall be given to all interested persons as hereinafter provided, 
and 

B. the Commission has received a report from the County Planning and 
Zoning Administrator, 

C. regardless of whether the plat is recommended for approval or 
disapproval, the Preliminary plat shall be referred on to the County Board 
within 60 days from date of the of first public hearing unless a longer time 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
11 | P a g e  
 

is agreed upon with the subdivider.  If not so referred, the County Board 
may take it up for hearing after the 60 days has elapsed of from the date 
of the first public meeting.  

 
Sec. 3.07 NOTICE OF HEARINGS  Notice shall be given as hereinafter set forth. 
 
Sec. 3.08  COMMISSION REFERRAL OF PRELIMINARY PLAT TO BOARD  
Following public hearing(s) regarding the Preliminary Plat, the Planning 
Commission shall recommend approval, disapproval, or approval with changes 
and the recommendation shall be transmitted to the Board within seven (7) days 
following decision meeting.  One copy of the recommendation(s) shall be sent to 
the subdivider. 
 
Sec. 3.09 APPROVAL OF PRELIMINARY PLAT AND APPEAL PROCESS IF 
DISAPPROVED  The Board after notice and public hearing shall: 
 

A. Approve the proposed preliminary plat if the Board finds that as presented 
it satisfies the requirements of this resolution.  

B. Disapprove the proposed preliminary plat if the Board finds that the 
proposed plat does not satisfies the requirements of this resolution.  When 
the Board finds that the proposed plat does not satisfy the requirements of 
this resolution, it shall specify in writing in the minutes of the hearing its 
objections to the plat and conclusions as to why the preliminary plat 
should be rejected. 

C. Approve the proposed preliminary plat if the Board finds that changes can 
be made to the preliminary plat the will cause such plat to satisfy the 
requirements of this resolution or approve the plat conditioned upon 
specific changes in the proposed plat that comply with this resolution.  

D. Appeals are allowed and conducted in accordance with Sec. 3.27. 
E. In the event an appeal is filed from The Buffalo Board of Commissioners 

of Supervisor’s decision; approval of preliminary plat is stayed pending 
hearing before the Board of Adjustment.   Notices to the public shall be as 
set forth in Sec. 3.26 3.27. 

 
Sec. 3.10 PRELIMINARY PLAT APPROVAL LIMITED  The approval of the 
preliminary plat shall only be effective for a period of ten five (5) years from the 
date of the approval, and shall be of no force or effect thereafter.  A new 
preliminary plat may be required if the Subdivision Resolution, the Design 
Standards, or the required improvements have been amended by the Board; and 
as a result, the preliminary plat as originally approved does not comply with the 
amended rules and regulations. 
 
Sec. 3.11 INDIVIDUAL SALES OF LOTS AT PRELIMINARY APPROVAL 
PROHIBITED  Approval of a preliminary plat shall not constitute authority to sell 
lots, record the plat, or authority to construct permanent buildings in reliance 
upon the preliminary plat layout. 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
12 | P a g e  
 

 
Sec. 3.12 AMENDMENT TO PRELIMINARY PLAT AFTER BOARD AND 
PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVAL 
 

A. After Approval of the preliminary plat by the County Board, and without a 
change in the proposed exterior boundaries dimensions of the area that 
was the subject of the previously approved preliminary plat, the subdivider 
may request an amendment to a previously approved preliminary plat for 
any part thereof that has not advanced to final plat approval.   The 
approval of an amendment to a County Board’s previously approved 
preliminary plat shall be instigated by the developer by filing with the 
Zoning Administrator’s Office a request for amendment of the previously 
approved preliminary plat with the subdivider also paying the necessary 
fee for this amendment processing as set by the County Board.   A 
subdivider shall file with the Planning and Zoning Administrator copies of 
the amended preliminary plat prepared in accordance with the 
specifications of Chapter 7 herein. The Planning and Zoning Administrator 
shall determine the number of copies to be filed with a minimum of one 
copy and one (1) electronically-stored copy in a medium, acceptable to the 
Planning and Zoning Administrator.ten (10) being required.  Thereafter, 
the amended plat request shall proceed for further review by the County 
Board of County Commissioners.  Prior to any scheduling of a public 
hearing before the County Board, the request for reports, with a 10-day 
response request, and reports as received as specified by Sec. 3.04 shall 
be filed with the amendment request.  Thereafter, notice of the proposed 
plat amendment shall be provided and public hearing thereon shall occur 
before the County Board pursuant to the notice requirement(s) in effect at 
time of filing the amendment request. in a manner similar to the County 
Board’s consideration of a preliminary plat after it was referred to the 
County Board. 

 
Sec. 3.13 AUTHORITY TO PROCEED WITH FINAL PLANS AND 
INSTALLATION OF IMPROVEMENTS  Receipt by the subdivider of the copy of 
the approved preliminary plat as approved by the Board, or Board of Adjustment , 
if appealed, shall constitute authority for the subdivider to proceed with final plans 
and specifications for the installation of the required improvements, if any are 
required, and preparation of the final plat.  Prior to the construction of any of the 
required improvements, the subdivider shall submit such final plans and 
specifications to the appropriate agency pursuant to Chapter 5 - Minimum 
Improvements for examination. If, upon examination, the appropriate agency 
shall find such plans and specifications to be in accordance with applicable 
policies and standards, construction shall be authorized.  The County Planning 
and Zoning Administrator shall be notified at the beginning and end of each 
phase of construction.  Certificates shall be issued by the inspector, if required in 
these regulations, for all phases of construction showing compliance or non-
compliance with the standards herein and submitted to the County Planning and 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
13 | P a g e  
 

Zoning Administrator.  All costs of inspections and surveying shall be the 
responsibility of the subdivider. 
 
The subdivider shall (a) post a surety bond or cash deposit in the amount of 5 
100% of the estimated construction costs for any improvement that is not 
comprised of the streets and roads,  (b) post bond or deposit in the amount to 
pay professional fees of 5% for inspections done by persons retained by 
Administrator not to exceed one (1) five (5) percent of costs of improvements,  
and (c) post cash, surety or bond to pay for the cost to repair any and all failures 
of the streets and roads. These terms shall remain in effect for two five years 
from the date of final plat approval, unless otherwise agreed to in writing. 
 
Sec. 3.14 INSTALLATION OF IMPROVEMENTS  The subdivider may prepare 
and secure approval of a preliminary plat of an entire area and may install the 
required improvements only in a portion of such area.  All improvements in any 
portion of the area for which a final plat is approved shall be have the required 
improvement(s) completed prior to the final plat approval and recording. 
 
Sec. 3.15 FILING FINAL PLAT  
 

A. Delivery of finalized plat  If the preliminary plat is still in effect as set out 
in Section 3.10, a final plat in accordance with the approved preliminary 
plat may be filed. The final plat shall be drawn in accordance with an 
accurate survey of the subdivision, the approved preliminary plat, and the 
design standards set out in Chapter 4 herein. The subdivider shall file with 
the Planning and Zoning Office the final plat and in addition thereto the 
number of copies required by the Zoning Administrator, which shall 
include as a minimum number:   one (1) original Mylar, five one (1) copies  
copy of Blueline or Blackline copies, and one (1) electronically-stored copy 
in a medium, acceptable to the Planning and Zoning Administrator. 

B. Proof of payment of taxes and assessments  When final plat is 
delivered, the subdivider shall provide a statement attached or affixed to 
final plat from the County Treasurer's Office showing that, according to the 
Treasurer’s records as of date of statement, there are no liens of taxes 
due against said land within the proposed subdivision or any part thereof.   
The County shall assume no responsibility for any tax or special 
assessment liability on the property to be subdivided, and approval of said 
final plat shall not be construed as either approval of or act as a waiver of 
the enforcement of all applicable statutes and resolutions with regard to 
the collection of taxes and special assessments on the proposed 
subdivided property or any part thereof.  Language of suggested 
statement or certification is appended hereto as “Exhibit B”.  (Resolution 
3-25-14) 

C. Proof of ownership and property rights when land is dedicated to 
public  If land is dedicated for public use, a certificate of title or a title 
opinion issued to or for the benefit and protection of the County showing 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
14 | P a g e  
 

all parties whose consent is necessary to pass clear title for the land being 
subdivided and dedicated, together with the nature of their interests 
therein, shall be furnished with the final plat. Such proof of title shall be in 
a form acceptable to the County Attorney, as illustrated on Exhibit “A”. Any 
subsequent change affecting ownership of the proposed subdivision or 
any part thereof shall be made only upon the prompt notification and 
certification to the Planning and Zoning Administrator.  The County shall 
assume no responsibility for any title problem with said proposed 
subdivision or any part thereof, and approval of said final plat shall not be 
construed as approval of the title of the proposed subdivision or any part 
thereof.  

 
Sec. 3.16 DEPARTMENT REPORTS ON FINAL PLAT  The Planning and 
Zoning Administrator shall distribute copies of the final plat and other 
accompanying data to other county departments and governmental agencies 
who are directly concerned with the proposed subdivision.  
 
Sec. 3.17 REQUISITES FOR FINAL PLAT APPROVAL  No final plat shall be 
approved by the Board unless or until all the required minimum improvements as 
set out in the approval of the preliminary plat have been installed and constructed 
and such has been approved by the appropriate agency, except individual water 
well systems and individual wastewater systems. In those subdivisions where an 
community water well system and community wastewater system is allowed the 
subdivider shall agree to install and construct such systems on each lot prior to 
or at the time improvements are erected on the lot. 
 
Sec. 3.18 FINAL PLAT FEES AND NOTIFICATION  Fees for final plat submittal 
and method of notice shall be as follows:  
 

A. Fees:  Shall be paid by subdivider as established by the County Board of 
Supervisors. The Buffalo County Board of Commissioners. They shall be 
paid to the County when a final plat or portion thereof for staged 
development is filed with the Planning and Zoning Administrator. 

B. Notice:  A general notice is the same as provided in Sec. 3.26 3.27. 
C. Inspection Costs:  As determined in the sole discretion of the County 

Planning and Zoning Administrator, the Administrator may, with 
notification to the subdivider giving name of inspector, appoint a person or 
professional entity to inspect construction of streets, roads and public 
ways within the subdivision.   Costs of such person or entry can be 
assessed as a cost for final approval of final plat. 

 
Sec. 3.19 FINAL PLAT APPROVAL  When the final plat conforms to the 
approved preliminary plat and the requirements have been accomplished, the 
Board shall review the final plat for approval. The Board shall approve said final 
plat if the same conforms to the requirements of this resolution applicable at the 
time of the approval of the preliminary plat except as provided in Section 3.09 of 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
15 | P a g e  
 

this chapter. At the time of approval, the Board may set forth conditions and shall 
also expressly accept or reject any or all offers of dedication. 
 
Sec. 3.20 FINAL PLAT FILED WITH REGISTER OF DEEDS, CONDITIONS 
PRECEDENT  No plat shall be filed for record or recorded in the Office of the 
Register of Deeds of Buffalo County, and no lot shall be sold from such plat 
unless and until: 
 

A. Such final plat has been approved by the Board and such approval is 
endorsed by the County Clerk and evidenced by resolution accepting such 
final plat (suggested language is appended as Exhibit “B”) 

B. Provision for and/or the installation and construction of all required 
minimum improvements have been fulfilled; 

C. The subdivider has paid to the Planning and Zoning Administrator fees 
required under this resolution. Thereafter, the approved final plat and a 
copy of the accepting resolution certified by the County Clerk, along with 
all required agreements shall be filed and recorded in the Office of the 
Register of Deeds of Buffalo County, Nebraska. Thereupon, such final plat 
shall be equivalent to and operate as a deed in fee simple to Buffalo 
County or other applicable utility or governmental entity from the owner of 
all streets, alleys, public ways and grounds, and of such portions of land 
as herein set apart for public and county use. 

D. Subdivider has paid costs for filing final plat with Buffalo County Register 
of Deeds together costs of filings for other documents or items required by 
the Register of Deeds.  

 
3.21 MINOR SUBDIVISION CHANGES  Minor Subdivision changes may be 
used after approval of Final Plat or division of Final Plat for dividing one (1) lot 
into two (2) parts, combining two (2) or more lots (or parts of lots) into one (1) 
parcel, or a combination thereof; or moving lot line between two abutting lots or 
several lots that have a common lot line.  This definition shall apply only once to 
any subdividing transaction or conveyance involving any specific lot or 
combination of lots.   Transaction or conveyances classified, as minor subdivision 
changes are hereby deemed not to constitute a “subdivision” for purposes of this 
regulation. 
 

A. Conditions  The following conditions shall be fulfilled to allow such 
change(s): 

1. Improvements  All required improvements shall have been 
installed and be available to the resulting parcel(s). 

1. No changes in Dedications to Public  There can be no dedication 
and/or change of public rights-of-way.  Any easement occupied by 
a utility cannot be changed. (Resolution 12-10-13)  (Resolution 3-
25-14) 

2. Remaining Parcels Must Comply with Zoning Laws  All resulting 
parcel(s) of land shall comply with all other applicable zoning and 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
16 | P a g e  
 

subdivision regulations in effect at time of submittal of such 
application. 

3. Utility companies notified  Party requesting change must provide 
written proof of all utilities that no all utilities of public record have 
been notified in writing for that no public utility occupies the 
occupies the easements to be moved.    

B. Minimum Requirements and Procedures for Minor Subdivision 
Change(s)  At a minimum the application shall contain the following: 

1. Legal Description with Survey  Legal description of the property 
to be subdivided prior to and after minor change(s).  A survey shall 
be attached to the application showing: 

a. Existing subdivided land upon which the change is sought, 
and  

b. Proposed lots and abutting lots; and all existing structures, 
fences, and building setbacks on lots that are desired to be 
in effect after the minor change(s). 

c. The lot area in square feet for each and any lot (s) created or 
modified.  (Resolution 5-14-13) 

2. Fee  Shall be paid by subdivider as established by the County 
Board of Supervisors The Buffalo County Board of Commissioners. 

3. Where Filed  All minor subdivision requests shall be submitted by 
written application to the Planning and Zoning Administrator, signed 
by all parties having any right, title, or interest in the real estate 
described, on form provided by such office.   

C. Review and Appeal  The Planning and Zoning Administrator shall forward 
the minor subdivision change request to the Buffalo County Board for 
consideration by the Board to be heard as an ordinary agenda zoning 
item, without need of Notices as provided in Sec. 3.26 3.27.(Resolution 3-
25-14)  

1. Approval  In the event that the County Board approves the 
application or the required changes after review are fulfilled by 
subdivider, the proposed subdivision shall be approved by 
Resolution.  (Resolution 3-25-14)   

2. Disapproval Process and Appeal  In the event that the County 
Board disapproves the application or requires changes that 
subdivider will not fulfill, written notice of such disapproval or the 
required changes shall be mailed to address given on application.  
Thereafter appeals shall be allowed and conducted as set forth in 
Sec. 3.27.  (Resolution 3-25-14) 

D. Post Approval Procedures  Following approval of the minor subdivision 
change request, subdivider proposing the minor subdivision change(s) 
shall have the responsibility for transmitting to, filing with, and paying any 
filing fees of such documents with the Office of the Register of Deeds.  
Minimally the following documents shall be filed with the Office of Register 
of Deeds: 

1. The approved plat reflecting the minor subdivision;  



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
17 | P a g e  
 

2. A certified copy of The resolution or the certified copy of the 
minutes of meeting accepting said final plat of the Board of 
Adjustment or the County Board of Supervisors. County Board of 
Commissioners that approved it, and (Resolution 3-25-14) 

3. Any other data, documents, and/or items required by the Register 
of Deeds.   

E. Failure to Timely File Approved Minor Subdivision  Failure of the 
subdivider to file the approved application with necessary documents 
within six (6) months of date of approval by or the County Board of 
Supervisors. The Buffalo County Board of Commissioners and/or Board of 
Adjustment shall cause such subdivision request to become null and void 
and of no effect.  (Resolution 3-25-14)  

 
Sec. 3.22  VACATION OF PLAT (VOIDING)  
 

A. How commenced:   
1. Property Owner or Party of Interest  By the owner(s) and 

lienholder(s) of any subdivision or plat may file a request to vacate 
all or a portion of such subdivision or plat submitted to Buffalo 
County Clerk. County Planning and Zoning Administrator or 

2. Board  By the County Board of Supervisors. The Buffalo County 
Board of Commissioners on motion of one of its members and 
majority vote of the Board. 

B. Filing fees:  When initiated by County Board, no fees. When initiated by 
owner(s), subdivider, and lienholder(s) by payment of fees as established 
by Buffalo County or the County Board of Supervisors. The Board of 
Commissioners. 

C. How adopted, effect thereof, and notices required:  
1. Notice:  The vacation resolution shall not be adopted until after 

notice has been given as prescribed in Sec. 3.26 3.27. 
2. Adoption and effect thereof.  Any person may appear at said 

meeting for the purpose of objecting to the adoption of the 
resolution.  If the vacation concerns vacation or any plat, other than 
an administrative type plat allowed in Sec. 3.02 proceedings shall 
commence before the Planning and Zoning Commission for that 
Commission’s suggestion to the Board to recommend or not 
recommend vacation together with any conditions thought 
necessary.   Thereafter the Commission shall forward the same to 
the County Board for final action.   The County Board is not bound 
by recommendation(s) of the Commission and may proceed to act 
on the question of vacation in its sole discretion.  If the vacation 
concerns solely vacation of an administrative type plat as 
authorized in Sec. 3.02 or similar type plat creation where no public 
street was needed to be constructed to access the property or was 
accepted in plat dedication, within the area of the vacated lot (s) the 
proposed vacation shall proceed directly to the Board.  Board after 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
18 | P a g e  
 

public meeting may then set forth conditions it deems appropriate 
and approve or disapprove the vacation and/or any portion thereof.   
Such conditions may include, but are not necessarily limited to a 
statement declaring whether any public highways, streets, alleys, or 
other public grounds are to be retained by the County.  Absent 
specific language to not retain public highways, streets, alleys, and 
other public grounds such items shall continue to be retained by the 
County. Any public utility company that has occupied or made use 
of easement(s) prior to vacation shall be unaffected by any vacation 
action of the Board. (Resolution 5-14-13) 

3. Post Board approval procedures:  If no appeal from the adoption 
of the resolution is filed within the time provided or if the resolution 
is upheld on appeal, Applicant(s) and/or Subdivider shall file a 
certified copy of the resolution of vacation shall be recorded by the 
County Clerk in the office of the Buffalo County Register of Deeds.   
The Register of Deeds shall then note such vacation on the plat or 
portion thereof by writing in plain legible letters.   Such notation 
shall also contain a reference to the volume and page such 
vacation resolution is recorded.  Thereupon, the previous 
subdivision, plat, or portion thereof shall be voided.  

4. Appeals.  Appeals shall be allowed and conducted as set forth in 
Sec. 3.27 3.26. 

F. Failure to file vacation Failure of the subdivider to file the approved 
application with necessary documents within one (1) year of date of 
approval by or The Buffalo County Board of Commissioners and/or Board 
of Adjustment shall cause such subdivision request to become null and 
void and of no effect. 
 

Sec. 3.23 RE-PLATTING or RE-SUBDIVIDING PREVIOUSLY SUBDIVIDED 
LAND  An existing plat or portion of an existing plat must be vacated by 
resolution prior to replatting.  
 
Sec. 3.24 POSTPONEMENT FEE  Shall be paid by subdivider as established by 
Buffalo County or the County Board of Supervisors. The Buffalo County Board of 
Commissioners.  In addition, subdivider shall pay in advance, unless waived or 
partially waived by Commission and/or the County Board of Supervisors. The 
Board of Commissioners, estimated costs of re-publication of an item that was 
postponed at the request of the applicant or subdivider. 
 
Sec. 3.25 LARGE DEVELOPMENT STAGING PROCEDURE   In order to 
discourage premature subdivision and uneconomic improvements, the following 
procedure is provided for large development schemes: 
 

A. When a subdivider or group of subdividers has in their control an area of 
land that they wish to plat, but of so large a size they wish to develop the 
land by divisions, they shall cause to be prepared a preliminary plat for the 
entire area. 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
19 | P a g e  
 

B. On such preliminary plats successive development divisions may be 
designed. 

C. Upon approval of the preliminary plat the subdivider may cause a final plat 
to be prepared for one or more development divisions, provided the order 
of development allow for logical provisions of streets and utilities. 

D. Each development division shall be considered as a final plat and 
provisions of these regulations shall apply individually to each 
development division presented as a separate filing for record. 

 
Sec. 3.26 VARIANCE PROCEDURES 
   

A. Conditions for Variances  The Board may approve a Plat subject to the 
subdivider obtaining a variance.  The subdivider, while a preliminary plat is 
being considered, may apply for a variance.  A variance is granted from 
the Board of Adjustment where the subdivider can demonstrate to the 
satisfaction of the Board of Adjustment that all of the following conditions 
are accurate and applicable:  

1. An unusual situation or where strict adherence to the general 
regulations would result in substantial injustice or hardship; 

2. The authorization of the variance will not be of substantial detriment 
to adjacent or nearby property; 

3. The authorization of the variance will not be detrimental to the 
public safety, health, or welfare; 

4. The situation is not of so general or recurring a nature as to make 
reasonably practicable the formulation of general regulations to be 
adopted as amendment(s) to this resolution; 

5. The hardship is created by the physical character of the property or 
of the property immediately adjacent thereto. Personal or self-
inflicted hardship shall not be considered grounds for the 
authorization of a variance; and 

6. The variance will not in any manner vary the provisions of the 
Subdivision Regulation, Zoning Resolution, Comprehensive Plan, 
or Zoning Map.  

Any recommendation and final authorization shall be stated in writing in the 
minutes of the Board of Adjustment, with the reasoning on which the departure 
was justified.  
 
In approving variances, the Board of Adjustment may require such conditions as 
will, in its judgment, secure substantially the objectives of the standards or 
requirements of this resolution.  

B. Variance Procedure  shall generally follow procedures set forth in Article 
9 of Buffalo County Zoning Regulations, except that: 

1. Filings  A petition for any such variance shall be submitted in 
writing by the subdivider after the preliminary plat is filed and prior 
to approval of the final plat and any amendments needed for its 
approval. The petition shall state fully the grounds for the 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
20 | P a g e  
 

application and all of the facts relied upon by the subdivider as 
appropriate fees.   Further drawings of proposed development shall 
accompany the petition for variance that reflect the particular 
hardship(s) or difficulty that is present and how the applicant 
intends to develop the property if the variance is allowed. 

2. Fees  Shall be paid by subdivider as established by Buffalo County 
Board of Supervisors. The Board of Commissioners. 

3. Notice  Variance review by the Commission, and/or County Board, 
shall require the same notification of adjacent property owners as 
required by Notice provisions of Sec. 3.26 3.27. 

 
Sec. 3.27 NOTICE:  The prescribed method of giving notice, unless otherwise 
specifically changed by the action being taken shall be as follows: 
 

A. Adjoining landowners:  Notice(s) for any public hearing shall be sent to 
owners of record who have property three hundred (300) or less feet from 
outside borders of tract(s) and/or if streets or roads abut the property that 
is the subject of the action extending three hundred (300) feet from the 
street frontage of such opposite lots measured from the opposite side of 
the road, sought to be vacated at least ten (10) days before the 
Commission and County Board public hearing(s). Receipt of such notice is 
not mandatory or required as a condition precedent to any such public 
hearing. 

B. Publication  Notice of the public hearings shall also be given by 
publication of notice of said hearing one time at least ten (10) days prior to 
such hearing in a daily newspaper having a general circulation in the City 
of Kearney and Buffalo County in a local newspaper of any county which 
has territory within three (3) miles of the property affected by such action. 

C. Property shall be described  For notices to adjoining landowners and by 
publication, the notice(s) for  shall clearly describe the plat or portion 
thereof to be considered at the public hearing and state the time and place 
of the meetings of the Commission and Board of Supervisors. The Board 
of Commissioners at which the consideration and adoption of the 
resolution will be voted upon. 

D. Posting on the property:  Notice of such hearing shall also be posted ten 
(10) days in advance of the public hearing(s) concerning the property in a 
conspicuous place on or near the property to seeking action in the public 
hearing. 

E. Notices to other governmental planning bodies  Notice of the time and 
place of such hearing shall also be given in writing to the chairman of the 
municipal, county or joint planning commission, which has jurisdiction over 
land within three (3) miles of the property affected by such action. In the 
absence of a municipal Planning Commission, such notice shall be given 
to the clerks of units of local government having jurisdiction over land 
within three (3) miles of the property affected by such action.    

 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
21 | P a g e  
 

Sec. 3.28 APPEALS  The Buffalo County Board of Adjustment as established by 
the Buffalo County Zoning Regulation shall conduct and hear all appeals.  Unless 
more specifically set forth herein, all appeals concerning subdivision matters 
shall be filed, noticed, and heard in the manner and procedures as set forth 
Article 9 of the Buffalo County Zoning Regulations regarding the Buffalo County 
Board of Adjustment.  Fees for this process shall be set by the Buffalo County 
Board of Supervisors. The Board of Commissioners. 
 
CHAPTER 4 
 
DESIGN STANDARDS 
 
Sec. 4.01 CONFORMITY TO THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN  All subdivisions 
hereinafter created shall be in harmony with the Comprehensive Plan. 
 
Sec. 4.02 RELATION TO ADJOINING HIGHWAY, ROAD OR STREET 
SYSTEM 

A. Arrangement of Streets The arrangement of streets and roads in a 
new subdivision shall make provision for the continuation of the existing 
highways, roads, or streets in adjoining areas (or their proper projection 
where adjoining land is not subdivided) insofar as they may be deemed 
necessary for public requirements. The street, road, and alley 
arrangement shall not be such as to cause hardship to owners of adjoining 
property in platting their own land and providing convenient access to it.  
B. Offsetting Streets to be avoided Offset streets and roads should be 
avoided.  
C. Angle(s) of Intersections The angle of intersection between streets 
should not vary more than 10 degrees (10) from a right angle.  
D. Stopping sight distance considerations Proposed street 
intersections shall be located on existing streets and roads to provide 
stopping sight distance for 50 mph traffic on the existing street or road. 
Stopping sight distance shall be as described in the current AASHTO 
Standards at the time the subdivision is being proposed. 
E.  All lots shall have a minimum of twenty-five (25) feet width along a 
street or road (Resolution 7-13-2021). 

 
Sec. 4.03 STREET, ROAD AND OTHER RIGHT-OF-WAY  The location of 
highways, streets, roads and other rights-of-way shall conform to the locations 
designated in the Comprehensive Plan.   Unless designated a higher use in the 
Comprehensive Plan, all proposed or existing roads, whether previously vacated 
or unopened, located upon section lines shall minimally be considered rural local. 
(12-10-13) 
 
 The minimum right-of-way widths shall be as follows: 
 

Type        Right-of-Way Width 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
22 | P a g e  
 

Expressways (12-10-13)     80 feet  (6-11-13) 
Rural Major and Other Arterials (12-10-13) 80 feet  (6-11-13) 
Rural collectors (12-10-13)    80 feet 
Rural local (12-10-13)    80 feet 
Collector      80 feet 
Local and Remote 
Local       80 feet 
Minimum Maintenance    80 feet 
Interior streets of land  
Sought to be subdivided    66 feet 
Cul-de-Sacs       66 foot radius 
Alleys        20 feet 
 
When streets and roads adjoin unsubdivided property, a half right-of-way 

of at least forty (40) feet in width shall be dedicated. Whenever subdivided 
property adjoins a half right-of-way, the remainder of the street shall be 
dedicated. Half rights-of-way should be avoided. 

In all cases of permanent dead-end streets and roads, cul-de-sac rights-
of-way shall be dedicated. Streets and roads ending in a cul-de-sac shall not be 
longer than six-hundred (600) feet.  This may be extended when topographical 
rise and fall of cul-de-sac street does not exceed six (6) feet from highest 
elevation to lowest elevation of road measured from center of street at 
intersection of entry to cul-de-sac road to furthest point of cul-de-sac from  
intersection.  

Alleys shall not be provided in a residential subdivision except under very 
unusual conditions. Alleys may be required in the rear of commercial and 
industrial lots. 
 
Sec. 4.04 EASEMENTS  Easements of at least ten (10) feet in width shall be 
provided and dedicated on each side of rear lot lines and side lot lines, and ten 
(10) feet shall be provided and dedicated along front lot lines from the front lot 
line, for poles, wires, conduits, utility boxes, storm drains, wastewater collectors, 
water, or other mains.  Easements of greater width may be required along or 
across lots where necessary for the extension of mains, sewers, or other utilities.  
(Resolution 3-25-14)   
 
Sec. 4.05 EASEMENTS ALONG STREAMS  Whenever any stream or important 
surface drainage course is located in any area which is being subdivided, the 
subdivider shall provide an adequate easement along each side of the stream for 
the purpose of widening, deepening, sloping, improving or protecting the stream 
or for drainage or parkway. 
 
Sec. 4.06 BLOCKS  No block shall be longer than thirteen hundred twenty 
(1,320) feet between cross streets except where a major street(s), other man 
made barrier(s), lake, or natural barrier forms a boundary, or boundaries, of a 
block.  This distance may be extended when topographical rise and fall of street 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
23 | P a g e  
 

does not exceed six (6) feet from highest elevation to lowest elevation of block 
measured from center of intersections of intersecting streets at opposite ends of 
the block. (Resolution 12-8-2020). 
 
Sec. 4.07 LOTS 
 

A. Arrangement of lots  The lot arrangement and design shall be such that 
all lots will provide satisfactory and desirable building sites, properly 
related to topography and the character of the surrounding development. 

B. Lots sidelines at right angles  All sidelines of lots shall be at right angles 
to a straight street line on a radial line where curved streets exist, except 
where a variation of this rule will provide a better street and lot layout. 

C. Minimum Lot Area  No lot shall have an area or width less than that 
required by any zoning resolution. 

D. Double or Multiple Facing Lots  The residential lot arrangement of a 
subdivision shall be accomplished in such a manner that there will be no 
lots with frontage facing two nonintersecting public streets and roads. 
However, in circumstances where the subdivision abuts a highway, street, 
or road, double frontage lots shall be required when no frontage road 
exists adjacent to or abutting on the highway, street, or road, and access 
from the lot is only to an interior street. Where double or multiple frontage 
lots are allowed, the subdivider, the subdivider's successors and assigns 
shall relinquish the right of access from the lot to the highway, street, or 
road, and place covenants and restrictions upon the land to run with the 
land relinquishing said access. 

E. All lots to have access to roads or streets  Every lot shall front upon 
and have access to a public street or road, except lots may front upon and 
take access to a private roadway that accesses a public street or road. 

F. Access to highways, streets, and roads channeled through interior 
lots  Residential lot arrangement shall be, whenever feasible and 
possible, such that no lot directly accesses a highway, street, or road, and 
shall access an interior subdivision road that combines access to 
highways, streets, and roads through interior subdivision roads. Excepted 
to this access limitation is a lot for a single family dwelling that has existed 
for five (5) years as a primary residence associated with a farm, which 
meets the minimum housing and health codes, and has a previously 
approved access to the highway, street, or road. 

 
Sec. 4.08 STREET AND ROAD NAMES  Streets as nearly as practicable shall 
be named as follows: 

A. Continuations of existing streets  Where they are continuations of 
existing streets, the existing street names shall be used. 

B. Duplication or similar naming discouraged  Proposed street names 
shall not duplicate or approximate phonetically the name of any existing 
street in Buffalo County and the City of Kearney. 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
24 | P a g e  
 

C. North-South Street naming  Streets running predominantly straight north 
and south shall, as much as practicable, be numbered consecutively in 
sequence with adjacent streets. 

D. East-West Street naming  All streets running east-west shall be 
numbered wherever practical  and generally designated as “streets: if 
west, or  “avenues” if east, of Central Avenue Kearney extended north and 
south from corporate limits of Kearney and consistent with pre-existing 
naming and numbering schemes used by Buffalo County. 

E. Diagonal and Curved Streets  Diagonal or curvilinear streets shall be 
named. 

F. Cul-de-Sacs  The names or designation of cul-de-sacs shall be given the 
suffix "Circle", "Court" or "Place". 

G. Public safety review  All naming and numbering of streets prior to 
adoption of the same by the Board shall be reviewed by Buffalo County 
Sheriff’s Office, Communications Center. 
  

Sec. 4.09 MAINTENANCE RESPONSIBILITY OF PRIVATE COMMON 
FACILITIES  Where the subdivision contains sewers, sewage treatment plants, 
water supply systems, park areas, street trees, streets, private streets, private 
ways, private, roads, or other physical facilities necessary or desirable for the 
welfare of the area and which the County does not desire to maintain, provision 
shall be made for the proper and continuous maintenance and supervision of 
such facilities by the lot owners in the subdivision. All such maintenance 
agreements shall be incorporated in covenants and restrictions governing the 
subdivided property and shall be recorded with the Register of Deeds. Mowing 
and trimming of the seeded portion of the interior roads shall be the responsibility 
of the adjacent property owner. 
 
Sec. 4.10 DRAINAGE  The area to be subdivided shall be designed and laid out 
so as to provide proper and sufficient drainage with evaluation of location, size, 
and need of storm drain pipes, water conveyances, culverts, ditch liners, and 
other drainage facilities being submitted in writing by professional engineer in 
form of statement or letter accompanying preliminary plat.  
 
Sec. 4.11 STREET AND ROAD DESIGN Rural Local Classification Standard 
2 Conformance  Streets and roads, whether private as allowed in Chapter 4 or 
public, within a subdivision shall minimally conform to the Nebraska State Board 
of Public Roads Design for Classification & Standards  Local Road RL-2  Typical 
Cross-Section for Major arterial Rural Roadway under 400 average daily traffic 
as set out in Nebraska Department of Transportation-Roadway Design Manual, 
Chapter Six: The Typical Roadway Cross-Section as published May 2022 as to 
design, grade, back slope grade, as published by the Nebraska Department of 
Roads, Board of Public Roads Classifications & Standards, 2008 edition 
https://govdocs.nebraska.gov/epubs/R6000/R010-2008 maximum grade, tangent 
sight, traveled width of the road, shoulder width, and other particulars addressed 
in State Board of Public Road regulations regarding street layout with the 

https://govdocs.nebraska.gov/epubs/R6000/R010-2008


 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
25 | P a g e  
 

dedicated road right of way, unless otherwise specifically excepted to in this 
Resolution .  (See attachment #_for reference)   As an exception of RL-2 
Standards, no street within a subdivision as concerns the traveled portion of the 
road, shall exceed six (6) percent change in elevation in any portion of the street.   
Also, street layout and design shall consider snow control and minimization of the 
adverse effects of drifting snow, on the streets to be dedicated.  Abatements of 
snow drifting and snow control as proposed by the developer are subject to 
review and decision of the Highway Superintendent.   That review and/or 
inspection by the Highway Superintendent may include, but or not limited to: a 
need for decreased angle or widening of backslope for cuts and fills within and 
outside of the dedicated street(s) of the subdivision to abate snow drifting 
hazards.   
 

Section 4.12 ACCESS REQUIREMENTS Access to and within a subdivision 
can be accomplished by use of private and public streets and/or roads. Public 
streets are permitted in any type of subdivision and are strongly encouraged.  

A. Public Street Access. Access to and within a subdivision shall be 
accomplished by dedicated public streets or roads laid out as directed in 
minimum design standards.  

B. Private Street Minimum Width and Operative as Grant of Utility 
Access and Occupation Private Streets, when created under this Resolution , 
shall have a minimum street width of sixty-six (66) feet in width and grant access 
within the private street to entry, occupation, and use by public (Resolution 7-13-
2021). 

C. Private Street Disclosure Any plat containing private streets shall 
disclose the following on its plat: “One or more of the access easements shown 
on this plat is private, and does not meet state or county standards for inclusion 
in the secondary road system and will not be maintained by Buffalo County. The 
property owner and successor thereto agrees agree to not request road 
maintenance from Buffalo County until such time as the private streets are 
brought to the then applicable Buffalo County’s Subdivision Public Street 
Minimum Improvement Requirement standards.  

D. Private streets grant access to public safety. Private streets shall not 
be blocked to ingress and egress of government, emergency, or public service 
company vehicles.  

E. Private Street Maintenance  Private street maintenance shall be the sole 
responsibility of adjacent property owners and not the responsibility of Buffalo 
County. 
 
Sec. 4.13 POSTAL FACILITIES DESIGN AND LOCATION: The proposed 
subdivision shall place all U.S. Postal Service delivery and collection facilities 
that serve the proposed subdivision within 100 feet of the entry point into the 
proposal subdivision within dedicated street, in a U.S. Postal Service approved 
Cluster Block Unit facility with one delivery box of the clustered unit(s) for every 
lot within the proposed subdivision.   Every Cluster Block Unit mail 
delivery/collection facility within a subdivision shall have at least a five (5) feet 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
26 | P a g e  
 

pull over area to the side of the traveled surface of a dedicated street for 
temporary parking to deliver and collect mail and other parcel delivery services.   
Other than within this entry location, no mailboxes are allowed within or along the 
publicly dedicated streets within a proposed subdivision.  If multiple entries will 
serve the proposed subdivision and one or more entrances to the proposed 
subdivision enter and/or exit a hard surfaced existing public road or street, then 
the delivery facilities shall be placed only on dedicated street(s) that enter and/or 
exit on a hard surfaced road or street.” (Resolution 2-25-2020) 

 

MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS, FUTURE IMPROVEMENTS, & MAINTENANCE 
(Resolution 2-25-2020) 
 
Sec. 5.01 STREET AND ROAD IMPROVEMENTS  All streets, roads and public 
ways whether designated public or private within the subdivision shall be graded 
to the standards described in Chapter 4 of these regulations. Absent a hard 
surfacing requirement, all streets, roads, and ways whether designated public or 
private within the subdivision shall be minimally surfaced with three (3) inches of 
crushed rock embedded into the subgrade during construction and one (1) inch 
of gravel or higher grade of road surfacing. (Resolution 2-25-2020) 

Where a dedicated road enters onto a paved highway and/or county road the first 
one hundred-twenty five (125) one hundred-fifty (150) feet of the newly dedicated 
and entering street, measured from the edge of the paved surface of the existing 
highway or county road shall be hard surfaced at a minimum radius of 30 feet 
where the subdivision street(s) intersect with the surface of the paved highway 
and/or county road and minimum width of no less than 25 feet. (see appendix 
illustration for example)  Additional hard surfaced turning lanes into the proposed 
subdivision may be required to accommodate anticipated traffic.  Added to this 
minimum width within the subdivision shall be any required pull over area for 
temporary parking for use of U.S. Postal Service facilities.  All construction of this 
entryway aproning shall submit to inspection and approval by the County 
Highway Superintendent or his designated engineer.(Resolution 2-25-2020)  

Sec. 5.02 WATER AND WASTEWATER:  All individual and community water 
and wastewater systems shall comply with any state health regulations.   
 
Sec. 5.03 DRAINAGE  Storm drain pipes, water conveyances, culverts, ditch 
liners and other drainage facilities shall be installed as recommended by written 
professional engineer drain study and as additionally required by Planning and 
Zoning Commission and Board. 
 
Sec. 5.04 TEMPORARY TURNAROUND AND BARRICADES  A thirty-three 
(33) foot radius surfaced temporary turnaround shall be constructed at the end of 
all temporary dead-end streets and roads which extend more than one hundred 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
27 | P a g e  
 

fifty (150) feet beyond the nearest intersection with another street, road, or 
private roadway.  The temporary turnaround and barricade shall be removed 
when the temporary dead-end street or road is extended therefrom. 
 
Sec. 5.05 STREET NAME AND TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGNS  The design, 
location and installation of all street signs designating the name of streets, roads, 
private roadways, and traffic control signs shall be approved by the Buffalo 
County Highway Department. 
 
Sec. 5.06 PLACEMENT OF STREET SIGNS  All streets, roads, and public ways 
within a subdivision shall have street signs and posts put in place by developer at 
all intersections of streets within the subdivision.  All streets, roads, and ways, 
whether public or private shall have street signs and posts put in place where 
such streets, roads, and ways intersect with existing roads. 
 
Sec. 5.07 MAINTENANCE OF STREET SIGNS AND TRAFFIC CONTROL 
DEVICES  

A. Streets dedicated to public  After subdivider placement of streets signs 
and traffic control devices on publicly dedicated and accepted roads, 
responsibility for maintenance for such signs and devices is a county 
maintenance item. 

B. Private Streets and Roads  Responsibility for signs and traffic control 
devices on private roads shall be a private responsibility maintained by 
entities using such road(s).   If a private road is not properly maintaining 
and posting the road with signs, the Buffalo County Board may, after 
notice of intent to place sign and assess costs of the improvement upon 
entities using the road, construct and place sign(s). 
 

 
Sec 5.08  MAINTENANCE OF STREETS/ROADS 
 

A. Public Streets (Resolution 2-25-2020) 
 

1. Hard Surfaced Streets: Buffalo County, on behalf of the public, 
assumes ownership and surface maintenance of, but not improvements 
upon or to, all hard surfaced roads and streets, dedicated to and accepted 
by the public under the provisions of this subdivision regulation. After 
acceptance of dedication, the County shall be responsible for snow 
clearing of the dedicated hard surfaced streets and/or roads as the same 
can be performed by the county as part of a county wide plan for snow 
clearing of public roads. (Resolution 2-25-2020) 
 

2. Non-hard surfaced Streets: Buffalo County, on behalf of the 
public, assumes ownership, upon and to, but not improvements upon or 
to, all non-hard surfaced roads and streets, dedicated to and accepted by 
the public by resolution of Buffalo County under the following terms. After 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
28 | P a g e  
 

acceptance of dedication, the County shall be responsible for snow 
clearing of the dedicated streets and/or roads as the same can be 
performed by the county as part of a county wide plan for snow clearing of 
public roads. The Subdivider as part of the subdivision process shall enter 
into a road improvement/maintenance agreement with the County signed 
by the subdivider and any entity having a lien on the subdivided real 
estate. (Attached is form agreement) This improvement/maintenance 
agreement shall run with the land sought to be subdivided and shall 
minimally provide that the Subdivider shall:  
 

a. For two (2) Five (5) years after date of county approval of 
the final plat of the subdivision, be responsible to keep the 
dedicated streets supplied with gravel, be responsible for all 
grading of the gravel, and to maintain shoulders of the dedicated 
streets and/or roads  
 

b. After this two-five-year period, that the Subdivider shall be 
responsible for an additional three (3) five (5) years to keep the 
road graveled. For these three (3) following five (5) years, the 
County shall be responsible for no more than once a month 
monthly maintenance grading and snow plowing as the same can 
be performed by the county as part of a county wide plan for snow 
clearing and grading of public roads. Shoulder maintenance, as 
provided by Buffalo County’s Subdivision Resolution, is not an item 
of surface maintenance. It Shoulder maintenance is a road/street 
improvement item should future shoulder work be necessary.  
 

c. That should the Subdivider not adequately gravel, grade, 
or adequately maintain the subdivision street(s) while the 
Subdivider is responsible for such activities under the terms of the 
maintenance agreement then the Buffalo County Highway 
Superintendent shall notify Subdivider of the inadequate graveling, 
gravel grading, and/or lack of shoulder maintenance. If the 
inadequacy is not remedied within ten (10) days, the 
Superintendent shall proceed to take procedures to obtain and 
place gravel, and/or maintain shoulders by whatever means 
feasible and the Subdivider shall be liable for such costs incurred 
by Buffalo County.  

 
d. The failure of Buffalo County to take full steps to remedy 

the situation in any one instance shall not constitute a waiver of 
future actions by Buffalo County.  
 

e. Waiver: In the event that County needs to create a rural 
road improvement district to pay for gravel and/or grading within the 
subdivision as provided in this subsection, the Subdivider and any 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
29 | P a g e  
 

lienholder of or to the subdivided property as part of the subdivision 
acceptance process for all lands within the accepted subdivision, 
waives the right to protest formulation of a rural road improvement 
district for the streets within a subdivision for this maintenance 
purpose all as allowed in current Nebraska Law Sec 39-1638. This 
provision does not limit creation of a rural road improvement district 
for any other purpose within the subdivision. (Resolution 2-25-
2020)  
 

B. Private Streets  
 

a. Paved: Buffalo County does not assume maintenance nor 
ownership of paved or otherwise hard-surfaced private streets.  
 

b. Non-paved: Buffalo County does not assume 
maintenance nor ownership of unpaved private streets.  
 

c. Any dedication to the public for a private road, street, or 
way is solely for reservation of potential public street use and 
granting of easements. (Resolution 2-25-2020)  
 

C. Subdivisions created prior to effective date of this subdivision 
resolution, or created after effective date and approved by a 
municipal zoning jurisdiction that desire county surface 
maintenance.  
 

a. For subdivisions authorized by this Board on or prior 
February 18, 2009, and not having a surface maintenance 
agreement in effect with Buffalo County as of February 25, 2020, 
Buffalo County shall not assume surface maintenance of roads and 
streets and/or parts thereof dedicated for public use until the streets 
in the subdivision or portion thereof comply with regulations as to 
Chapters 4 (design standards), 5 (minimum improvements and 
maintenance), and 6 (subdivisions within flood plain). If county 
surface maintenance is sought within these subdivision(s), a written 
request for county surface maintenance shall be made upon 
application comprised of the lesser of: (a) party or parties owning 
twenty (20) percentage of street frontage or (b) three owners of 
land in the subdivision delivered to Buffalo County Clerk. 
Thereafter, the Board will consider the application for surface 
maintenance and after review and report by County Highway 
Superintendent to this Board and public hearing. Applicants shall 
bear any and all costs of engineer statements as to need of and 
placement of water conveyances, determining road grades and 
angles, and any other matter needing study and review to 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
30 | P a g e  
 

determine whether the request meets this subdivision resolution’s 
standards and requirements. (Resolution 2- 25-2020)  
 

b. For subdivisions created and approved by municipalities 
that are situated outside of municipal limits that do not have surface 
maintenance agreement in effect with Buffalo County as of 
February 25, 2020, (date of approval by County Board) Buffalo 
County shall not assume surface maintenance of roads and streets 
and/or parts thereof dedicated for public use until the streets in the 
subdivision or portion thereof comply with regulations as to 
Chapters 4 (design standards), 5 (minimum improvements and 
maintenance, with a road maintenance contract (Sec. 5.08 or as 
renumbered), see attached example, is executed), and 6 
(subdivisions within flood plain) and see attached suggested 
contract) between the County and owner(s) and any lienholder(s) of 
all lands within the municipally created subdivision seeking county 
maintenance. Parts of a subdivision or parts of the dedicated 
streets are not allowed. Proof of ownership, reporting all 
lienholder(s), and other parties of interest of all lots shall to be 
provided with the maintenance request. Furthermore, if there is 
more than one owner, one owner shall be designated as the owner 
on the application, with that designated owner to be notified all 
notifications required under this provision. After acceptance of the 
county maintenance application, the County shall be responsible for 
snow clearing of the dedicated streets and/or roads as the same 
can be performed by the county as part of a county wide plan for 
snow clearing of public roads. This improvement/maintenance 
agreement shall run with the land sought to be subdivided and shall 
minimally provide that the owner(s) shall:  
 

i. For two (2) five (5) years after date of approval of 
the county maintenance applications, be responsible to keep 
the dedicated streets supplied with gravel, be responsible for 
all grading of the gravel, and to maintain shoulders of the 
dedicated streets and/or roads.  

 
ii. After this two five-year period, that the owner(s) 

shall be responsible for an additional three (3) five (5) years 
to keep the road graveled. For these three (3)  following five 
(5) years, the County shall be responsible for no more than 
once a month monthly maintenance grading and snow 
plowing as the same can be performed by the county as part 
of a county wide plan for snow clearing and grading of public 
roads. Shoulder maintenance, as provided by Buffalo 
County’s Subdivision Resolution, is not an item of surface 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
31 | P a g e  
 

maintenance. It is a road/street improvement item should 
future shoulder work be necessary.  
 

iii. That should the owner(s) not adequately gravel, 
grade, or adequately maintain the subdivision street(s) while 
the owner(s) is responsible for such activities under the 
terms of the maintenance agreement then the Buffalo 
County Highway Superintendent shall notify owner(s) of the 
inadequate graveling, gravel grading, and/or lack of shoulder 
maintenance. If the inadequacy is not remedied within ten 
(10) days, the Superintendent shall proceed to take 
procedures to obtain and place gravel, and/or maintain 
shoulders by whatever means feasible and owner(s) shall be 
liable for such costs incurred by Buffalo County.  
 

iv. The failure of Buffalo County to take full steps to 
remedy the situation in any one instance shall not constitute 
a waiver of future actions by Buffalo County.  
 

v. Waiver: In the event that County needs to create a 
rural road improvement district to pay for gravel and/or 
grading within the subdivision as provided in this subsection, 
the owner(s) and any lienholder of or to the subdivided 
property as part of the subdivision acceptance process for all 
lands within the accepted subdivision, waives the right to 
protest formulation of a rural road improvement district for 
the streets within a subdivision for this maintenance purpose 
all as allowed in current Nebraska Law Sec 39-1638. This 
provision does not limit creation of a rural road improvement 
district for any other purpose within the subdivision. 
(Resolution 2-25-2020)”. 

 
c. The following specific sections in Chapters 4, 5, and 6 shall not 
prohibit county acceptance:  

1. Sec. 4.04 relating Minimum easement reservation, 
front, side, and rear.  

2. Sec. 4.06 relating to block length.  
3. Sec. 4.09 regarding maintenance of common 

facilities. (Resolution 2-25-2020) 
 

Sec. 5.09 POSTAL FACILITIES: The area for Cluster Block Unit U.S. Postal 
Service delivery and collection facilities shall be graded and surfaced to 
standards required for dedicated streets entering existing public streets and/or 
roads. The subdivider shall place United States Postal Service approved Cluster 
Box Unit mail delivery/collection facility(ies) within the subdivision.  Each Cluster 
Box Unit mail delivery/collection facility(ies) shall have at least a five (5) feet pull 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
32 | P a g e  
 

over area to the side of the traveled surface of a dedicated street surfaced to the 
same surface as the public street abutting the Cluster Block Unit(s).   All U.S 
Postal Service delivery and collection facilities shall constructed within 100 feet of 
the entry point into a subdivision.  Other than entry location(s), no mailboxes or 
other U.S. Postal Service delivery and collection facilities are allowed to be 
constructed within or along the publicly dedicated streets within a proposed 
subdivision.” (Resolution 2-25-2020) 

CHAPTER 6 
 
SUBDIVISION WITHIN FLOODPLAIN 
 
Sec. 6.01 SUBDIVISION OF LAND WITHIN FLOODPLAIN  In addition to all 
other requirements set forth in this subdivision regulations, all platting or 
subdivision of land shall comply with all existing federal, state, and Buffalo 
County Flood Plain Regulations.  There shall be no platting or subdivision of land 
allowed by the Board within the area defined as a floodplain unless the following 
conditions are met: 
 

A. Grade and Elevations  The proposed centerline grade of streets, roads, 
or private roadways located within the floodplain that are necessary to 
serve the proposed development shall not be placed at an elevation 
higher than one (1) foot below the 10-year frequency flood elevation.  
Subdivider shall furnish professional engineer or surveyor written 
comment certifying this elevation criterion.  

B. Roads, culverts, and water holding/carrying devices  Any subdivision 
having any proposed and/or placement of roads, water conveyance 
system, culvert, water drops, and/or similar water carrying/holding devices 
in flood plains shall have appropriate written hydrological study submitted 
by licensed professional engineer with subdivision plans concluding that 
the construction, structures, and/or devices proposed when considering 
preliminary plat and installed in place when considering a final plat can 
fulfill 25-year frequency flood demands. 

C. Borrow and Fill Areas  The subdivider shall obtain the approval of the 
County Floodplain Administrator for the location or design of the borrow 
area or areas within the flood plain all as provided in Buffalo County 
Floodplain Regulations.  If fill material is to be brought into the flood plain 
area from outside the food plain, the amount of fill and location of where fill 
is to be placed shall be indicated.    

 
CHAPTER 7 
 
FORM OF PRELIMINARY PLAT 
 
Sec. 7.01 INFORMATION ON A PRELIMINARY PLAT  The preliminary plat 
shall be accurately and legibly drawn to a scale that clearly shows all pertinent 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
33 | P a g e  
 

information required in this chapter. The proposed layout and design of all the 
features of the subdivision shall conform to this resolution and to the rules and 
regulations adopted by the Board. The following required information, provided in 
no less than 12-point font, shall be identified and shown on the preliminary plat: 
 

A. Name of the subdivision  The name of the subdivision shall not duplicate 
or approximate the name of an existing or previously vacated subdivision 
within Buffalo County except as hereafter provided.  A subdivision name 
may duplicate or approximate the name of an existing adjacent 
subdivision if such subdivision is an expansion thereof and shall be made 
by adding the suffix "First Addition" to the first duplication of the name, and 
then continuing in sequence.  A subdivision name may duplicate or 
approximate a previously vacated subdivision and shall be made by 
adding wording such as “First Addition” or appropriate numerical 
sequence that distinguishes the name of the submitted plat from a prior 
vacated subdivision. 

B. North arrow and scale, map details  North arrow, scale of drawing, date 
prepared, the sheet number and total number of sheets included within 
each set of the preliminary plat submittal. 

C. Contour  Contour lines, not to exceed five (5) feet, to duplicate 
adequately the existing and proposed topography and land form within 
and adjacent to the subdivision. The scaled distance between contour 
lines shall not exceed two hundred (200) feet. 

D. Existing Streets Shown  Existing and proposed streets and private 
roadways within and adjacent thereto. This shall include the right-of-way 
and driving surface width, tangent length, the centerline radius of each 
curve and its interior angle, the angle of intersection with all other streets 
and private roadways, and the name or number of each. Where the 
preliminary plat submitted covers only a portion of the subdivider's tract, a 
sketch of the prospective future street system of the unsubmitted part of 
the tract shall be furnished; and the street system of the part being platted 
shall be considered in connection with the proper projection of streets into 
the portion of the tract not being presently platted. 

E. Existing Boundaries Shown  The locations of the present property lines, 
monuments, section or quarter-section lines, the lines of incorporated 
areas, and subdivision jurisdiction lines utilizing no less than two (2) such 
established survey items. 

F. Lot Dimensions  All lot lines and their dimensions. The dimensions along 
curvilinear lines shall be noted as being chord and arc length. 

G. Lot and Block Numbering and Sequence, Outlots  Lot and block 
numbers and outlot letters with the total number of each. All lots shall be 
numbered in sequence beginning with the number one (1) and continuing 
consecutively through each block with no omission or duplication. All 
blocks shall be numbered in the same manner.  Outlots shall be assigned 
an alphabetical letter beginning with the letter "A" and continuing through 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
34 | P a g e  
 

the alphabet. Areas, except streets, to be dedicated or reserved for public 
or private parks or other public areas shall be outlots. 

H. Public Use Areas  Areas for schools, parks, playgrounds, fire stations, 
and other common areas for public use, along with any requested 
consideration for such area. 

I. Easement Information  The location, width, and purpose of all existing 
and proposed easements within or adjacent to the subdivision and all 
flowage easements. 

J. Boundary Lines of Subdivision  A certified accurate boundary survey 
showing sufficient linear, angular and curve data to determine the bearing 
and length of all boundary lines of the subdivision, a legal description 
thereof, and the number of acres therein. (This survey shall be field 
measured and shall mathematically close with an error of not more than 
one in twenty-five thousand (1/25,000). This survey shall also locate and 
identify all section corners and section lines. Where the subdivision abuts 
on an existing plat or other surveyed tracts, the distances, angles, and 
bearing of any common lines shall be shown; and any differences along 
common lines of the original survey and the survey of this subdivision 
shall be noted. 

K. Certification from Planning and Zoning Administrator  A certificate for 
the signature of the Chairman of the Commission in a form approved by 
the Planning and Zoning Administrator. 

 
Sec. 7.02 INFORMATION ON OR ACCOMPANYING A PRELIMINARY PLAT 
The following required information shall be identified and shown on the 
preliminary plat or on accompanying sheets: 
 

A. Grade and Elevation Profiles  Centerline profiles of all existing and 
proposed streets and private roadways within and adjacent to the 
subdivision. The profile shall show points of intersection with all other 
streets and private roadways, stationing, the existing ground surface 
elevations, the proposed street grades, the length of vertical curves 
between changes in grade, and the profiles and horizontal alignment of 
temporary dead-end streets extending three hundred (300) feet beyond 
the limits of the subdivision. 

B. Drainage Study  The drainage study shall include the following: 
1. A topographic map showing the drainage area and resulting runoff 

from all land lying outside the limits of the preliminary plat which 
discharges storm water runoff into or through the plat. 

2. A topographic map showing proposed contour lines and all 
subdrainage areas and resulting runoff within the limits of the 
preliminary plat. 

C. Surrounding Areas  A vicinity sketch showing the general location of the 
preliminary plat in relation to existing streets and section lines. 

D. Waivers  These provisions may be waived by zoning administrator, 
planning and zoning commission, and/or Buffalo County Board when 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
35 | P a g e  
 

satisfactory pre-existing studies, infrastructure, and/or accessible data 
from other sources exists. 

 
Sec. 7.03 ADDITIONAL REQUIRED INFORMATION  Accompanying the 
preliminary plat submittal, the following information shall be submitted in a 
statement from the subdivider:  
 

A. Interest of Subdivider in surrounding lands  Any interest the subdivider 
has in the land surrounding the preliminary plat and the nature of such 
interest. 

B. Disclosure of Need for Special Provisions  All requests to be submitted 
to the Board for special use permits, changes of zone, vacations, and 
variances (variances submitted to Board of Adjustment) which are 
required to complete the development. 

C. Information concerning Subdivider  The name, telephone number, and 
mailing address of the subdivider, any other person the subdivider may 
want informed of the preliminary plat process, and any person authorized 
to act on the subdivider's behalf. 

D. Needed Deviations from Adopted Rules and Regulations  All 
deviations from this resolution and the adopted rules and regulations shall 
be set forth, reasons given for each deviation, reasons given on how the 
proposal meets the intent, and why the proposal should be accepted. 

 
Sec. 7.04 DEVELOPMENT WITHIN FLOODPLAIN  Areas within Zone “A” of 
adopted or amended flood plain maps of Buffalo County shall be shaded on the 
preliminary plat, administrative plat,  or on any subdivision of land authorized 
under this resolution. 
 
CHAPTER 8 
 
FORM OF FINAL PLAT 
 
Sec. 8.01 FINAL PLAT REQUIREMENTS  The final plat shall comply with the 
subdivision design standards set out in Chapter 4 hereof, shall comply with the 
approved preliminary plat, and shall consist of an accurate map or plat 
designating specifically the land so laid out and particularly describing the lots, 
blocks, streets, roads, alleys, public ways or other portions of the same intended 
to be dedicated for public use or for the use of the purchasers or owners of lots 
fronting thereon or adjacent thereto. 
 
Sec. 8.02 FORM OF THE FINAL PLAT  The plat in its final form submitted for 
approval shall be as follows: 

A. Size  The size of each sheet of said final plat shall be eighteen by twenty-
four (18 X 24) inches. All lots and, wherever practicable, blocks in their 
entirety, shall be shown on one sheet. 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
36 | P a g e  
 

B. Mylar  Said final plat shall be accurately, clearly, and legibly drawn in 
black waterproof India ink or photographed upon clear mylar which is a 
minimum of three thousandths (.003) of an inch thick or its equivalent. 
Affidavits, certificates, legal descriptions, and acknowledgements shall be 
legibly lettered or printed upon the final plat with opaque ink. Signatures 
shall be in black opaque ink. 

1. All font shall be legible and require a minimum of 12-point font. 
C. Margins  A marginal line shall be drawn completely around each sheet, 

leaving an entirely blank margin of at least one-half inch. 
1. There shall be a 3” x 3” blank space in the top left-hand corner 
for recording purposes. 

D. Scale  The final plat shall be drawn to one of the following scales only: 1 
inch equals 100 feet. 

E. Sheet Numbering and Index  If more than one sheet is used, the 
particular number of the sheet and the total number of sheets comprising 
the final plat shall be stated on each of the sheets; and the relationship to 
each adjoining sheet shall be clearly shown.  If more than two sheets are 
used, an index sheet the same size as required above shall be included 
showing, at whatever scale is necessary, the entire subdivision with an 
indication by the use of dotted lines of the component areas which are 
shown on the other sheets. 

F. Boundaries  The boundary of the subdivision shall be clearly identified on 
the final plat. All lines shown on the final plat which do not constitute a part 
of the subdivision itself shall be clearly distinguishable from those lines 
which are a part of the subdivision, and any area enclosed by such lines 
shall be labeled "not a part of this subdivision." 

 
Sec. 8.03 CERTIFICATES AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS ON FINAL PLAT 
The final plat shall show the following: 
 

A. Property Owner Acknowledgment and Dedication  Owner's and 
lienholder’s acknowledgement and offer of dedication, if any. Such plat 
shall be signed and acknowledged by the owner or owners of the land 
subdivided in the same manner and form as the acknowledgment of a 
deed conveying real estate, before some officer authorized to take the 
acknowledgments of deeds; 

B. Surveyor’s Certificate  Certificate of the surveyor; (Illustrated Exhibit C) 
C. Planning Commission Approval  Certificate of approval by the Planning 

and Zoning Commission; 
D. County Board Approval  Certificate of the County Clerk showing 

approval by the Board and acceptance of the offer of dedication evidenced 
by signature of County Board Chairperson and attested to by the County 
Clerk (illustrated Exhibit B); 

E. Treasurer’s Statement Signature Concerning Taxes.  Statement 
Signature by County Treasurer. (Illustrated Exhibit B); 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
37 | P a g e  
 

F. Other Declarations  All affidavits, certificates, acknowledgments, 
endorsements, dedications, and notarial seals as are required by law and 
the provisions of this resolution shall be as approved by the County 
Attorney. (Illustrated Exhibit B) 

1. Any stamps, required on the plat, shall not cover or interfere with 
any part of the document. 

G. Names of Signers Typed Under Signature Line  All signatures shall 
have typed/clearly printed names of signers below or next to signatures. 

1. All signatures shall be made in black or blue ink. 
 
Sec. 8.04 DATA REQUIRED ON A FINAL PLAT  Various data is required to be 
disclosed on the final plat.   The particulars are as follows: 
 

A. The final plat shall be accurately and legibly drawn and shall show the 
following: 

1. Survey Information and data  All survey and mathematical 
information with sufficient linear, angular, and curve data necessary 
to locate all existing and placed monuments and stakes, and to 
locate and retrace all lots, blocks, and parcels within the 
subdivision, and the boundary of the subdivision. Where the land 
being subdivided abuts on an existing plat, the distances, angles, 
and bearing of all common lines and the street centerline points 
shall be shown and any differences in measurements so noted. 

2. Scale  All dimensions on the final plat shall be stated to the nearest 
one-hundredth (.01) of a foot. 

3. Lot and Block Line data  Lot, outlot, and block lines. All such lines 
shall be shown and dimensioned. 

a. Where such lines are curved at street intersections, the 
length of tangents shall be shown. 

b. Where such lines abut curvilinear streets, chord or arc 
distances shall be shown and noted. 

c. All angles of deflection or bearings of such lines other than 
those which are at right angles to the centerline of a street or 
on a radial line of a curved street. 

4. Lot and Block Numbering  Lot, outlot, and block identity. Within 
each block all lots shall be numbered in sequence, beginning with 
the number one (1) and continuing consecutively throughout each 
block with no omission or duplication. All blocks shall be numbered 
in the same manner. Outlots shall be assigned an alphabetical 
letter beginning with the letter "A" and continuing consecutively 
through the alphabet. 

5. Dedications and Reservation data  Areas to be dedicated or 
reserved for public use. For streets, private roadways, and other 
public ways within and adjacent to the subdivision, the location, 
name, centerline, centerline radius, length, and interior angle of  



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
38 | P a g e  
 

horizontal curves, tangent length, and width. All areas shall be 
located and identified which are to be dedicated or reserved for 
public use, including park land and other public areas. All such 
parcels shall be outlots except streets dedicated to the public. A 
clear distinction shall be made as to which parcels are to be 
dedicated to the public from those parcels to be privately owned by 
or reserved for public use. 

6. Legal Descriptions prior to and after Subdivision process  
Location of the subdivision, including legal description of the 
property, prior to subdivision including location of boundary lines in 
relation to section, township, range, county and state. 

7. Government Survey Corners and Monument Locations  The 
location and identification of all quarter-section corners, section 
corners, section lines, monuments and stakes found and placed. 
The boundary lines shall be located in reference to existing official 
monuments. Describe the stakes, monuments, or other evidence 
used to determine the boundaries of the subdivision. 

8. Square Feet of Lots and Outlots  The lot area in square feet for 
each lot and outlot, the number of acres, total number of lots and 
outlots within the subdivision. 

9. Disclosure of Areas Not Subdivided  All areas not a part of the 
plat due to other ownership(s) shall be clearly shown as “NOT A 
PART”. 

B. The following data shall be shown on each sheet of the final plat: 
1. The name shall include the words “subdivision” or “addition”; and 
2. The name shall, the sequentially, use of first (1st), second (2nd), 

third (3rd), etc. for additions or subdivisions shall be made in 
sequence, but only if the final plat is located adjacent to a plat with 
the same name. 

3. Scale. 
4. North arrow. 
5. Sheet number and the total number of sheets comprising the final 

plat. 
6. The name and date of approval of the Preliminary Plat upon which 

the Final Plat is based. 
7. Date of the subdivision. 
8. This information shall appear directly beneath the name of the Final 

Plat. 
 

Sec. 8.05 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REQUIRED  Accompanying the final 
plat submittal, the following items and information shall be submitted by 
subdivider: 
 

A. Surrounding Land Interest Disclosure  Any interest the subdivider has 
in the land surrounding the final plat and the nature of such interest. 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
39 | P a g e  
 

B. Special Requests  All requests to be submitted to the Board for special 
use permits, changes of zone, vacations, and variances (variances 
submitted to Board of Adjustment) which are required to complete the 
development. 

C. Subdivider Information  The name, telephone number, mailing address 
of the subdivider, record owner, and any other person the subdivider may 
want informed of the final plat process, and any person who has the 
authorization to act on behalf of the subdivider. 

D. Street Profile Information  Street profiles that show existing ground 
surface elevations based on a current field survey, the grades, and the 
lengths of all vertical curves of the streets within the final plat which are to 
be dedicated to the public. The grades shall be in accordance with the 
minimum standards of the Board. 

E. Flood Plain Zone Information  At least one copy of final plat submitted 
shall shade areas that lie within Zone “A” of adopted or amended county 
flood plain maps. 

 
Sec. 8.06 SURVEY REQUIREMENTS  Plats and the surveys that accompany 
them shall disclose the following information: 
 

A. Survey Data  A land survey is required to support data furnished on the 
final plat, and this survey shall conform to all requirements set forth in this 
paragraph. All angles and dimensions shown on the plat shall be field 
measured. The survey of the centerline of all streets within the plat and 
the periphery of the plat shall mathematically close with an error of not 
more than one in twenty-five thousand (1/25,000).   The final plat shall 
include a certificate signed by a registered land surveyor certifying that he 
has accurately surveyed the subdivision and attesting to the accuracy of 
the survey, the correct location of all permanent survey monuments 
shown, and that the lots, blocks, streets, alleys, public ways, and grounds 
are staked and marked as herein required. The surveyor's certificate shall 
include a metes and bounds traverse description of the land being 
subdivided and the number of acres included. The surveyor's names, land 
surveying registration number, address, and if applicable, firm name shall 
appear below his signature. 

B. Monumentation  The land surveyor who performs the survey and certifies 
the final plat shall be obligated to place all of monuments and stakes in the 
subdivision and show the same as described in Appendix D.  
 

Sec. 8.07 Dedication  Acceptance of dedicated land shall be recorded in the 
minutes of the County Board.   
 
Sec. 8.08 Filing Original and copies of the Final Plat  The owner or other 
person proposing to subdivide shall have the responsibility for transmitting to, 
filing with, and paying any filing fees of such documents with the Office of the 
Register of Deeds.  Minimally the following documents shall be filed with the 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
40 | P a g e  
 

Office of Register of Deeds: the approved final plat; a certified copy of the 
resolution accepting said final plat, and any other data that must be recorded.  
When presented for filing, it shall consist of the original Mylar plat and five copies 
thereof. 
 
CHAPTER 9 
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
Sec. 9.01 SEVERABILITY  Each section and each subdivision of this resolution 
is hereby declared to be independent of every other section or subdivision of a 
section so far as inducement for passage of this resolution is concerned; and the 
invalidity of any section or subdivision of a section of this resolution shall not 
invalidate any other section or subdivision of a section hereof. 
 
Sec. 9.02 PENALTY  Any violation of this resolution or of any regulation made by 
the County Board under the provisions of this resolution shall be a misdemeanor. 
Any person, partnership, association, club, or corporation violating the provisions 
of this resolution or of any regulation of the County Board, shall be guilty of a 
Class III misdemeanor. Each day such violation continues after notice of violation 
has been given to the offender may be considered a separate offense.  
 
Sec. 9.03 AMENDMENTS TO SUBDIVISION RESOLUTION Amendments to 
substantive issues in this Resolution and fees are amended as follows:  The 
procedure for the consideration and adoption of any such proposed 
amendments, excepting changes for fees, shall be in like manner as that 
required for the consideration and adoption of the resolution except herein before 
or herein after modified.   
 

A. Subdivision Resolution Amendments for matters other than fees: 
Suggested amendments to this subdivision resolution shall be initiated by  
the County Board of Commissioners by a motion of the County Board, by 
the Planning Commission by motion of a member of the Planning and 
Zoning Commission, or by written petition of any property owner 
addressed to the County Board of Commissioners written application, filed 
in the Office of the County Clerk or Office of the Zoning Administrator.  
Upon receipt of such application, the Zoning Administrator shall forward 
the application to amend to the Planning Commission for its 
recommendation.  Upon public hearing with notice as prescribed in this 
Resolution, the Planning Commission shall forward its recommendation to 
the County Board, within thirty (30) sixty (60) days.  Upon public hearing, 
the County Board may allow, deny, or allow with modifications, the 
proposed amendment all done in resolution form.     

B. Fee Amendment  Fees referred to this Resolution can be reviewed and 
amended by County Board at public hearing without need of submission of 
the same to the Planning Commission. 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
41 | P a g e  
 

 
Sec. 9.04 CONFLICTING RESOLUTIONS REPEALED  All regulations, 
resolutions, and/or parts thereof in conflict of this regulation are hereby repealed 
except any regulations that impose more restrictive regulations than are imposed 
herein. 
 
Sec. 9.05 PURPOSE OF CATCH HEADS  The catch heads appearing in 
connection with the foregoing sections are inserted simply for convenience, to 
serve the purpose of any index and they shall be wholly disregarded by any 
person, officer, court, or other tribunal in construing the terms and provisions of 
this resolution. 
 
Sec. 9.06 REFERENCE TO LEGAL AUTHORITY, EFFECT  The reference to a 
legal authority or annotation stated under any of the foregoing sections, if so 
stated, is inserted simply for convenience and to serve the purpose of referring to 
suggested statutory authority or other legal authority.  In no event shall such 
reference or annotation be indicative of sole authority of such section or 
regulation. 
 
Sec. 9.07 EFFECTIVE DATE.  This resolution shall take effect at 12:01 o’clock 
a.m. February 18, 2009 and be published according to law. 
 
           
  



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
1 | P a g e  
 

APPENDIX APPENDIXES: 
 
EXHIBIT “A” 
  
LIMITED TITLE REPORT (can be used for administrative or formalized 
subdivisions) 
 
 
PREPARED FOR:  Buffalo County Attorney’s Office 
 
Dated of Search: 
 
___________________________, undersigned, a duly licensed abstractor 
hereby certifies that they have examined the records in the Office of Buffalo 
County, Nebraska Register of Deeds, as the same relates to the following 
matters only and to the following described real estate, to-wit: 
 
 
 
OWNER’S NAME FOR ACKNOWLEDGEMENT: 
 
 
 
 
 
LIENHOLDERS: 
 
 
 
 
EASEMENTS: 
 
 
     ____________________________ 
         
     Registered Abstractor 
 
 
Certificate of Authority: _____________________ 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
2 | P a g e  
 

EXHIBIT “B” (can be used for administrative or formalized subdivisions) 
 
Suggested language for Dedication: 
 
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS:  that  (owner(s), lienholders, etc.,) 
being all owners and other parties of interest  (lienholders, etc.) of the land 
described hereon, have caused the same to be surveyed, subdivided and platted 
and designated as  “ (name of subdivision), a subdivision being in the “          “ 
quarter of Section   “   “, Township “   “, north, Township “     “, West of the 6th 
P.M., Buffalo County, Nebraska  (state complete legal description) and said 
owners and other parties of interest hereby ratify and approve the disposition of 
their property as shown on the above plat, and do hereby dedicate (roads, etc.) 
to the use and benefit and enjoyment of (describe the public, particular lots, etc.,) 
and further dedicate the utility easements (if any) to the various utility companies 
as shown upon said plat, and acknowledge said addition to be made with the free 
consent and in accord with the desires of said owners and other parties of 
interest. 
 
Dated this _____ day of ________________, 2______. 
 
(Signatures of all parties:  _____________________, (typed name or) 

(or typed name)  
 
 
 
Suggested language of Resolution/Clerk’s Certification: 
 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BUFFALO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF BUFFALO COUNTY, NEBRASKA, 
in regular session with quorum present, that the plat of “(name of subdivision)”, a 
subdivision being in the “          “ quarter of Section   “   “, Township “   “, north, 
Township “     “, West of the 6th P.M., Buffalo County, Nebraska  duly made out, 
acknowledged and certified is hereby approved, accepted, ratified, and 
authorized to be filed and recorded in the Office of the Register of Deeds, Buffalo 
County, Nebraska.   
 
Moved by:_______________________, and Seconded by ________________ 
             (typed name)      (typed name) 
that the foregoing resolution be adopted.  Said Motion carried on _____ vote. 
 
 
STATE OF NEBRASKA  ) 
    ) SS 
COUNTY OF BUFFALO ) 
 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
3 | P a g e  
 

 I  (name of county clerk) , County Clerk in and for Buffalo County, 
Nebraska, being duly qualified, do hereby certify that the above is a true and 
correct copy of the resolution as passed by the Buffalo County Board of 
Supervisors Board of Commissioners on the _____ day of 
____________________, 2______. 
 
(seal)      ________________________ 
      (typed name), County Clerk 
 
Suggested language for Treasurer’s Statement Signature: 
 
COUNTY TREASURER’S CERTIFICATE 
 
This is to certify that I find no regular or special taxes due on the property 
described within the surveyor’s certificate and described within this plat, as 
shown on the records of this office as of this ________ day of 
___________________, 20____. 
 
(seal)     ___________________,  
     Typed Name: Treasurer 
     For Buffalo County, Nebraska 
 
 
 
Suggested language for Planning and Zoning Commission’s statement: 
 
 
The undersigned, (name of person), Chairperson of Vice-Chairperson of the 
Buffalo County Planning and Zoning Commission do hereby certify that the 
foregoing plat of (name subdivision), a subdivision being in the “          “ quarter of 
Section   “   “, Township “   “, North, Township “     “, West of the 6th P.M., Buffalo 
County, Nebraska,  was submitted to Buffalo County Planning and Zoning 
Commission for public meeting and review and that the recommendation by the 
Buffalo County Planning and Zoning Commission was made to the Buffalo 
County Board of Supervisors Board of Commissioners on the ______ day of 
________________________, 2________. 
 
 
     ________________________ 
     (typed name) Chairperson 
 
 
REQUIRED LANGUAUGE LANGUAGE IF PRIVATE STREETS AND/OR WAYS 
IN SUBDIVISION: 
 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
4 | P a g e  
 

“One or more of the access easements shown on this plat is private, and 
does not meet state or county standards for inclusion in the secondary 
road system and will not be maintained by Buffalo County. The property 
owner and successor thereto agrees to not request road maintenance 
from Buffalo County until such time as the private streets are brought to  
the then applicable Buffalo County’s Subdivision Street Requirement 
standards”. 

 
 
 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
5 | P a g e  
 

EXHIBIT “C”  (can be used for administrative or formalized subdivisions) 
 
 
Suggested Surveyor’s Certificate: 
 
 
I,  (name of surveyor), do hereby certify that (he/she/surveying company) 
surveyed (name of subdivision) an addition to Buffalo County, Nebraska, as 
shown on the above plat, (crew chief, surveyor in training, etc.), that the lots are 
well and accurately staked off and marked, the dimensions of the lots are as 
shown on the above plat, the lots bear their own number, outlots are identified 
where present and/or noted, and that survey was made with reference to know 
and recorded monuments.  
 
 
(seal)     ________________________ 
     (Name of Surveyor) 
     Neb. Reg. L.S. No. ________ 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
6 | P a g e  
 

EXHIBIT “D” 
 
MONUMENTATION 
 
 The surveyor shall establish, reestablish or confirm the prior establishment 
of permanent monuments at each exterior boundary point including angle points, 
points of curvature, or change in directions on the exterior boundary of the 
subdivision.  The surveyor shall establish permanent monuments at each block 
corner, lot corner, or lot other otherwise created and permanent monuments shall 
be established at all angle points, points of curvature, or change in directions 
around the boundary of each new lot created by the subdivision.  All permanent 
monuments shall be established, reestablished, or confirmed prior to recording of 
the plat presented for filing.   
 
The monuments set shall be constructed of material capable of being detected 
by commonly used magnetic locators.  These monuments shall consist of a 5/8” 
x 24” reinforcing rod, constructed of material capable of being detected by 
commonly used magnetic locators.  A durable cap bearing the registration 
number of the professional land surveyor responsible for the establishment of the 
monument shall be affixed securely to the top of each monument.  The surveyor 
shall follow additional State of Nebraska regulations and statutes, and the 
minimum standards as adopted by the Professional Surveyors Association of 
Nebraska when extenuating circumstances dictate the required monument 
cannot be established with the minimum monument ingredient required herein.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
7 | P a g e  
 

EXHIBIT “E”  
SUBDIVISION AGREEMENT 

 
(Name of subdivision) 

 
In the County of Buffalo, Nebraska 

The undersigned, ____________, hereinafter referred to as “Subdivider” whether 
one or more, as owners of, and _____ a party having a lien upon, the following 

described tract of land, to-wit “subject property”: 
 
(set out full legal descript of parameters of land to be subdivided)  
 
AND IS SUBJECT TO ANY EXISTING EASEMENTS OR RIGHT OF WAY BY 
RECORD.  
 
Have presented at proposed, or recently approved,  plat of the same to the 
Buffalo County Board of County Commissioners, i.e. “County” for acceptance as 
provided by law an accurate map and plat of such proposed subdivision, to be 
known as _________ SUBDIVISION, designating the land to be laid out and 
particularly describing the lots, easements, and streets belonging to such 
subdivision, with the lots designated by number, easements by dimensions, and 
streets by name, and proposes to cause the plat of such subdivision to be 
considered for acceptance and/or approved by the County.   
 
In consideration of the acceptance of the plat of said (PROVIDE NAME OF THE 
SUBDVISION-IN FULL), the Subdivider hereby consents and agrees with the 
County of Buffalo, Nebraska, as follows:  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

* This Space Reserved for Register of Deeds * 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
8 | P a g e  
 

1. Surface Maintenance of Roads.    

 
A. For a period of two (2) years commencing from date of the County s 

acceptance of dedication of streets and/or roads in the foregoing 

subdivision, the Subdivider shall grade and furnish gravel for all 

dedicated streets within this subdivision.  During these two (2) years, 

the County shall be responsible for snow clearing of the dedicated 

streets as the same can be performed by the county as part of a 

county wide plan for snow clearing of public roads. 

B. After this two-year period, the Subdivider shall be responsible for an 

additional three (3) years to keep the road graveled and supply the 

same on the dedicated roads and/or streets within the subdivision.  For 

these three (3) years, the County shall be responsible for no more than 

once a month monthly maintenance grading of gravel, and seasonal 

snow plowing, as the same can be performed by the county as part of 

a county wide plan for snow clearing and grading of public roads.   

C. That should the Subdivider not adequately gravel, grade, or adequately 

maintain shoulders of the subdivision street(s) while the Subdivider is 

responsible for such activities under the terms of this maintenance 

agreement, then the Buffalo County Highway Superintendent shall 

notify Subdivider of the inadequate graveling, grading, and/or shoulder 

maintenance.  If the inadequacy is not remedied within ten (10) days, 

the Superintendent shall proceed to take procedures to obtain and 

place gravel, by whatever means feasible and Subdivider shall be 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
9 | P a g e  
 

liable for such costs incurred by Buffalo County.  

D. The failure of Buffalo County to take full steps to remedy the situation 

in any one instance shall not constitute a waiver of future actions by 

Buffalo County. 

E. Waiver: In the event that County needs to create a rural road 

improvement district to pay for gravel and/or grading within the 

subdivision as provided in this subsection, the Subdivider and 

lienholder, as part of the subdivision acceptance process for all lands 

within the accepted subdivision, waives the right to protest formulation 

of a rural road improvement district for the streets within a subdivision 

for this maintenance purpose all as allowed in current Nebraska Law 

Sec 39-1638.   This provision does not limit creation of a rural road 

improvement district for any other purpose within the subdivision.  The 

obligation to pay for graveling, gravel grading, and/or shoulder 

maintenance shall attach to all lots in the subdivision proportionately 

based upon street frontage of the dedicated street(s)/road(s), and shall 

run with the land.  The minimum charge for county work shall be five 

hundred dollars ($500.00) for mobilization fee and an hourly rate 

thereafter at the rate of $150.00 per hour per hour or fraction thereof 

plus costs of gravel purchased and delivery fees.   

 
2. After five years after date of approval of this subdivision the Subdivider 

shall have no responsibly concerning future surface maintenance of 

dedicated subdivision road(s)/street(s).  Buffalo County’s will assume 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
10 | P a g e  
 

surface maintenance of the dedicated public ways.   

 
3. “Surface Maintenance” as defined by Buffalo County’s Subdivision 

Resolution, at time of signing of this agreement, is defined as: 

 Sec. 2.36 SURFACE MAINTENANCE Buffalo County’s maintenance of 
the surface of streets within a subdivision consisting of no more than: 
once monthly grading and annual application of gravel. It does not 
include, and is not limited to the following: placement, design, and 
maintenance of culverts, bridges, or other drainage devices; design of 
streets; borrow or fill operations to build or repair street; and street 
shoulder maintenance.  
  

4. Driveway Access. Vehicular access from the lots within this subdivision 

shall only be permitted onto (or through a named street-vehicles are to 

enter through a dedicated street, not directly on an existing county road, if 

possible). 

 
5. Warranty.  The undersigned owner, as Subdivider, warrants that it is the 

owner in fee simple of the land described and proposed to be known as 

(Name of subdivision), and that an abstract of title or other sufficient proof 

of ownership has been submitted to County of Buffalo. 

 
6. Successors and Assigns.  This agreement as part of the subdivision 

process, shall be filed with the Register of Deeds of Buffalo County, 

Nebraska, at the cost of the subdivider.  This agreement shall run with the 

land and shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties 

hereto, their successors, assigns, heirs, devisees, and legatees.  Where 

the term "Subdivider" is used in this agreement, the subsequent owners of 

any lots in the subdivision shall be responsible to perform any of the 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
11 | P a g e  
 

conditions of this agreement if the Subdivider has not performed such 

conditions.  

Dated  _____________________, 20__. 

 
_____________ Subdivider 

 
 

By:  
_______________________________ 

        
      __________________________ 
      Lienholder 
        
STATE OF NEBRASKA  )   
      ) ss   
COUNTY OF BUFFALO  )   
  

On _________________________, 20__, before me, the undersigned, a 
Notary Public in and for said County and State, personally appeared 
_______________., known personally to me to be the identical person and such 
officer who signed the foregoing Subdivision Agreement and acknowledged the 
execution thereof to be his voluntary act and deed for the purpose therein 
expressed on behalf of the corporation. 
  

WITNESS my hand and notarial seal the date above written.  
 

  
 

_____________________________________________ 
 Notary Public 

 
My commission expires: __________________________ 
 
 

COUNTY OF BUFFALO, NEBRASKA 
 
 
 By:
 __________________________
__________   ____________ 
Chairperson of the Buffalo County 
Board of County Commissioners 

 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
12 | P a g e  
 

 
Attest:  __________________________ 
 

_________, County Clerk 
 
STATE OF NEBRASKA ) 
   ) ss 
COUNTY OF BUFFALO ) 
 
 Before me, a notary public, qualified in said County personally came 
___________, Chairperson of the Buffalo County Board of County 
Commissioners for the County of Buffalo, Nebraska, known to me to be such 
officer and the identical person who signed the foregoing Subdivision Agreement 
and acknowledged that the foregoing signature was her/his voluntary act and 
deed pursuant to Subdivision Acceptance Resolution 20-_____, and that the 
County’s seal was thereto affixed by proper authority. 
 
    WITNESS my hand and notarial seal on 
_________________________, 202____. 
 
 
 
         
 ___________________________________________ 
         Notary Public 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Added 2-25-2020 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
13 | P a g e  
 

 
 
EXHIBIT “F” 
 

PETITION TO THE BUFFALO COUNTY, COUNTY BOARD OF 
COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

SUBDIVISION STREET SURFACE MAINTENANCE 
 
 

We, the undersigned lot owners of l o t s  w i t h i n  t h i s  s ubdivision located in 
unincorporated Buffalo County, N e b r a s k a , known as 
__________________________ Subdivision, or part thereof identified further on 
attached street(s) mapping or otherwise, do hereby petition the County Board to 
accept surface maintenance by the Highway Department of Buffalo County, 
Nebraska,  for streets dedicated to the public under either: 

______ creation of this subdivision was done by a local municipal jurisdiction 
having subdivision jurisdiction OR 

______  creation of this subdivision was done by Buffalo County. 
 

PRINTED NAME        SIGNATURE            ADDRESS             LOT NO. OWNED     PHONE NO. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
14 | P a g e  
 

Added 2-25-2020 
 
EXHIBIT “G” 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations  
15 | P a g e  
 

 
Added 2-25-2020 

AMENDMENTS TO FEBRUARY 17, 2009 SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS 
Resolution Number Resolution Date Section Affected 
2009-009 2-17-09 Original Regs adopted  
2009-010 2-24-09 Fees established 
2013-22 5-14-13 3.20 
2013-23 5-14-13 3.21 
2013-30 6-11-13 4.03 
Motion 6-11-13 Ratify fee 
2013-59 12-10-13 3.20 (A) (2) 
2013-60 12-10-13 4.03 
2014-15 3-25-14 4.04 
2014-16 3-25-14 3.14 
2014-17 3-25-14 3.20 
2017-21 4-25-17 3.02 
2020-08 2-25-20 Subdivision Rd Amend. & 

Exhibits E, F, & G 
2020-58 12-08-20 4.06 
2021-43 
 

7-13-2021 Amend/Add Sections 
2.13, 2.23, 2.31, 2.34, 
2.35, 4.02, 1.05, 1.06, & 
4.12 

  Regulation Revision & 
Review as part of The 
Comprehensive Plan. 

   
   
   
   
 



Proposed 
Zoning 
Map 



SECTION 4 LAND USE PROFILE & PLAN. 
 

 
Buffalo County, Nebraska Comprehensive Plan – 2033. 4.19 

 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP. 
BUFFALO COUNTY, NEBRASKA 
ILLUSTRATION 4.3 
  



The proposed area to be rezoned from AGR to the AGR-1 Zoning District and AGR-2 Zoning 
District, as suggested in the Comprehensive Plan Map (Page 4.19) is as follows: 
 
Area to designated to be within the  newly formed AGR-2 Zoning District shall be as follows: 
 
Commencing where the Zoning jurisdiction of the City of Kearney on its’ west side intersection 
the north boundary of Interstate-80 on its’ north side, thence west to the centerline of Evergreen 
Street, then north extending to one-half mile south of 56th Street, thence west one and one-half 
miles, thence north one mile, thence east to the centerline of Evergreen Street, thence north to 
where Evergreen Street intersects with 85th Street, thence east one-half mile, thence north one 
mile to the centerline of 100th Street, thence east one-half mile, thence north to the centerline of 
115th Street, thence east on 115th Street to one-half mile east of Cherry Avenue, thence south to 
the zoning jurisdiction of the City of Kearney. 
 
Area to be designated to be within the newly formed AGR-1 Zoning District shall be all now 
zoned AGR Zoning District lands that are not within the above description of the AGR-2 Zoning 
District. 
 


	1. 3.11.25 BoC Minutes
	9. Payroll 3-21-2025
	11. March Vendor Claims
	12. February RYDE
	13. Additional Pledge Collateral FNBO
	14. 2025 Tax Sale Certificate Resolution
	BOE  1.  Broadwell TERC
	BOE 2a. Evangelical Free Church of Kearney
	BOE 2b. Motor Vehicle Community Action
	Zoning 3.25.2025 BoC Packet
	ADPDC12.tmp
	ARTICLE 1
	GENERAL PROVISIONS
	1.1 TITLE
	1.2 JURISDICTION
	1.3 PURPOSE
	ARTICLE 2
	APPLICATION OF REGULATIONS
	2.1 GENERAL
	2.2 ZONING AFFECTS EVERY BUILDING AND USE
	2.3 YARD AND LOT REDUCTION PROHIBITED
	2.4 MINIMUM REQUIREMENTS
	2.5 NONCONFORMITIES
	Said lot can meet all yard regulations for the district in which it is located.
	ARTICLE 3
	GENERAL DEFINITIONS
	3.1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
	3.2 GENERAL TERMINOLOGY
	3.3 DEFINITION
	Source:  A Survey of Zoning Definitions, (American Planning Association, 1989).
	Source:  A Survey of Zoning Definitions, (American Planning Association, 1989).
	ESTABLISHMENT AND DESIGNATION OF DISTRICTS
	A. AG – Agriculture District
	B. RC – Rural Conservation District
	C. AGR 1 – Agricultural – Residential District 1
	D. AGR 2 – Agricultural – Residential District 2
	E. C – Commercial District
	F. I – Industrial District

	2. The signed copy of the Zoning Map(s) containing the zoning districts designated at the time of adoption of this resolution shall be maintained in the offices of the County Clerk for the use and benefit of the public.
	4.4 RULES FOR INTERPRETATION OF DISTRICT BOUNDARIES
	6. Where physical or cultural features existing on the ground are at variance with those shown on the Official Zoning Map(s), or in other circumstances not covered by subsection 1 through 5 above, the Board of Zoning Adjustment shall interpret the dis...
	7. Where a district boundary line divides a lot which was in single ownership at the time of passage of this resolution the Board of Zoning Adjustment may permit, as an exception, the extension of the regulations for either portion of the lot not to e...
	ARTICLE 5
	ZONING DISTRICTS
	5.1 AG AGRICULTURE DISTRICT
	1. Bulk grain and produce storage, excluding commercial warehouses;
	2. Daycare Home;
	3. General farming and ranching activities, excluding any expansion of existing or development of Class IV III or larger livestock confinement facilities/operations as defined in Article 3 and classified in Sec. 6.4 6.6 (Resolution 4-13-10) (Resolutio...
	4. Irrigation, flood, erosion and sediment control projects;
	5. Personal Use Solar Energy Systems. (Resolution 02-11-2020);
	6. Public Uses: Including fire stations, public schools, public utilities and utility distribution systems (Resolution 3-11-08);
	7. Signs, As allowed in Sec. 8.31 (Resolution 07-13-2021);
	9. Greenhouses and garden centers;
	10. Bed and breakfast;
	5.13 PERMITTED ACCESSORY USES AND STRUCTURES: The following accessory uses and structures shall be permitted:
	1. Accessory uses and structures normally appurtenant to the permitted uses and structures and to uses and structures permitted as special uses;
	2. Home occupations in accordance with Article 8; and
	3. Roadside stands for the temporary sale of produce.
	4. Bed and Breakfast;
	5. Butchering facility handling less than 2,500 Animal Equivalent Units per year as defined in Section 6.4 6.6. (Resolution 04-12-2022);
	6. Cemeteries;

	7. Churches and places of worship, exceeding an exterior size of 5,000 square feet shall and abutting or and haveing access to an existing paved road;
	2. Single Family Dwelling, Lot Size:

	1. Bed and Breakfast;
	2. Community buildings and/or facilities owned and/or occupied by public agencies;
	3. Day care homes (Resolution 3-11-08);
	4. General farming, including hobby farming or Class I as defined in Article 3 and classified in Section 6.4 6.6. (Resolution 4-13-10);
	5. Irrigation and flood control projects;
	6. Parks and recreational areas owned and/or occupied by public agencies (Resolution 10-10-03);
	7. Personal Use Solar Energy System, when the system is situated on a lot comprised of 10.00 acres or greater (Resolution 07-28-2020);
	8. Public schools (Resolution 3-11-08);
	9. Signs, As allowed in Section 8.31 (Resolution 07-13-2021);
	11.  Churches, places of worship, and cemeteries; and
	1. Accessory uses and structures normally appurtenant to the permitted uses and structures and shall not occupy more than thirty percent of the area of the side, front, and rear yards;
	2. Home occupations in conformance with Article 8.2;
	3. Personal Use Solar Energy Systems when situated in or on a residential lot’s roofs, rear or side yards. (Resolution 02-11-2020) (Resolution 07-28-2020);
	4. Roadside stands for sale of agricultural produce.  (Resolution 10-10-03)

	1. Agricultural service establishments primarily engaged in performing agricultural, animal husbandry or horticultural services;
	2. Animal hospitals (Resolution 10-11-11);
	3. Airports (Resolution 10-10-03);
	4. Campgrounds, when abutting or and having access to an existing paved road;
	5. Cemeteries, crematories, mausoleums and columbarium;
	6. Churches and places of worship, exceeding an exterior size of 5,000 square feet shall and abutting or and haveing access to an existing paved road;
	7. Class II I, but excluding any larger livestock confinement facilities/operations as defined in Article 3 and classified in Section 6.4 6.6. (Resolution 4-13-10);
	8. Communications towers in excess of 100 feet which serve communication needs including radio, telephone, television, or emergency communication purposes so long as they comply with all applicable Federal Aviation Administrative rules and regulations...
	9. Concrete batch and/or asphalt plant(s) that uses movable equipment utilized for area road or localized construction. (Resolution 3-24-09);
	10. Day care center (Resolution 3-11-08);
	11. Greenhouses and nurseries;
	13. Mobile home parks, when abutting or and having access to an existing paved road;
	14. Parks and recreational areas owned and/or occupied by private agencies when abutting or and having access to an existing paved road. (Resolution 10-10-03);
	15. Personal Use Solar Energy Systems (12-8-2020);
	16. Personal Wind Powered Generation of electrical power (Resolution 4-13-10);
	17. Private schools. (Resolution 3-11-08);
	18. Private schools for instruction and training of the physically, mentally, and/or functionally impaired. (Resolution 3-11-08);
	19. Public utilities and utility distribution systems (Resolution 8-10-04);
	20. Schools of special instruction in business, cultural, or dramatic subjects or schools of special instruction. (Resolution 3-11-08);
	21. Signs, As Allowed in Sec. 8.32 (Resolution 07-13-2021);
	22. Temporary construction material crushing plant that uses movable equipment utilized for area road or localized construction. (Resolution 3-24-09 & 5-12-09);
	23. Dog breeding establishments, kennels, and domesticated animal training facilities; (Resolution 10-10-17).
	2. Yard requirements are as follows:

	1. Bed and Breakfast;
	2. Community buildings and/or facilities owned and/or occupied by public agencies;
	3. Day care homes;
	4. General farming, including hobby farming, not to exceed 50 15 animal units, as designated in Section 6.4 6.6;
	5. Irrigation and flood control projects;
	6. Parks and recreational areas owned and/or occupied by public agencies;
	7. Public schools;
	9. Signs, As allowed in Section 8.31;
	10. Personal Use Solar Energy System, when the system is situated on a lot comprised of 10.00 acres or greater;
	1. Accessory Dwelling Unit;
	2. Churches and places of worship, exceeding an exterior size of 5,000 square feet, shall abut and have access to an existing paved road;
	3. Communications towers in excess of 100 feet which serve communication needs including radio, telephone, television, or emergency communication purposes so long as they comply with all applicable Federal Aviation Administrative rules and regulations...
	4. Day care center;
	5. Mobile home parks, when abutting and having access to an existing paved road;
	6. Multi-Family Dwelling, when abutting and having access to an existing paved road;
	7. Personal Use Solar Energy Systems; Personal Use Solar Energy Systems when situated in or on a residential lot’s roofs, rear or side yards;

	8. Public utilities and utility distribution systems;
	9. Signs, As Allowed in Sec. 8.32;
	2. Yard requirements are as follows:

	1. Auction houses (Resolution 6-9-20);
	2. Automobile sales & services (Resolution 6-9-20);
	3. Animal Hospitals (Resolution 10-11-11);
	4. Bed and breakfast operations; and
	5. Campgrounds, when abutting and having access to an existing paved road;
	6. Churches and other religious institutions exceeding an exterior size of 5,000 square feet, shall abut and have access to an existing paved road;
	7. Construction sales and services;
	8. Convenience store or filling station;
	9. Detached banking facilities (ATM);
	10. Electric and telephone substations;
	11. Farm machinery, equipment, and implement sales and services (Resolution 6-9-20);
	12. Garden centers and nurseries;
	13. Irrigation equipment sales and services;
	14. Medical clinics;
	15. Motels, including accessory service uses, such as swimming pools, liquor stores and restaurants;
	16. Personal Use Solar Energy Systems (Resolution 02-11-2020);
	17. Private clubs and lodges;
	20. Restaurants and cafes;
	21. Service stations;
	22. Signs, As allowed in Section 8.31 and Section 8.32 (Resolution 07-13-2021) (Resolution 3-14-2023);
	24. Stores or shops for sale of goods or services at retail;
	25. Transportation warehousing;
	26. Trucks and freight terminals;
	27. Truck Sales and service (Resolution 6-9-20);
	28. Utilities, including shops and offices;
	29. Automobile wash facilities;
	1. Adult Entertainment Establishments; specifically allowed only in the Commercial District; and not as a special use in Agricultural District.
	2. Airports and Heliports;

	9. Educational and scientific research services;
	10. Facilities for the commercial storage or sale of fertilizer or toxic or flammable agriculture chemicals;
	12. Personal wind powered generation of electrical power (Resolution 7-10-12)
	18. Private clubs and lodges;
	19. Recycling centers;
	20. Radio studios, transmitters and antenna;

	1. Animal hospitals;
	2. Arborist Services;
	3. Auction houses (Resolution 6-9-20);
	4. Automobile sales and services;
	5. Automotive/Truck wash facilities;
	6. Building material sales and ready-mix concrete plants;
	9. Educational and scientific research services;
	10. Equipment rental and leasing services;
	11. Farm machinery, implements and equipment – retail, sales and service (Resolution 6-9-20);
	12. Farm supplies - retail;
	13. Feeds, grains and hay - retail;
	14. Garden centers and nurseries;
	15. Gas utility maintenance yard;
	16. Landscape sales and services;
	18. Personal Use Solar Energy Systems. (Resolution 02-11-2020);
	19. Public utility and public service uses;
	20. Recycling centers;
	21. Service stations;
	23. Stores or shops for the sale of industry goods at retail;
	24. Signs, As allowed in Section 8.31 and Section 8.32 (Resolution 07-13-2021) (Resolution 3-14-2023);
	25. Telephone services;
	26. Wholesale establishments except those which handle products of a highly explosive, combustible or volatile nature; and
	27. Bottling works;
	28. Carpenter, cabinet, plumbing or sheet metal shops;
	29. Carpet and rug cleaning and repair services;
	30. Disinfecting and exterminating services;
	31. Dry cleaning, laundering and dyeing services;
	32. Dyeing and finishing of textiles;
	33. Electrical sales and services;
	34. Food lockers and storage services;
	35. Freight forwarding services;
	36. Furniture repair and reupholster services;
	37. Fur trading services;
	38. Mini-warehouse
	39. Mobile and modular home sales and manufacturing;
	40. Newspaper publishing plants and commercial printing;
	41. Photoengraving;
	42. Photo finishing services;
	43. Radios, televisions, phonographs, recorders, tape players and other similar devices repair services;
	44. Transportation warehousing;
	45. Truck wash services;
	46. Warehousing and storage except for products of a highly explosive, combustible or volatile nature;
	ARTICLE 6
	SPECIAL USE PERMIT

	6.1 GENERAL
	6.2 PROCEDURES
	An appeal of a decision by the County Board of Supervisors County Board of Commissioners regarding a special use shall be made to the District Court.  (Resolution 11-8-05)
	6.4  REVIEW AND CANCELLATION OF SPECIAL USE PERMIT
	6.5 SALVAGE OR JUNK YARD
	6.6 LIVESTOCK CONFINEMENT FACILITIES/OPERATIONS
	D.  Facility with liquid waste management system lagoon shall have the closest edge of such lagoon no closer than distance stated in above paragraph for total animal units such lagoon system serves from any residence or commercial or industrial facili...
	E.  A management plan for the facility, acceptable to the Nebraska Department of Environmental Quality and the County Board, which provides for the proper disposal of animal waste and dead animals in a manner as not to contaminate ground water or any ...
	F.  Any other requirement deemed appropriate and necessary by the County Board for the protection of the general health and welfare.
	G.  Special use permits granted under this section shall be subject to review by the County Board if not in compliance with Department of Environmental Control. State of Nebraska Department of Environment and Energy.
	H.  For purposes of determining size of such livestock confinement      facility/operation, the number of animals of all species situated in such facility/operation at any one time, shall be calculated in Animal Units Equivalents based upon the follow...
	1.  (1.0   x ____ number of head) Slaughter and Feeder Cattle
	2.  (1.2   x ____ number of head) Cow/Calf Pairs
	3.  (1.4   x ____ number of head) Mature Dairy Cattle
	4.  (0.40 x ____ number of head) Swine, 55lbs. and over
	5.  (0.04 x ____ number of head)  Weaned Pigs, less than 55lbs.
	6.  (0.1   x ____ number of head) Sheep
	7.  (2.0   x ____ number of head) Horses
	8.  (0.01 x ____ number of head)  Chickens
	9.  (0.02 x ____ number of head)  Turkeys
	10.(0.02 x ____ number of head)  Ducks
	11.  For Immature Dairy Cattle, or those species not listed, number of animal units shall be calculated as the average weight of animals divided by 1,000 lbs., multiplied by the number of animals.

	(Resolution 9-19-19)
	J. SPECIAL REGULATIONS CONCERNING DISPOSAL OF CONFINEMENT FACILITY, FEEDLOT WASTE, LIVESTOCK PROCESSING WASTE, AND/OR OTHER WASTE. (Resolution 6-12-07)
	ARTICLE 7
	PARKING REGULATIONS
	7.1 GENERAL PROVISIONS
	7.2 OFF-STREET PARKING REQUIREMENTS
	7.3 OFF-STREET LOADING REQUIREMENTS
	1. One  500 square feet For every 5,000 to 20,000 square feet
	2. One  500 square feet For every 20,000 square feet or fraction thereof

	ACCESSORY USES
	8.1   ACCESSORY BUILDING
	8.2   HOME OCCUPATIONS
	ARTICLE 9
	COUNTY BOARD OF ZONING ADJUSTMENT
	9.1   CREATION, MEMBERSHIP
	9.2  MEETINGS
	9.3  INTERPRETATIONS AND VARIANCES
	9.4  PROCEDURES FOR REQUESTING A VARIANCE
	9.5  APPEALS FROM THE BOARD OF ZONING ADJUSTMENT
	ADMINISTRATIVE PROVISIONS, ENFORCEMENT
	AND FEES
	10.1 ENFORCEMENT
	10.2 ZONING PERMITS
	10.4 SCHEDULE OF FEES
	ARTICLE 11
	AMENDMENT
	11.1   GENERAL
	11.2   SUBMISSION TO PLANNING COMMISSION
	11.4   PROTEST
	ARTICLE 12
	COMPLAINTS, PENALTIES, REMEDIES
	12.1   COMPLAINTS REGARDING VIOLATIONS
	ARTICLE 13
	LEGAL STATUS PROVISIONS
	6.4 #7D
	6.4 #7E
	8-14-07
	2007-32
	13.3
	8-14-07
	2007-33
	5.14 #17
	12-4-07
	2007-54
	5.34 #8
	5.54 #8
	2-12-08
	2008-09
	3.76
	3.38
	3-11-08
	2008-011
	3.39
	3.71
	3.72
	3.73
	5.12 #2
	5.14 #10
	5.14 #11
	5.32 #4
	5.32 #7
	Section Affected
	Resolution Date
	Resolution Number
	5.34 #3
	5.34 #11
	5.34 #15
	5.34 #16
	5.34 #17
	8.4
	8.41
	5.34 #18
	3-24-09
	2009-19
	5.34 #19
	5.34 #20
	3-24-09
	2009-20
	5.34 #20
	5-12-09
	2009-34
	5.12 #1
	4-13-10
	2010-23
	5.14 #12
	5.32 #1
	6.4
	3.46
	4-13-10
	2010-24
	3.84
	3.85
	4-13-10
	2010-24
	5.14 #4
	5.14 #19
	5.14 #20
	5.34 #6
	5.57
	10-11-11
	2011-58
	5.66
	3.32
	10-11-11
	2011-59
	5.12 #1
	5.14 #13
	5.34 #9
	5.52 #21
	5.62 #36
	5.64 #5
	4-10-12
	2012-10
	5.64 #6
	6.4
	7-10-12
	2012-29
	5.12 #2
	7-10-12
	2012-30
	5.14 #12
	5.2 – 5.291
	7-10-12
	2012-31
	5.54 #9 & #10
	7-10-12
	2012-32
	Added definitions
	3-11-14
	2014-13
	5.14 #14
	3-11-14
	2014-13
	5.54 #11
	3-11-14
	2014-13
	6.5
	3-11-14
	2014-13
	5.14 #13
	10-10-17
	2017-53
	5.34 #7
	5.54 #12
	3-13-18
	2018-03
	5.14 #4
	5-8-18
	2018-13
	5.24 #13
	5.34 #4
	5.64 #7
	5.17
	7-9-19
	2019-19
	5.28
	6.4#6
	9-19-19
	2019-44
	Solar Energy-Added definitions, allowable & accessory use
	2-11-20
	2020-03
	Accessory Bldg Amendment – 8.1
	2-11-20
	2020-04
	5.52 #1,#2, #9, #19 & 5.62 #2, #15
	6-9-20
	2020-21
	Amend 3.3125, 5.32 #7 & 5.33 #4.
	7-28-2020
	2020-31
	Remove 5.34 (11) – Mini Storage facilities with all items enclosed within the building or buildings (Resolution 3-11-08) & Add 5.34 (13) – Personal Use Solar Energy Systems
	12-8-2020
	2020-58
	Amend Section 8.1 to add “side & front” & to exempt 200 sq’ structures from zoning permits
	2/9/2021
	2021-08
	Amend Section 3.3172: definition of “Structure”.
	5/11/2021
	2021-33
	Amend Section 10.22 ensuring compliance with applicable rural structures and the 2012 IFC Section 510 Emergency Responder Radio Coverage interconnectivity needs.
	7/13/2021
	2021-41
	Add/Amend Sections 3.3161, 8.3,  5.12, 5.14, 5.22, 5.24, 5.32, 5.34, 5.52, 5.54, 5.62, 5.64 regarding signage.
	7/13/2021
	2021-42
	Add/Amend Sections 3.3130, 3.3133, 3.3169, 3.3181, 5.12 (6), 5.16, 5.22 5.27, 5.32 (2), 5.36,  5.57, 5.66
	7/13/2021
	2021-43
	Amend Section 8.3 (1) and 8.3 (3)
	11/23/2021
	2021-76
	Amend Sections 5.16 (2B) and 5.27 (2B)
	11/23/2021
	2021-77
	Reformat/Renumber Section “14.5”, Adult Entertainment to Section “6.5”, Ensure Numerical Order.
	2/22/2022
	2022-02
	Add definition of Butchering Facilities (Section 3.3112), Add Butchering Facilities to Sections 5.62, 5.54, 5.14 & 5.64.
	04/12/2022
	2022-12
	Add/Renumber Section 6.6 to Include Location and Distance Requirements for Wind Farms
	3/14/2023
	2023-09
	Dog Breeding Establishments, Kennels and Domesticated Animal Training Facilities: Remove Section 5.34 (7); Add to Section 5.54, Section 5.64 and Amend Section 5.14 (4) Dog breeding establishments, kennels, and domesticated animal training facilities provided that all buildings and facilities be at least 100 feet from the property line and 300 feet from any neighboring residence.
	3/14/2023
	2023-10
	Add/Renumber Section 3.3152 to Define “Paved Hard Surfaced Road/Street”
	3/14/2023
	2023-11
	Amend Section 5.52 (16), Section 5.62 (36), Section 8.3; Remove Section 5.54 (10) & 5.64 (7) regarding signage.
	3/14/2023
	2023-12
	Amend Section 5.52(12) to define “Mini-Storage Facilities”.
	6/13/2023
	2023-33
	Amend Section 6.6 regarding Wind Farms’ Location and Distancing Requirements
	6/13/2023
	2023-34
	9/12/2023
	Regulation Revision & Review as part of The Comprehensive Plan.

	ADPAB28.tmp
	CHAPTER 3
	PROCEDURE TO SUBDIVIDE LAND
	SUBDIVISION WITHIN FLOODPLAIN
	CHAPTER 9
	Section Affected
	Resolution Date
	Resolution Number
	4.06
	12-08-20
	2020-58
	Amend/Add Sections 2.13, 2.23, 2.31, 2.34, 2.35, 4.02, 1.05, 1.06, & 4.12
	7-13-2021
	2021-43
	Regulation Revision & Review as part of The Comprehensive Plan.





